# A novel CRELD1/VEGF genetic interaction in heart disease and development.

By

Jennifer Kristine Redig

## A DISSERTATION

Presented to the Department of Molecular and Medical Genetics

and the Oregon Health & Science University School of Medicine

in partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

May 2011

# School of Medicine Oregon Health & Science University

**CERTIFICATE OF APPROVAL** 

This is to certify that the PhD dissertation of Jennifer Kristine Redig has been approved.

Mentor

Member

Member

Member

Member

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

INDEX OF TABLESv
ACKNOWLEDGMENTvi
ABSTRACT xi
CHAPTER 1:
INTRODUCTION TO HEART DEVELOPMENT2
Significance of congenital heart defects2
Heart development
The first cardiac progenitors are found in the primary heart field4
A second source of cardiac progenitors: the secondary heart field5
A third source of cardiac progenitors: cardiac neural crest $\epsilon$
Division of heart tube into a four-chambered heart
Atrial septum
Ventricular septum12
Errors in the atrioventricular septum12
AV-endocardial cushion defects can cause AVSD18
Endocardial cushion development18
Endocardial cushion can be cultured23
CLINICAL IMPACT AND CURRENT TREATMENT OF AVSD
AVSD can cause pulmonary complications
AVSD can cause metabolic abnormalities
AVSD can cause congestive heart failure
AVSD treatment
Repaired-AVSD long-term risks
Understanding AVSD genetics may advance future patient care38

CHAPTER 3:
CONGENITAL HEART DEFECTS RISK FACTORS
External risk factors
Genetic risk factors4
Familial autosomal-dominant cases4
Syndromic cases4
Mouse models4
AVSD inheritance
Most AVSD are associated with Down syndrome4
AVSD also regularly occur in the euploid population44
<i>CRELD1</i> is the first AVSD risk factor5
<i>CRELD1</i> is a candidate gene from the <i>AVSD2</i> risk locus
CRELD1-isoforms
CRELD1-missense mutations are associated with AVSD5
What is known about CRELD1 according to existing literature5
AVSD genetics are multifactorial5
VEGF may be an AVSD risk factor6
Overview of the VEGF-A protein6
VEGF expression is necessary for endocardial cushion development 6
VEGF over-expression inhibits endocardial cushion development 6
VEGF as a mediator of hypoxia64
VEGF polymorphisms are implicated in disease
The VEGF-634C polymorphism causes over-expression
CHAPTER 4:
APPROACH & METHODS
Creation of the Credd1 Imagleout mayor

	0,
Creation of the Creld1-knockout mouse	.69
Mouse colony ethical considerations	.70
Allele-specific PCR for Creld1-knockout mouse genotyping	.70
Staging and collection of embryos	.71

H	Histological sectioning of mouse tissues	.72
C	CRELD1 immunohistochemistry (IHC) of sections	.72
H	Iematoxylin and Eosin (H&E) staining	.74
A	Alcian Blue and Nuclear Fast Red staining	.74
V	Whole mount immunohistochemistry of mouse placentas and embryos	75
Ν	leasuring placenta areas	.76
V	Vestern blot	.77
Т	runeL staining	77
E	Bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU) proliferation assay	78
F	R329C-knockin mouse genotyping	.79
A	Allele-specific PCR for gender determination	80
Ν	Aicroarray	.80
S	Study subjects inclusion criteria	81
H	Iuman ethical considerations	82
G	Genotyping for the VEGF -634C allele	.82
V	<i>legf</i> qPCR	.82
H	leart explant assay	83
E	ELISA assay	.84
CHAPTI	ER 5:	85
CRELD1	l during development	85
Т	The CRELD1-protein is found in multiple adult and embryonic tissues	85
C	<i>Creld1</i> -knockout mouse	88
К	Knockout of <i>Creld1</i> resulted in embryonic lethality	.92
E	E10.5 <i>Creld1<sup>(-/-)</sup></i> embryos were malformed	.94
C	<i>Creld1<sup>(-/-)</sup></i> embryonic hearts had endocardial cushion defects	.00
C	<i>Creld1<sup>(-/-)</sup></i> placentas had abnormal gene expression and morphology	.06
C	<i>Creld1<sup>(-/-)</sup></i> embryos exhibited increased apoptosis1	.13
C	CRELD1 is not necessary for EMT1	.16

Knockout of one Creld1 allele does not produce a significant phenotype..... 119

<i>Creld1</i> -deficiencies affect gene expression123
CHAPTER 6:
CRELD1/VEGF risk profile125
VEGF-634C polymorphism is associated with AVSD
CRELD1 mutations and the VEGF-634C variant co-segregate in AVSD
VEGF and CRELD1 interact in cushion explant assay
CHAPTER 7:
DISCUSSION140
CRELD1 biology140
CRELD1 was essential for normal cardiovascular development140
CRELD1 affected apoptosis141
CRELD1 may contribute to a heart specific defect
CRELD1 is possibly involved in the neural crest
CRELD1 was necessary for angiogenesis
The Creld1-heterozygote mouse should be a powerful genetic tool. 148
VEGF/CRELD1 interaction as an AVSD risk profile
Our study population was unique150
VEGF both inhibited and promoted EMT depending on the dose 151
CRELD1 and VEGF as an AVSD risk profile
CHAPTER 8:
CONCLUSIONS & FUTURE DIRECTION157
Create a tissue-specific <i>Creld1</i> -knockout mouse158
Test whether changes in matrix composition can affect EMT
Test the CRELD1/VEGF interaction in vivo161
Translating the CRELD1/VEGF interaction to the bedside
REFERENCES

## **INDEX OF FIGURES**

Figure 1: Illustration of how the atrial septum forms	11
Figure 2: Membranous Ventricular Septal Defect	15
Figure 3: Diagram illustrating EMT during cushion formation	22
Figure 4: The 3-D collagen-matrix assay is a proxy for development	26
Figure 5: Diagram of AVSD	29
Figure 6: Diagram of the endocardial cushions' contributions to the mature hea	art37
Figure 7: CRELD1 structure	52
Figure 8: Illustration of the major soluble CRELD1 isoform	55
Figure 9: Diagram of the multifactorial nature of AVSD genetics.	60
Figure 10: VEGF may contribute to AVSD risk.	68
Figure 11: CRELD1-IHC of adult mouse tissues.	86
Figure 12: CRELD1-IHC of sagitally sectioned wild-type mouse embryos	87
Figure 13: A schematic diagram of the Creld1-knockout targeting vector	89
Figure 14: Genotyping Creld1-knockout mouse by allele-specific PCR	90
Figure 15: Northern blot showing reduction or absence of Creld1-RNA express	ion.90
Figure 16: CRELD1-IHC of a sagittally sectioned E10.5 wild-type mouse heart	91
Figure 17: Representative images of fresh, whole E10.5 embryos	97
Figure 18: PECAM-IHC of whole E10.5 embryos	99
Figure 19: H&E stained sections of E9.5 mouse hearts	101
Figure 20: Alcian Blue and Nuclear Fast Red staining of E10.5 AV-canals	103
Figure 21: Alcian Blue and Nuclear Fast Red staining of E10.5 outflow tracts	105
Figure 22: CRELD1 is expressed in the placenta.	108
Figure 23: Placenta morphology and PECAM expression	111
Figure 24: Knockout of <i>Creld1</i> stunted placental growth	112
Figure 25: TUNEL-stain is increased in E10.5 <i>Creld1</i> <sup>(-/-)</sup> embryos	115
Figure 26: Explants grow the same under endogenous VEGF levels	117
Figure 27: In vivo and in vitro heart phenotypes differ	118
Figure 28: Mass of adult hearts.	121
Figure 29: Example of a <i>Creld1</i> <sup>(+/-)</sup> heart with a PFO	122
Figure 30: A CRELD1-deficiency is associated with <i>Vegf</i> over-expression	124
Figure 31: The -634C polymorphism is associated with increased VEGF over-expressi	on. 127
Figure 32: Unaffected family members never had two hits	130
Figure 33: <i>Creld1</i> -deficient explants grow differently with VEGF addition.	133
Figure 34: Explant response depends on VEGF dose	137
Figure 35: The developing endocardial cushions are sensitive to VEGF dosing	139
Figure 41: CRELD1/VEGF disease model	156

## **INDEX OF TABLES**

Table 1: Pup survival	
Table 2: Incidence of Creld1-genotypes during embryogenesis	93
Table 3: The VEGF-634C polymorphism is associated with AVSD	126
Table 4: CRELD1 mutations/VEGF-634C polymorphism co-segregate in AVSD	

## ACKNOWLEDGMENT

The successful completion of this dissertation was dependent on the extensive professional and personal support that I have received from those around me and there is no way I can thank everyone who has helped me over the years. The only consultation that I can offer to those whom I forgot is that your help was so perfectly timed, subtle and selfless that I may not have even been aware of it. So thank you.

However, there are others that have had such an influence on me that I must address them directly. Mom and Dad this is you. Thank you, thank you, thank you. Thank you for being sane, rational, loving, involved, fair and always supportive parents. Everything good that I have been able to accomplish has been because the two of you provided me with the basis to succeed.

Dad, thank you for the passionate enthusiasm you have for everything novel, for your drive to learn "how things work" and for the fearlessness in which you approach learning new things. Mom, thank you for your organization and your foresight, the way you embrace and make the best of wherever you are; your willingness to always go new places and meet new people; and for always seeing the good in people.

vii

Hey Yawa! Laura I love you, you are a great little sister. I love seeing how passionate you are about the environment, nature, your career and art. I find myself challenged and inspired by you, keep it up.

To my other parents, Mae and Steve, thank you. Thanks you for putting a roof over our heads during the past 2.5 years, you have no I idea what a relief it was not to worry about making ends meet during graduate school. I am also grateful for the opportunity to really get to know the both of you, as could only be done by living with you. Also, thank you for being so supportive about my time in graduate school. Your understanding and accommodations have not gone unappreciated. I will never forget the selflessness and generosity that you have shown us over the years. Also thank you for all the times you took care of Reeves and Moo-cat. All of us will miss you when we move.

Thank you for all your help Ben. (Or should I call you Jamin?) I really enjoyed working with you. I am very grateful for all your help on this project and for introducing me to Pearls before Swine. I already miss your sense of humor. Whatever you end up doing, your next co-workers are lucky to have you.

Thank you Darcie. Thank you for keeping the lab running. I appreciate all the cleaning, ordering and student training you do. Also thanks for teaching me a million little things

viii

in the lab that I could not even begin to count. But most of all thank you for listening to me and commiserating with me through all the emotional ups and downs that make up lab work. It made a huge difference in my mental well being, getting a PhD can be stressful and you were really understanding. Thank you and best of luck in your next adventure.

Thank you Cheryl. I always tell others how lucky I am to have you as a mentor. Your support is amazing. You truly have a talent for mentoring people. It is really nice to feel like you have the support and backing of your mentor and I appreciated my time working for you, as you were always understanding. Thank you for opening your laboratory to me and allowing me this opportunity. I will always look back favorable on my graduate school experience because of you.

Thank you to my thesis committee. Thanks James Lundblad, Shawn Westaway, Dave Farrell, Jan Christian and Mitch Turker for serving on my committee. I know that your time is precious and scarce; and I appreciate your insight, knowledge and feedback over the years.

Gabriel (Lovey Dove) yours is the hardest thank you to write, not because I am not thankful but because there is so much I appreciate about you and I know I will not be able to cover it all. First, I am so happy and truly content with life and this is because

ix

you are in it. Your understanding, patience, empathy and kindness goes without saying. Everyone that gets to know you, cannot help but notice those attributes. But I want to take this time to thank you for your emotional guidance and support over the years. I truly value and respect your reasoning and morality; and am so glad to have you as a sounding board over the years. You have a gift for expressing your own view while not stifling others and I appreciate your gentle encouragement and guidance. I am glad to have the rest of my life to try to reciprocate all that you have done for me.

I also want to thank a few people for their specific technical contributions to this project. Thank you to Benjamin Reshey for his technical assistance in processing, sectioning and staining tissues; to Yunxin Lim for helping to stain tissues; and to Darcie Babcock for her sequencing work and help in staining tissues. Also thanks to Dr. Todd Camenisch for the generous sharing of his protocols for the heart explants assay and whole-mount immunohistochemistry. This work was supported by NIH R01083300, and grants from the Collins Medical Trust and the Gerlinger Foundation. Additional support was provided by the Oregon Clinical Translational Research Institute (OCTRI), grant number UL1 RR024140 from the National Center for Research Resources (NCRR), a component of the National Institutes of Health (NIH) and NIH Roadmap for Medical Research.

х



## ABSTRACT

Atrioventricular septal defects (AVSD) are highly heritable congenital heart malformations, yet little is known about their genetic etiology. The first single AVSD genetic risk factor to be discovered is a unique gene called CRELD1, which was identified by the Maslen laboratory in 2003. It is now well established that missense mutations in CRELD1 are associated with AVSD; however, how CRELD1 contributes to disease is not known. To establish the extent to which CRELD1 influences cardiovascular development, we created and I characterized a constitutive Creld1-knockout mouse (Creld1<sup>(-/-)</sup>). During this first characterization of CRELD1 function in vivo, I found that elimination of CRELD1 expression resulted in death by embryonic day 12.5 and that before death there were numerous abnormalities, including cardiovascular and endocardial cushion defects. This is significant because defects in atrioventricular endocardial cushions are a potential cause of AVSD. Furthermore, I found that the underlying mechanisms appear to include increased apoptosis, particularly in the heart and branchial arches; poor embryonic and yolk sac vascularization; as well as abnormal placental development. This suggests that CRELD1 can affect heart development by both direct and indirect causes; direct by increasing apoptosis in the developing heart and indirect by causing placental abnormalities and global vascular insufficiencies.

In contrast to the Creld1<sup>(-/-)</sup> mouse, the Creld1-heterozygous mouse (Creld1<sup>(+/-)</sup>) was viable and normal, which is consistent with CRELD1-missense mutations being incompletely penetrant for AVSD in humans and evidence that AVSD etiology is multifactorial. Thus, we began to consider the existence of other AVSD-risk modifiers that might affect CRELD1-induced risk. Specifically we investigated a role for VEGF, a known regulator of endocardial cushion development, for its involvement in AVSD etiology. When we did this we indeed found that the VEGF-634C polymorphism, a common polymorphism known to cause VEGF over-expression, was strongly associated with AVSD. Furthermore, we found that CRELD1-missense mutations were always fully penetrant for AVSD when the VEGF-634C polymorphism was also present. Based on this, I hypothesized that a CRELD1-functional deficiency in combination with VEGF overexpression could cause AVSD. I then tested if a CRELD1-deficiency can interact with VEGF over-expression to cause abnormal endocardial cushion development using an endocardial cushion explants assay. I did this by culturing  $Creld1^{(-/-)}$ ,  $Creld1^{(+/-)}$  and *Creld1*<sup>(+/+)</sup> mouse endocardial cushions with increasing levels of purified VEGF protein and found that, while a CRELD1 deficiency alone was not enough to alter endocardial cushion development, the addition of VEGF did cause abnormal endocardial cushion development. This supports the existence of CRELD1/VEGF causative AVSD-risk profile, which is the first AVSD-risk profile to be proposed.



## PREFACE

The vast majority of diseases are complex and caused by the interaction of numerous risk factors (Craig 2008). However, few studies investigate the interplay of risk factors, so despite the frequency of complex diseases, causative risk profiles are rarely known (Craig 2008). Here I investigate the existence of a causative risk profile for atrioventricular septal defects (AVSD), a clinically significant congenital heart malformation of unknown etiology. Identifying risk profiles for AVSD is important because AVSD are associated with increased morbidity and mortality (Boening et al. 2002, Stulak et al. 2010), which may be due to the existence of persistent underlying genetic defects. Therefore, the identification of genetic risk profiles could help both the prediction and ongoing management of AVSD cases.

AVSD occur in 2.4-3.1/10,000 live births (Craig 2006) and are thought to arise from defects in endocardial cushion formation during embryogenesis, which subsequently causes abnormal heart valve and septa formation. Past studies using animal models have successfully identified numerous genetic pathways critical for endocardial cushion development; however, the relevance of these pathways or the successful identification of other pathways relevant to isolated human AVSD cases is scarce (Maslen 2004). This may be due to the complex nature of AVSD. Nevertheless, in 2002 we described the first

single genetic risk factor found to be associated with AVSD in humans, a gene now named *CRELD1* (Robinson et al. 2003, Rupp et al. 2002).

Our description of CRELD1 was also the first description of the CRELD family of proteins, thus upon identification nothing was known about the role of CRELD1 in heart development or even if CRELD1 could affect endocardial cushion formation. Accordingly, in this thesis I present the first characterization of CRELD1 during mammalian development by characterizing a *Creld1*-knockout mouse model. Additionally, I include early exploration into the action of CRELD1, including the ability of CRELD1 to affect apoptosis, proliferation, epithelial-to-mesenchymal transformation and global gene expression.

This thesis also explores a potential role for VEGF as a modifier of AVSD risk because while *CRELD1*-missense mutations are strongly associated with AVSD (Robinson et al. 2003) they are incompletely penetrant, suggesting that additional modifiers are needed to breach the disease threshold. Accordingly, we tested for and found an exclusive association between the *VEGF-634C* polymorphism (a polymorphism that causes VEGF over-expression) (Awata et al. 2002, Awata et al. 2005, Lambrechts et al. 2003, Petrovic et al. 2007), *CRELD1*-missense mutations and AVSD. This discovery of a genetic profile specific for AVSD prompted me to hypothesize that CRELD1 and VEGF are coalescing to disrupt endocardial cushion development and cause AVSD. I then confirmed a CRELD1/VEGF interaction by using an endocardial cushion explants assay, making the CRELD1/VEGF interaction the first AVSD risk profile described.

**Chapter 1:** Here I will lay the foundation for this dissertation. First I will cover the basics of heart development: what causes an AVSD (defects in endocardial cushion formation) and how the culturing of endocardial cushions can aid in the study of AVSD origins.

**Chapter 2:** In chapter 2, I will discuss the clinical impact and current treatment of AVSD; and discuss the long-term risks associated with repaired AVSD.

**Chapter 3:** Next, I will briefly cover what is known about congenital heart defect risk factors. Then I will discuss the complex nature of AVSD genetics and what is known about CRELD1 as an AVSD risk factor and what is not known about the role of CRELD1 in the pathogenesis of AVSD. Lastly, I will introduce VEGF as a modifier of endocardial cushion development and why we believe that the *VEGF-634C* over-expression polymorphism could be a modifier of AVSD risk.

**CHAPTER 4:** Chapter 4 provides a detailed explanation of the approach and methods used to test my hypothesis that a combination of VEGF-over-expression and CRELD1-deficiency can cause AVSD.

**CHAPTER 5:** This chapter is focused on the role of CRELD1 in development and demonstrates that CRELD1 could cause AVSD through the characterization of the *Creld1*-knockout mouse. The mouse characterization revealed that elimination of CRELD1 expression caused death by embryonic day 12.5. Examination before death found numerous abnormalities, including abnormal endocardial cushions. This is significant because defects in atrioventricular endocardial cushions are a potential cause of AVSD. The underlying mechanisms included increased apoptosis, particularly in the heart and branchial arches; poor embryonic and yolk sac vascularization; as well as abnormal placental development. Additionally, microarray assays found that *Creld1*-knockout caused massive gene dysregulation, but especially notable was that a CRELD1-functional deficiency was associated with VEGF up-regulation.

**CHAPTER 6:** This chapter concerns the role of VEGF in AVSD etiology. Presented is an association study that shows, for the first time, that the *VEGF-634C* polymorphism (a polymorphism that causes VEGF up-regulation) is associated with AVSD. Additionally, we demonstrate that the *VEGF-634C* allele exclusively co-segregates with *CRELD1*-missense mutations in AVSD cases. From these results, I then hypothesize that a CRELD-

functional deficiency plus VEGF over-expression can disrupt endocardial cushion formation and thus is an AVSD risk profile. I then test and support this hypothesis using an endocardial cushion explant assay, a classic system for monitoring endocardial cushion growth ex vivo.

**CHAPTER 7 & 8:** These chapters include an in-depth discussion of how these results fit into the literature at large. Especially emphasized is how these results expand our knowledge of CRELD1 basic biology. Also discussed are the potential implications of our findings, as the CRELD1/VEGF profile is the first genetic risk profile ever described for AVSD. Additionally, I will suggest a few natural next steps.



# **CHAPTER 1:**

# **INTRODUCTION TO HEART DEVELOPMENT**

## Significance of congenital heart defects

Congenital heart defects occur in 9/1,000 live births (American Heart Association Retrieved 30 July 2010), which makes them the most common form of live-birth defect. At one time congenital heart defects were mostly lethal in childhood but now routine surgical repair has greatly increased survival to adulthood. However, the increased survival has created a new medical challenge: An emerging and novel adult population living with repaired cardiovascular defects, which may be as large as 1,300,000 individuals in the United States (American Heart Association Retrieved 30 July 2010).

This novel population of adults living with repaired heart defects has created both direct and indirect strains on our medical infrastructure. Additionally, these patients are increasingly acknowledged not to be cured, as was once thought. Instead, patients with repaired congenital heart defects often require additional operations for progressive valvular dysfunction, arrhythmias, or for other causes; and thus require lifelong comprehensive care (Dearani et al. 2007), the costs of which exceed 2.2 billion dollars for inpatient congenital heart defect surgical repair alone (American Heart Association Retrieved 30 July 2010).

In addition to increasing the prevalence of congenital heart defect patients, the increased survival due to surgical repair may also increase the incidence of new cases in the future. Congenital heart defects are well known to exhibit heritability (Insley 1987); therefore, we expect that the incidence of congenital heart defects will only increase as adults living with repaired heart defects have children of their own. This proposed increase in heart defect incidence is an alarming hypothesis, considering how common congenital heart defects are already. Just *how* common is put in perspective when we consider that, even with surgical repairs, nearly twice as many children die from congenital heart disease as die from all forms of childhood cancers combined (American Heart Association Retrieved 30 July 2010). Obviously, to ignore this growing patient population would be a mistake.

We cannot hope to improve the care of congenital heart defect patients beyond reactive or palliative care, such as surgery, unless we understand the cause of congenital heart defects. Therefore, this thesis is dedicated to identifying the cause of heart defects, so that someday more personalized and efficient care can be offered to this growing patient population. More specifically, this thesis will focus on identifying the genetic risk factor associated with a subset of congenital heart defects called atrioventricular septal defects (AVSD).

## **Heart development**

However, before we can address AVSD genetics, we must first understand how the heart develops and what errors in development can cause an AVSD.

#### The first cardiac progenitors are found in the primary heart field

The earliest population of cardiac progenitors compose the primary heart field. This field arises during gastrulation from the anterior splanchnic mesoderm and will give rise to the cardiac crescent, which will ultimately become the left ventricle and atria (Anderson et al. 2002). Specification of this tissue to a cardiovascular fate is dependent on signaling from neighboring tissues, including positive signaling from the bone morphogenetic protein family (Schultheiss et al. 1997); and both positive and negative signaling from the Wnt/wingless proteins (Schneider and Mercola 2001, Pandur et al. 2002, Marvin et al. 2001). This is accompanied by the expression of cardiac specific transcription factors, especially tinman/Nkx2-5 or Csx (Bodmer 1993, Azpiazu and Frasch 1993). Once specified, the primary heart field migrates medially to form two linear heart tubes, which will eventually fuse to form a single-chambered heart tube composed of an inner layer of endothelial cells surrounded by an outer layer of myocardial cells, between which is a layer of extracellular matrix rich in proteoglycans and glycosaminoglycans called the cardiac jelly (Harvey 2002). Initially this continuous "straight heart tube" is suspended along its length by a dorsal mesocardium but it quickly liberates itself from the body wall and undergoes rightward looping. By the fourth week in human development, it will begin to beat and pump blood. From there, the tube undergoes ballooning and begins septation to form the mature four-chambered heart.

#### A second source of cardiac progenitors: the secondary heart field

The primary heart field forms the initial heart tube and heavily contributes to the left ventricle of the mature heart. However, the portions of the heart tube that will contribute to the right ventricle, outflow tract and atria arise primarily from a second source of cardiac precursors known as the secondary heart field. This secondary heart field forms from the pharyngeal mesoderm located medial to the cardiac crescent. From here, this field contributes to the heart tube by migrating into the outflow and inflow poles of the developing heart, where it

then helps the expansion and development of the heart tube. The primary and secondary heart fields share heart-specific expression profiles such as the homeobox gene *Nkx2-5* but can also be distinguished by the unique expression of other transcription factors, as the primary heart field expresses the T-box transcription factor Tbx5 and the bHLH transcription factor Hand1; in contrast, the secondary heart field is marked by the expression of Hand2, the LIM-homeodomain transcription factor IsI1 and Fgf10 (Garry and Olson 2006). These distinct expression profiles allow for the selective genetic manipulation of the fields, which enables experimenters to test the origins of heart components.

#### A third source of cardiac progenitors: cardiac neural crest

A series of seminal transplantation and cell labeling experiments in avian embryos in the early 1980s revealed a third source of cardiac cells (Kirby et al. 1983, Kirby 1987, Bockman and Kirby 1984, Creazzo et al. 1998). These studies found that specific ectodermal cell populations located between the mid-otic placode and the third somite of the dorsal neural tube contributed to the outflow tract of the heart. Loss of these neural crest cells caused cardiovascular abnormalities of the outflow tract and aortic arch, including double outlet right ventricle, persistent truncus arteriosus and interrupted aortic arch (Kirby et al. 1983, Kirby 1987, Bockman and Kirby 1984, Creazzo et al. 1998). Accordingly, this

neural crest cell population was termed the cardiac neural crest. Subsequent mammalian fate-mapping studies using markers of cardiac neural crest fate, such as Connexin 43, Wnt1 or Pax3 have confirmed the role of the cardiac neural crest cells in the heart. Specifically, it has been found that the cardiac neural crest contributes significantly to the endocardial cushions of the outflow tract, which is a structure vital for the septation of the mature aorta and pulmonary arteries (Waldo et al. 1999, Epstein et al. 2000). However, cardiac neural crest contributions appear limited, and there is no evidence that they contribute to the atrioventricular endocardial cushions that form the atrioventricular valves and parts of the atrioventricular septa.

# Division of heart tube into a four-chambered heart

In the normal heart, the atrial septum is connected to the ventricular septum by atrioventricular fibrous annulus tissue or the atrioventricular septum (defined as the region between the apical mitral and atrial tricuspid valve). Loss of this tissue is the defining feature of AVSD. To understand what causes this loss of septum contiguity we must first understand how the atrioventricular septa and valves normally form, a process that begins at approximately week 5 in human development [embryonic day 9 (E9) in mice] and is heavily contributed to by the endocardial cushions.

#### Atrial septum

The atrial septum is composed of contributions from the septum primum, the septum secundum and the endocardial cushions. Atrial septation begins when the septum primum, a muscular crescent, extends from the atrial roof towards the center of the heart and towards the developing endocardial cushions. However, before the septum primum merges its mesenchymal cap with the endocardial cushions, there is a temporary space between the two structures called the ostium primum (also called the primary atrial foramen), which allows blood from the right atrium to flow directly into the left atrium (Abdulla et al. 2004). This right-to-left shunt is vital in fetal circulation, during which time the most highly oxygenated blood arrives not from the lungs and into the left side of the heart (as in postnatal life); but from the placenta and through the right side of the heart. Therefore, before the ostium primum is closed and filled in with fibrous septal tissue derived from the mesenchymal cap and endocardial cushions, a secondary foramen or foramen ovale opens near the primary septum's origin (Dudek 2006).

Simultaneous to the fusion of the septum primum with the endocardial cushions and to the opening of the secondary foramen, a second septum (the septum secundum) begins to extend from the right side of the septum primum. This second septum will eventually cover the foramen ovale but importantly it does not seal the hole. Thus, blood continues to flow between the right and left atrium, until birth, when the right-to-left shunt is no longer needed (Figure 1). This foramen ovale is sealed postnatally when the first breaths cause the pulmonary pressure to decrease and the pressure in the left side of the heart to increase. This forces the septum primum against the septum secundum, functionally sealing the foramen ovale, which then fuses closed, leaving only a remnant known as the fossa ovalis.



#### Figure 1: Illustration of how the atrial septum forms.

Above is an illustration demonstrating how the common atrial chamber is divided, as viewed as a sagittal cross section of the right atrium looking towards the left atrium. The common atria is divided into a left and right atrium by contributions from two septa (the septum primum and the septum secundum) and contributions from the endocardial cushions. If the atrioventricular endocardial cushions do not fuse with the septum primum during development an ostium primum defect occurs (denoted by asterisk). This is the type of atrial septal defect found in AVSD. Details about atrial septal formation can be found in the main text. Figure adapted from Abdulla et al. (Abdulla et al. 2004).

#### Ventricular septum

Also during the 4<sup>th</sup> week of human development the two primitive ventricles become septated. The ventricular division begins as a muscular fold, extending from the anterior wall to the floor of the ventricles, grows towards the atrioventricular valves as a concave ridge. Second to this, trabeculations coalesce in the inlet region and grow into the ventricular cavity. These septal primordia (the muscular ridge and trabeculation) then fuse to form the bulk of the muscular interventricular septum, which is now in contact with the outflow septum. However, completion of the muscular septum still leaves a large opening called the interventricular foramen between the two ventricles. Closure of the interventricular foramen depends on contributions from membranous tissues (Figure 2). This includes contributions from the endocardial cushions, and the right and left bulbar ridges (Abdulla et al. 2004, Satpathy 2008).

#### Errors in the atrioventricular septum

Errors in any part of ventricular or atrial septum formation can result in a ventricular septal defect (VSD) or an atrial septal defect (ASD), respectively; and are classified based on their anatomical location within the septa. Accordingly, membranous ventricular septum (Figure 2) and ostium primum (Figure 1) defects are the ventricular and atrial septum defects found in AVSD. Membranous

ventricular septum defects can be caused by errors in the endocardial cushions' ability to create the upper membranous ventricular septum; similarly, ostium primum defects are traditionally thought to be caused by a failure of the endocardial cushions to fuse with the septum primum. Thus, particular attention is paid to the atrioventricular endocardial cushions when studying the development of AVSD.



### Interventricular Septum Formation

### Figure 2: Membranous Ventricular Septal Defect.

The muscular septum forms the bulk of ventricular septum. However, the top portion of the ventricular septum is filled in with membranous tissue derived from the bulbar septum and the endocardial cushions. Defects in the fusion of the muscular septum with the endocardial cushions or an absence of the endocardial cushions can cause membranous septal defects found in AVSD (denoted by asterisks). For details see main text. Figure adapted from Abdulla et al. (Abdulla et al. 2004).
### Atrioventricular valve formation

The atrioventricular valves are also almost entirely derived from the atrioventricular endocardial cushions (de Lange et al. 2004, Lincoln et al. 2004), with some contribution from the atrioventricular myocardium (de Lange et al. 2004, Gaussin et al. 2005), as undermining of the myocardium helps form the papillary muscles and chordae tendinea of the valves.

The earliest valves are derived from the endocardial cushion. Thus the early valves consist of mesenchymal leaflets and extracellular matrix, primarily hyaluronic acid (Camenisch et al. 2000) and versican (Henderson and Copp 1998). The signaling involved in the formation of the early leaflets is incompletely understood but includes signaling by calcium, VEGF and nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT) (Wagner and Siddiqui 2007). The valves then begin to mature between E15.5 and E18.5 in mouse. Maturation includes increased cell density and proliferation, accompanied by areas of condensation, which are reminiscent of bone formation. A process associated with increased fibronectin expression, which is thought to bridge the leaflet cells with the interstitial collagen network and increased N-cadherin expression, which is thought to promote cellular adhesion. Then from E18.5 onwards, the leaflet (at the level of the papillary muscle) elongates parallel with heart growth (Kruithof et al. 2007).

16

Next the primitive valve remodels to form structurally resilient adult valves. At first (E15.5 and E18.5) hyaluronic acid, other acidic mucopolysaccharides or glycosaminoglycans, and versican are homogenously expressed in the mitral mural leaflet (except in the areas of condensation). But starting at postnatal day 6.5 (N6.5) in mouse these extracellular matrix proteins (as seen with Alcian Blue staining) become restricted to the atrial side of the leaflet. This atrial side will become the atrialis layer and provides the adult valve with elasticity. This is then accompanied by the accumulation of stress-resistant extracellular matrix proteins such as collagen 1 and Collagen V. This accumulation first occurs at the anchoring points to the annulus fibrosus and papillary muscles, before spanning the entire length of adult leaflets at the ventricular side. This ventricular side will be known as the fibrosa layer and will provide the mature leaflet's strength (Kruithof et al. 2007). Between the atrialis and fibrosa layers is the spongiosia layer, which provides cushioning.

While the timeline of valve formation is established, the signaling involved in heart valve remodeling and maturation is not well understood, likely because there is a scarcity of mice with valve defects that are viable past the first half of gestation (Stainier et al. 2002). Therefore, more is known about early valve development, namely the early formation of the atrioventricular endocardial cushions.

## AV-endocardial cushion defects can cause AVSD

The atrioventricular endocardial cushions contribute to the membranous ventricular septum, are critical to closing the ostium primum in the atrial septum and form large portions of the atrioventricular valves. Therefore, defects in endocardial cushion formation can be responsible for the constellation of defects seen in an AVSD. This is why AVSD are sometimes called endocardial cushion defects.

### **Endocardial cushion development**

Endocardial cushions first start to form during the fourth week of human development in two discrete segments of the heart tube: at the junction of the future atria and ventricles (the atrioventricular canal); and in the outflow tract. Endocardial cushion development begins as a swelling of the heart tube's cardiac jelly. Exactly how this extracellular matrix expansion is controlled is unknown but a few pathways have been implicated. In mouse, versican, a chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan, is necessary for cardiac jelly production, as an absence of versican inhibits cell invasion into the endocardial cushions (Yamamura et al. 1997). Additionally, hyaluronic acid synthase 2 (has2), a high-molecular weight glucosaminoglycan polymer that is thought to have an architectural and cell adhesion role in the extracellullular matrix (Stainier et al. 2002), is necessary for cardiac jelly production, ventricular trabeculation and endocardial cushion formation (Camenisch et al. 2000).

Successful swelling of the cardiac jelly is then followed by a subset of the endothelial cells in the outflow tract or atrioventricular junction undergoing a transformation into mesenchymal cells, via a mechanism called epithelial-tomesenchymal transformation (EMT). Successful EMT is partially dependent on the competency of the cushion endothelial cells to respond to EMT inductive signals, as neighboring endothelial cells in the ventricle do not respond similarly (Runyan and Markwald 1983). The signals important for inducing these competent endothelial cells to undergo EMT arise from the neighboring myocardium and swollen cardiac jelly and include signaling from BMPs, Whts, Notch, TGF-β, VEGF, hyaluronic acid, neurofibromin, NFAT, Connexin 45, fibronectin, transferin, slug and EGF (Wagner and Siddiqui 2007, Gaussin et al. 2002, de la Pompa et al. 1998, Ranger et al. 1998, Kumai et al. 2000, Nakajima et al. 2000, Romano and Runyan 1999). More specifically, the activation and delamination of the endothelial cells in endocardial cushion formation is associated with increased Bmp, VEGF, Notch, Slug and TGF-β signaling. And the subsequent mesenchymal cell migration into the cardiac jelly is associated with increased VEGF and hyaluronic acid signaling, although abnormally high VEGF signaling can also inhibit EMT (Dor et al. 2003). Lastly, proliferation of this cell population is balanced by positive regulators such as Wnt and BMP; and negative regulators such as EGF and Neurofibromin (Wagner and Siddigui 2007). The net result is a subset of endothelial cells undergoing hypertrophy, breaking

19

homotypic cell-adhesive contacts, undergoing cytoskeletal changes, extending filopodia and invading the matrix-rich cardiac jelly (Figure 3), where they expand and remodel to eventually form the valves and septa. However, how all these necessary factors interact is not as well studied and the exact sequence of events involved in endocardial cushion EMT is unknown. However, one model proposes that TGF- $\beta$ 2 signaling and inhibitory regulative G-protein (Gi) signaling is required in combination with Slug to initiate EMT, while TGF- $\beta$ 3 and BMP are important in the later EMT stages (Stainier et al. 2002).

Successfully activated mesenchymal cells can be marked by their expression of α smooth muscle actin (Nakajima et al. 1997), cell surface β 104 galactosyltransferase, Msx-1, Mox-1 or type 1 pro-collagen (Stainier et al. 2002). But these are only markers of transformation. The only mesenchymal marker that has also been shown to be critical in cushion EMT is vinculin (Stainier et al. 2002). The fact that so few markers have also been shown to be necessary for cushion development, likely speaks to the robustness and genetic redundancy inherent to heart development, which hints at the complexity of endocardial cushion development and AVSD genetics.

In the outflow tract the endothelial cells that contribute to the endocardial cushions are derived from both the cardiac neural crest and secondary heart

field (specifically anterior heart field) (Cai et al. 2003, Buckingham et al. 2005, Verzi et al. 2005, Abu-Issa and Kirby 2007). Similarly, there is some suggestion that the endothelial cells that contribute to the atrioventricular endocardial cushions might also be derived from numerous heart fields. As a recent study found that when BMP4, a gene essential for cardiac myocyte specification and endocardial cushion development (Delot 2003, Schneider et al. 2003), is knocked out of the anterior heart field, membranous ventricular septal defects result (McCulley et al. 2008). However, this could also be due to paracrine effects due to an absence of BMP4 in the anterior heart field. So it remains to be conclusively shown whether any other fields, besides the primary heart field, contribute to the atrioventricular endocardial cushions.



### Figure 3: Diagram illustrating EMT during cushion formation.

Diagramed above is a cross section of an E10.5 developing mouse heart. The endocardial cushions are shown in orange. The endocardial cushions are composed of a population of endothelial (endocardial) cells that have undergone an epithelial-tomesenchymal transformation (EMT) and invaded the extracellular matrix (or cardiac jelly) found between the endocardium and myocardium layers of the heart tube.

### Endocardial cushion can be cultured

Due the pivotal role that endocardial cushions play in the development of AVSD, there is much interest in identifying and characterizing molecules important in endocardial cushion development, as it is proposed that the genes that affect endocardial cushion development may be risk factors for AVSD. This has prompted intense investigation of endocardial cushion development, including the creation of an ex vivo assay, which makes cushions more accessible to manipulation and allows for continued monitoring of early cushion growth.

Roger Markwald's laboratory was the first to successfully explant the atrioventricular endocardial cushions of avian embryos onto a 3-D collagenmatrix; specifically cushions from Hamburger and Hamilton stage 12 to 18, which covered the time from initial enlargement of the cardiac jelly to EMT. When they did this they found that the myocardium continued to beat and that the cushion endothelial cells were able to undergo EMT, migrate in three dimensions and "seed" the matrix (Figure 4). Furthermore, they found that the neighboring ventricular endothelial cells could not seed the matrix (Runyan and Markwald 1983), suggesting that the cushion endothelial cells are uniquely competent to undergo EMT. Most importantly they found that the atrioventricular cushion formation in 3-D culture mimicked the histological sequence seen in vivo (Bernanke and Markwald 1982).

The explant culture system was then employed with mouse atrioventricular endocardial cushions by Todd Camenisch. The chick and mouse explants were found to be comparable, as  $26 \pm 1$  somites in either species reliably produced atrioventricular and outflow tract cushions that transformed and invaded the collagen matrix. However, there is some difference between the dynamics of EMT in the two species, if the cushions are explanted before transformation (<28 somites). Explanted <28 somite avian cushion endothelial cells initially leave the explants as a monolayer and then only a subset of cells transform and seed the matrix; while the <28 somite mouse cushion endothelial cells appear to transform and seed the matrix directly from the explants. Some of the difference in EMT between the species may be due to subtle differences in reactivity, as the avian cushions express both TGF<sup>β</sup>2 and TGF<sup>β</sup>3 during EMT initiation, while in mouse cushions TGFB3 is not detected during EMT initiation. In avian cushions, TGFβ2 mediates initial cell–cell separation of activated endocardium, while TGF $\beta$ 3 is necessary for the subsequent invasion (Camenisch et al. 2002).

Despite this subtle difference, both the avian and mouse explant culture systems mimic in vivo EMT events, including transformation and invasion of mesenchymal cells; and therefore this system can be used to monitor cushion development. Accordingly, in this thesis, when I test whether potential AVSD risk factors can indeed affect early valve and septa formation I will culture endocardial cushions on a 3-D collagen matrix to monitor EMT.





### Figure 4: The 3-D collagen-matrix assay is a proxy for development.

At E9.5 in mouse development the endocardial cushions are still only swellings of the cardiac jelly, as EMT has not occurred. However, EMT will occur over the next day and transformed endothelial cells will be seen invading the cardiac jelly as mesenchymal cells (**Panel A**). If however, the atrioventricular canals are explanted at E9.5, then the transformed cells can be seen migrating across and into the provided 3-D collagen matrix (**Panel B**) instead of the cardiac jelly.

# CHAPTER 2:

# CLINICAL IMPACT AND CURRENT TREATMENT OF AVSD

There are two types of AVSD: partial and complete AVSD, both of which involve errors in endocardial cushion formation and as a class occur in 2.4-3.1/10,000 live births (Craig 2006). Both partial and complete AVSD cases are characterized by the absence of a continual septum in the heart, which causes the left and right valves (mitral and tricuspid, respectively) to merge into a single common hybrid valve with five leaflets, two of which ride over the truncated ventricular septum and are thus shared by both the right and left ventricles (bridged leaflets). In complete AVSD cases both the membranous atrial and ventricular septum are affected. In contrast, partial AVSD cases are primarily a failure of the membranous atrial septum and not of the ventricular septum. Accordingly, in complete AVSD cases the common valve has a single annulus, thus resulting in a single heart orifice. Partial AVSD cases have separate mitral and tricuspid annuli within the common valve and abnormal communication primarily between the atrium and through a cleft mitral valve (if present) (Figure 5).



### Figure 5: Diagram of AVSD.

Complete and partial AVSD both involve the incomplete septation of the heart and common atrioventricular valve. Complete AVSD involve holes in both the atrial and ventricular septa; and a common atrioventricular valve with a common annulus. Partial AVSD involve a patent ostium primum in the atrial septum and a common valve with separate annuli. In both cases these errors are thought to arise from endocardial cushion defects, hence they are grouped together as AVSD. Additionally, in both cases these abnormalities permit the mixing of oxygenated blood (pictured in red) and deoxygenated blood (pictured in blue), as shown with white arrows. This mixing of oxygenated and de-oxygenated blood (pictured in purple) greatly reduces the efficiency of the heart. Right atrium, R. Atrium; Left Atrium, L. Atrium; Right Ventricle, R. Vent; Left Ventricle, L. Vent.

### AVSD can cause pulmonary complications

Loss of contiguity between the atrial and ventricular septum, such as seen in AVSD, allows mixing or "shunting" of the blood from the left and right sides of the heart. In a complete AVSD or partial AVSD with mitral regurgitation, this allows an excess volume of blood to flow from the systemic (left side) circulation to the pulmonary circulation (right side) in a process called a left-to-right shunt. This causes increased pulmonary blood flow (Vincent et al. 1984) and increased pressure across the lung capillaries, which can cause pulmonary edema and abnormal pulmonary function. If left untreated this may lead to a failure of the pulmonary vasculature to remodel during early infancy, which causes abnormal pulmonary vascular bed reactivity, fixed pulmonary hypertension and eventually irreversible pulmonary vascular disease (Haworth 1998).

### AVSD can cause metabolic abnormalities

Sixty percent of hospitalized children with left-to-right shunts have acute and chronic malnutrition (Cameron et al. 1995). Why this would be is uncertain but may be due to an increased metabolic expenditure caused by the increased respiratory effort and myocardial work common to left-to-right shunts. This is supported by a study showing that infants with large left-to-right shunts have

30

increased oxygen consumption, which is normalized after surgical correction (Puhakka et al. 1993).

### AVSD can cause congestive heart failure

Untreated AVSD often causes heart failure, a condition in which the heart can no longer pump enough blood to meet the demands of body. Congestive heart failure usually develops by the second month of life in infants with AVSD. However, if there is significant regurgitation of blood through the common atrioventricular valve, coarctation of the aorta or ventricular imbalance, cardiac failure may begin within the first week of life (Craig 2006). Therefore, if untreated many with AVSD die in infancy and those who do survive often develop pulmonary vascular disease and eventually die with Eisenmenger syndrome (Craig 2006), a syndrome defined by cyanosis, pulmonary hypertension and erythrocytosis. It is Eisenmenger syndrome, with its associated cyanosis that is behind the term "blue baby" ascribed to infants with cyanotic heart conditions like AVSD.

### **Diagnosing AVSD**

Signs of AVSD may include mitral regurgitation; congestive heart failure; or the

asynchronous closure of the aortic valve and the pulmonary valve, which can be heard as a wide fixed splitting of S2 during auscultation. Additionally, a chest X ray may find bi-ventricular enlargement. An echocardiogram can then be used to show the pathophysiology and Doppler echocardiograms can determine the presence of mitral, tricuspid or common valve regurgitation.

### AVSD treatment

The natural history of AVSD is similar to VSD but unlike muscular VSD, AVSD do not undergo spontaneous narrowing or closure. Therefore, in order to avoid the complications inherent to septal holes, AVSD must be treated with pharmaceuticals and surgery.

The drugs used to care for AVSD are often the same used to care for congestive heart failure, such as diuretics like lasix (furosemide) to address the edema associated with poor circulation; and angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors, such as captopril and digoxin, to reduce the activity of the reninangiotensin-aldosterone pathway, which is abnormally high in left-to-right shunt patients due to the inability of the heart to meet the body's needs (Buchhorn et al. 2001). These medical treatments can mitigate AVSD symptoms and may allow infants to wait for surgery until they are older. However, there is no medical cure for congestive heart failure.

Initial surgical treatment may include pulmonary artery banding to restrict blood flow to the pulmonary system and prevent permanent lung damage before corrective heart surgery is performed. Most complete surgical heart repairs then occur at 3-6 months for infants with a complete atrioventricular septal defect and at 6-18 months for infants with a partial atrioventricular septal defect (Dudek 2006). These complete surgical repairs include patching the holes in the atrial or ventricular septa, usually with manmade materials such as Dacron or Gore-Tex; and dividing and reconstructing the common atrioventricular valve.

Recovery after surgical repair of a partial AVSD is usually brief and most are home within 4-5 days; additionally, survival after surgery is greater than 97% (Dudek 2006). However, repair of complete atrioventricular septal defects is more frequently associated with complications, including increased presurgical pulmonary vascular resistance, which can necessitate mechanical ventilation. Still, most report only a 5-7 day hospital stay and a more than 90 percent surgery survival rate (Dudek 2006) with a complete AVSD. After surgery, most repaired-AVSD patients are medication free, although continued lifetime follow up with a cardiologist is recommended.

### **Repaired-AVSD long-term risks**

We are only now able to appreciate the long-term outcome of patients living with AVSD, as the first reported surgical correction of a complete AVSD occurred as recently as 1954 (Lillehei et al. 1955). Now instead of being thought of as "cured", AVSD patients are increasingly acknowledged to still be at high risk (Boening et al. 2002, Stulak et al. 2010). These risks include complications following surgical repair, including leaky mitral valves, stenosis of the aorta, or problems with electrical conduction. While stenosis of the aorta and mitral valve regurgitation can be repaired with additional surgeries, the electrical problems are a more serious complication. This is reflected in the fact that patients surviving operations for common congenital heart defects are at a greater risk than their age-matched controls for late-sudden death (Silka et al. 1998).

The association between congenital heart defects, like AVSD, and sudden death may be because the conduction tissues critical to proper heart contractions are located very near to the atrioventricular septum and the atrioventricular valves (Figure 6). Thus surgical repairs to this area may cause scarring in these delicate tissues. Alternatively, the same genes involved in patterning valves and septa may be important in patterning innervations and thus AVSD could be associated with inborn electrical problems. This is supported by the fact that the actual position of an AVSD dictates the position of the atrioventricular conduction tissues, as the presence of an AVSD forces displacement of the atrioventricular node posteriorly and the His bundle inferiorly (Moss and Allen 2008). Then again, the same genes important in valve and septa formation may simply also be important for heart health on a cellular level; as many of the genes needed to maintain adult health, including adult cardiovascular health, are the same genes involved in development (Combs and Yutzey 2009, Nemir and Pedrazzini 2008, Oka et al. 2007). Whatever the reason, though, the long term survival rate after a successful AVSD surgery is between 80-90% at 10 years and only 65% after 20 years (Drose 1998).



# Figure 6: Diagram of the endocardial cushions' contributions to the mature heart.

The heart begins as a continuous tube that is divided into a mature four-chambered heart through contributions from the valve and septa anlagen or primordium called endocardial cushions (pictured in orange and labeled "ECC"). It is these endocardial cushions that will form much of the mature heart valves and septa. Accordingly, errors in the formation or maturation of endocardial cushions are thought to cause AVSD, which is the malformation or complete absence of valves and septa. It is notable that the region contributed to by the endocardial cushions is very close to the cardiac conduction system. Pictured is the sinoatrial node, which is the heart's pacemaker. Normally, electrical stimulus is generated by the sinoatrial node located in the right atrium that then travels to the atrioventricular node, where it pauses before continuing down the bundle of His to the ventricles, which divides and provides stimuli to both ventricles. This pause is important to insure that the atria finish emptying before the ventricles contract. Inhibition of the conduction system may cause heart block. Thus the close proximity of the conduction system to the endocardial cushion tissue may be why congenital heart defects are strongly associated with sudden death. ECC, endocardial cushions; LV, left ventricle; RV, right ventricle; LA, left atrium; RA, right atrium.

By identifying the cause of human AVSD, we hope that patient care can progress beyond purely reactive and palliative care. If we understood the cause of AVSD, one of the first things we could offer patients is genetic counseling about the odds of AVSD transmission within their family based on their unique risk profiles, which we are currently unable to do. Additionally, we could develop more relevant animal and cell culture models, which could be used to investigate why AVSD patients are at a higher risk for sudden death. If we understood the cause of these sudden deaths we might be able to prevent them. This prevention might include altering surgical procedures to better avoid conduction tissue or proactively implanting defibrillators or pacemakers into patients deemed inherently high risk. Moreover, creating relevant disease models should allow for the screening of drugs engineered for use in AVSD patients, instead of just borrowing medications from the congestive heart failure population. And lastly, the Holy Grail would be to prevent and cure AVSD. To this end, gene therapy is the most optimistic approach; however, performing in utero gene therapy is fraught with peril, from technical challenges to ethical considerations. More practically, understanding what factors (genetic or environmental) can cause AVSD may allow us to identify highrisk mothers that could decrease their chance of having a child with AVSD by adopting lifestyle changes. Still, the best AVSD treatments or preventions may remain unforeseen until we know what causes AVSD and are able to directly address the long-term underlying risks that accompany membranous septal defects and a common atrioventricular valve.

38

# **CHAPTER 3:**

# **CONGENITAL HEART DEFECTS RISK FACTORS**

Considering the burden that congenital heart defects present to both patients and society-at-large, it is important to understand the underlying molecular causes of AVSD. Only by understanding the molecular cause of AVSD can we ever hope to predict the transmission and progression of AVSD, which is the first step to providing more personalized and efficient care for this population. But before we can explore the genetics of AVSD we need to familiarize ourselves with what risk factors are associated with other congenital heart defects affecting the atrioventricular valves and septa.

## **External risk factors**

External factors (chemical, physical, biological) are thought to cause of 10% of congenital defects (De Santis et al. 2004). Thus, it is plausible that external factors may play a role in AVSD etiology. Supporting this notion is the fact that some drugs are known heart teratogens. For example, isotretinoin, a drug used to treat acne and an analogue of vitamin A, can cause heart defects. Studies in humans have found isotretinoin use during the first trimester of pregnancy causes miscarriage in 22% of mothers and malformations in 18% of fetuses studied, including conotruncal heart defects and aortic-arch abnormalities (Lammer et al. 1985). Additionally, there is some suggestion that lithium, which is used to treat bipolar disorder, is associated with cardiac defects. Retrospective and case studies have found, out of a total of 284 cases of infants exposed to Lithium during gestation, 32 had abnormalities, 22 of which included cardiac abnormalities, including Ebstein's anomaly, patent ductus arteriosus (PDA) and tricuspid regurgitation (Yacobi and Ornoy 2008).

External factors such as maternal health can also affect heart development, as maternal diabetes mellitus is associated with a five-fold increase in the risk of congenital heart defects in human infants (Wren et al. 2003), including endocardial cushion defects, persistent truncus arteriosus and ventricular septal defects. Additionally and in specific regard to this thesis, the Baltimore-Washington Infant Study found that infants of diabetic mothers are more susceptible to developing an AVSD (Loffredo 2000). Consistent with these human studies, the embryos of diabetic mice are disposed to develop persistent truncus arteriosus and ventricular septal defects (Kumar et al. 2007). Why this association exists is not well understood but it has been shown that expression of Bmp4, Msx1 and Pax3 (all genes involved in the cardiac neural crest) is reduced in the defective mouse hearts born to diabetic dams; and that maternal diabetes is associated with reduced proliferation and increased apoptosis in the endocardial cushions and myocardium of murine embryos born to diabetic dams (Kumar et al. 2007). However, how diabetes mellitus is affecting these developmental changes is still only speculation.

High altitude also appears to be a risk factor for congenital heart defects. A study of 32,578 Tibetan children, between the ages of 4-18 living at 2,535; 3,600 and 4,200 meters found that congenital heart defect morbidity rose with increasing altitude, with 5.45 cases per thousand at 2,535 meters, 6.80 cases per thousand at 3,600 meters and 9.79 cases per thousand at 4,200 meters. Additionally, the constitution of congenital heart defects differs between the altitudes (Jin et al. 2008). This huge epidemiology study is convincing evidence that altitude can affect heart development and has prompted proposals that altitude and oxygen saturation can affect heart development enough to affect human disease rates. This has spurred investigation into how high altitude could affect heart patterning, including investigation of hypoxia-responsive genes such as VEGF in heart development (Dor et al. 2001).

## **Genetic risk factors**

Congenital heart defects are suspected to have a genetic component, as the prevalence of congenital heart defects in the family members of patients with isolated congenital heart disease is 2%–16% versus the 0.4%–0.8% found in the

general population, suggesting heritability (Campbell 1973, Loffredo et al. 2004, Samanek 2000, van der Velde et al. 2005). Accordingly, below are some genes that have been found associated with congenital heart defects.

### Familial autosomal-dominant cases

Although numerous genes are known to be necessary for animal model heart development, only a few mutations in these genes have been related to human congenital heart disease, many of which are only found in a few rare families who exhibit familial autosomal-dominant congenital heart defects, e.g. NKX2-5, GATA4, MYH6 and NOTCH (Joziasse et al. 2008). Mutations in the heart-specific transcription factor NKX2-5 have been identified in families with inherited autosomal dominant atrial septal defects, atrioventricular block, ventricular septal defect or AVSD (Reamon-Buettner and Borlak 2004, Benson et al. 1999). Mutations in another transcription factor, GATA4 have been found associated with autosomal dominant congenital heart defects in two families who had atrial septal defects, ventricular septal defects, atrioventricular septal defects, pulmonary valve thickening, or insufficiency of the cardiac valves (Hirayama-Yamada et al. 2005, Garg et al. 2003). Mutations in a structural protein, alphamyosin heavy chain (MYH6), are proposed to be causative in a large family with dominantly inherited atrial septal defect (Ching et al. 2005). Mutations in the signaling protein NOTCH1 are associated with a spectrum of developmental

aortic valve anomalies and severe valve calcification in non-syndromic autosomal-dominant human pedigrees (Garg et al. 2003) and missense mutations in *JAGGED1* (a NOTCH ligand) have been found in a large kindred with autosomal dominant tetralogy of Fallot (Eldadah et al. 2001).

The successful discovery of genetic variants associated with familial heart defects is a proof-of-principle that genes are associated with heart defects. The reason that so many genetic risk factors have been identified in familial congenital heart defect cases (which are rare) is because linkage analysis can be used to discover familial genes. Thus, rare familial congenital heart defects are a valuable resource for identifying new genetic risk factors. Furthermore, risk factors found in familial cases may also be relevant to the larger sporadic or syndromic heart defect population. This is supported by the fact that *GATA4* mutations have also been found associated with isolated congenital heart defects cases, including an atrial septal defect, a ventricular septal defect and tetralogy of Fallot (Tomita-Mitchell et al. 2007).

### Syndromic cases

It appears that about one third of congenital heart defect patients also have dysmorphic features, suggesting that their defects are part of a syndrome, such as trisomy 21, Noonan's syndrome or Holt-Oram syndrome (Formigari et al.

2009). Accordingly, it is postulated that the genetic risk factors involved in syndromes might also be involved in congenital heart defect risk. In support of this, TBX5 a gene that when mutated can cause Holt-Oram syndrome [a syndrome that includes a variety of heart defects including atrial septal defects, ventricular septal defects and conduction-system defects (Basson et al. 1997)] is also the first single-genetic risk factor found to be associated with isolated congenital heart defects, including ventricular septal defects, atrial septal defects and AVSD (Reamon-Buettner and Borlak 2004). Furthermore, another syndrome, heterotaxy (a disorder of left-right symmetry that is often associated with cardiac defects) has been postulated to share risk genes with congenital heart defects, as AVSD may result from misalignment of atria over the ventricles either during heart looping or septation. Supporting this hypothesis, a mutation in the first gene associated with heterotaxy (MIM 306955), the zinc finger transcription factor (ZIC3), has been found in a patient that did not have heterotaxy but did have an atrial septal defect and pulmonic stenosis (Ware et al. 2004). Thus TBX5 and Zic3 are proof-of-principle that risk factors originally identified in syndromes may also prove relevant to the often more common isolated congenital heart defect population.

#### **Mouse models**

CITED2, which encodes a CREBBP/EP300 interacting transcriptional modulator, is essential for heart development in mice. Thus it was speculated that mutations in CITED2 might cause heart defects in humans. Therefore, CITED2 was sequenced in a population composed of numerous heart defect where CITED2 alterations were found, including in one patient with a sinus venosus atrial septal defect and abnormal pulmonary venous return; one patient with an atrial septal defect of the secundum type; one patient with a perimembranous ventricular septal defect; two patients with tetralogy of Fallot; one with situs inversus totalis, transposition of the great arteries, and perimembranous ventricular septal defect; one patient with perimembranous VSD and secundum atrial septal defect; and one patient with perimembranous ventricular septal defect; one patient with perimembranous ventricular septal defect; by patients with tetralogy of the secundum atrial septal defect; and one patient with perimembranous ventricular septal defect; one patient with perimembranous ventricular septal defect; one patient with perimembranous ventricular septal defect (Sperling et al. 2005). Thus, genes identified in mouse models as essential to heart development have been shown to be relevant to human disease.

The variety of defects associated with CITED2 is notable and consistent with the range of congenital heart defect phenotypes associated with other single genetic risk factors for isolated heart defects, such as CITED2, GATA4, NKX2-5 and TBX5. Such heterogeneity suggests that modifiers must exist that can affect the penetrance and expressivity of these risk factor genes. However, risk factor

45

combinations are rarely explored and no reliable causative risk profiles have ever been described for any congenital heart defect population. This is a shortcoming I seek to address in my thesis.

## **AVSD** inheritance

### Most AVSD are associated with Down syndrome

Sixty percent of AVSD cases are associated with trisomy 21 (Down syndrome). Accordingly, compared to the euploid population, the Down syndrome population is at a 2,000-fold increased risk of developing AVSD (Maslen et al. 2006), an association that suggests that AVSD susceptibility genes exist on chromosome 21. This has spurred the investigation of chromosome 21 for AVSD risk factors. Particular focus has been placed on the Down syndrome "critical region" located on the distal half of the long arm of human chromosome 21, which contains most of the gene transcribing sites on chromosome 21 and thus, is thought to contain the genes essential to producing Down syndrome symptoms (Shapiro 1999). Accordingly, some have proposed that DSCAM (Down syndrome cell adhesion molecule), a gene that is located in the Down syndrome critical region and is expressed in the heart during cardiac development, might be an AVSD risk gene (Barlow et al. 2001); however, this has not been confirmed. In fact, to date, no single AVSD risk gene on chromosome 21 has been identified as an AVSD risk gene. This is likely due to the inherent limitations associated with this method of gene discovery, as mapping risk genes to chromosome 21 relies on the existence of a robust study population of partial chromosome 21 cases that are free of other genomic re-arrangements, which may confound the phenotype. However, such simple partial chromosome-21 cases are exceedingly rare.

To get around the limitations of gene mapping in the human Down syndrome populations, some have turned to mouse models. In mice, approximately two thirds of the orthologs of the 243 known human chromosome 21 (Hsa 21) genes are on mouse chromosome 16 (Mmu 16) (Benson and Sund 2010). Thus, Mmu 16 trisomic mice have been made in the hopes of modeling Down syndrome; however, these mice are not viable, as they are also partially trisomic for three other human chromosomes (Hsa 3, 21, 22). Therefore, the most useful Down syndrome mouse models are only trisomic for the portions of Mmu 16 that are orthologous to Hsa21. These models are therefore said to have partial trisomy or segmental trisomy (Benson and Sund 2010). Popular partial segmental strains include the Ts65Dn (Reeves et al. 1995) or Tc1Cje models. Alternatively some have created transchromosomic mice (Tc1) that are aneuploid for the human chromosomes 21, as this method would most closely recapitulate the gene dosage in humans. However, this last method is fraught with technical challenges, including difficulties in achieving male germline transmission, somatic retention and chromosome integrity (O'Doherty et al. 2005).

Although none of the mouse models perfectly mimic human genetics, Down syndrome mouse models do exhibit a number of Down syndrome characteristics, including synaptic plasticity and learning deficits; abnormal craniofacial morphology; hampered T lymphocyte activation; and atrioventricular canal defects (O'Doherty et al. 2005). Thus, these mouse models may prove useful for mapping the chromosome 21 genes associated with the variety of abnormalities found in Down syndrome, including AVSD risk genes. Additionally, these mice models may also prove useful for identifying other (non-chromosome 21) risk factors, as the penetrance of the cardiac defects can depend on the Down syndrome mouse strain background (Benson and Sund 2010). Thus these Down syndrome mouse models may serve as AVSD-susceptibility models that can be used to genetically investigate whether other candidate risk factors can modify AVSD penetrance or expressivity.

Similarly, while it is notable that 40% of Down syndrome children have congenital heart defects and about 45% of those cases are AVSD (Seale and Shinebourne 2004), it is equally notable that most Down syndrome children do not have any heart malformations. This means that in humans three copies of chromosome 21 is not enough to cause an AVSD but instead other risk factors are also needed. Accordingly, AVSD genetics are thought to be complex, possibly contributed to by a combination of risk factors, including contributions from chromosome 21, external factors or non-chromosome 21 genetic variations.

### AVSD also regularly occur in the euploid population

AVSD are common in the euploid population and while a few euploid cases seem to be transmitted in an autosomal dominant fashion with incomplete penetrance (McKusick 1998), this is the exception. Instead, the vast majority of euploid AVSD cases do not have any appreciable inheritance pattern and occur as sporadic events. Sporadic inheritance patterns are the hallmark of a complex disease; accordingly, we believe that AVSD are the result of a combination of risk factors, possibly both genetic and environmental. However, such heterogeneity makes finding risk factors a challenge because it lowers the statistical power of identifying any one risk factor within a study population. This may explain why many genes have been identified as critical for heart development but few genes have been successfully associated with human AVSD. To minimize the statistical weakness inherent to studying heterogeneous populations, our laboratory used strict inclusion/exclusion criteria when creating our patient population to minimize as much genetic heterogeneity as possible.

## CRELD1 is the first AVSD risk factor

### CRELD1 is a candidate gene from the AVSD2 risk locus

Previous linkage mapping studies identified two AVSD risk loci in humans, *AVSD1* and *AVSD2. AVSD1* was mapped in a family with autosomal dominantly inherited AVSD to 1p31-p26 (Sheffield et al. 1997), however the risk gene in this region has still not been located. The *AVSD2* locus was mapped in children with a very rare syndrome called 3p minus syndrome. This syndrome is caused by the absence of the distal part of the short arm of chromosome 3 and can cause numerous abnormalities, including low birth weight; psychomotor and mental retardation; hypotonia; microcephaly; ptosis; micrognathia; telecanthus; and congenital heart defects. About one third of children with 3p minus syndrome have AVSD, suggesting an AVSD risk factor must exist in this region (MIM, 606217). This prompted the mapping of an AVSD risk locus (*AVSD2*) to 3p24.2-25, which contains 153 genes (Green et al. 2000). The Maslen laboratory then screened this region for an AVSD risk gene.

When the Maslen lab screened the *AVSD2* locus, they found an unknown gene in this region that is expressed in the heart (Robinson et al. 2003, Rupp et al. 2002), implying that the gene had the potential both temporally and spatially to cause an AVSD when mis-regulated. Initially this gene was named 'cirrin' but it was quickly renamed by the Human Genome Nomenclature committee to Cysteinerich with EGF-like domain (CRELD) 1.

*CRELD1* is the founding member of the CRELD-family of proteins (Rupp et al. 2002), a unique family of proteins, whose function is unknown and of which bioinformatics analyses did not reveal much additional information. The CRELD family is defined by a unique CRELD domain (previously called the 'WE' domain). This CRELD domain is a glutamate and tryptophan rich domain that is highly conserved and located near the amino (N)-terminus, which is predicted to be extracellular, while the carboxy (C)-terminus consists of a two-pass transmembrane domain that is thought to anchor the protein to the cell membrane (Figure 7). With no knowledge about the function of CRELD1 we turned directly to human association analysis to test if CRELD1 could be the *AVSD2* risk factor.


#### Figure 7: CRELD1 structure.

CRELD1 is predicted to be cell-surface protein, which is bound to the cell membrane by a two-pass transmembrane domain (pictured in red). The CRELD family is characterized by a number of domains. CRELD1 has repeated EGF-like domains, including an EGF-like 1 domain that is pictured in aqua and an EGF-like 2 calcium binding domain that is pictured in blue. A unique motif called the CRELD domain (pictured in yellow) is rich in tryphtophan (W) and glutamate (E) residues and was thus formally called the "WE" domain. There are also two tandemly repeated FU 1 domains (pictured in purple), which are furin-like cysteine rich regions typically involved in signal transduction by receptor tyrosine kinases that use receptor aggregation. There is also a poorly conserved proline-rich N-terminus that is predicted to be a signal peptide (pictured as a green arrow). These CRELD1 featured were determine by UniProtKB.

#### **CRELD1-isoforms**

CRELD1 can also be alternatively spliced, most notably into the CRELD1-9b isoform. CRELD1 is normally affixed to the cell surface by a two-pass transmembrane domain (Rupp et al. 2002) but when *CRELD1* utilizes a cryptic exon embedded in intron 9 (exon 9b) the transmembrane domain is eliminated and replaced by a unique carboxyl-terminus (Rupp et al. 2002) (Figure 8 ). This resulting product is no longer tethered to the cell membrane but is instead secreted into the extracellular space. However, the extracellular domain of CRELD1 remains unaltered. Thus, we speculate that this soluble CRELD1-9b form might work as a CRELD1-ligand decoy; however, this has not been confirmed as a CRELD1 ligand has not been identified. Α.



Intracellular Space

#### Figure 8: Illustration of the major soluble CRELD1 isoform.

**A:** Pictorial representation of the intron/exon boundaries of CRELD1. The solid lines represent introns, the open boxes are exons. Exons are labeled 1 through 10. The major CRELD1 transcript uses exon 10 (in red); the alternatively spliced product, CRELD1-9b, uses the cryptic exon 9b (in pink) located in intron 9. **B**: A pictorial representation of CRELD1 and CRELD1-9B, illustrating the relative location of the soluble CRELD1-9B to the membrane-bound CRELD1. CRELD1 is usually anchored to the cell's membrane by a pair of transmembrane domains. The alternatively spliced CRELD1-9b lacks these transmembrane domains, allowing CRELD1-9B to be secreted. Note that the extracellular domains remain identical; therefore, the 9B isoform would be a capable competitor of CRELD1.

**CRELD1-missense mutations are associated with AVSD** 

To test if *CRELD1* is associated with AVSD the Maslen lab performed a case control study. When we did this we found that almost 8% of sporadic AVSD cases (including some with heterotaxy) and 5% of Down syndrome-associated AVSD cases are heterozygous for a *CRELD1*-missense mutation (Robinson et al. 2003, Rupp et al. 2002, Maslen et al. 2006). Importantly, we never found any *CRELD1*missense mutations in over 400 chromosomes from unrelated but race-matched controls. This highly specific genetic association between *CRELD1*-missense mutations and AVSD suggests that mutations in *CRELD1* increase the risk of developing an AVSD, a finding that was subsequently confirmed by other investigators (Zatyka et al. 2005, Sarkozy et al. 2005, Guo et al. 2010). This makes *CRELD1*-missense mutations the first single genetic risk factor ever associated with sporadic AVSD.

The CRELD1 mutations found included an alanine to proline substitution at amino acid 286, a glutamate to lysine substitution at amino acid 325, an arginine to cysteine substitution at 329 and a glutamate to lysine substitution at residue 414. Three of these mutations p.A286P, p.E325K and p.R329C are in conserved domains, including the FU1 and EGF-like 2 domains. The most common mutation, R329C, is especially notable because it is a cysteine addition where a highly conserved arginine residue should be. Addition of a cysteine has the potential to be deleterious in any protein because of its ability to form disulfide bonds and therefore cause aberrant protein folding. Specifically, the R329C substitution is within the highly conserved EGF-like domain (Maslen et al. 2006), a domain that normally contains six cysteines that form disulfide bonds in a C1-C3, C2-C4, C5-C6 pattern. Thus, we hypothesized that the addition of a seventh cysteine in this domain could cause misfolding; or impair binding with itself or ligands. Misfolding was demonstrated by the abnormal migration of the R329C protein in a native gel (Robinson et al. 2003).

#### What is known about CRELD1 according to existing literature

In the last few years CRELD1 has started to appear regularly in the literature, which may provide insight into its importance and function. CRELD1 has been identified as a marker of lineage commitment and cell fate in mammary epithelial subpopulations (Kendrick et al. 2008); a recent abstract suggests that CRELD1 is an important regulator of polarized cell migration in *Drosophila* ovaries, a process regulated by NOTCH signaling (deCathelineau et al. 2009, Nystul and Spradling 2009); and most recently, a CRELD1 isoform, CRELD1 $\alpha$ , was identified as an  $\alpha$ 1a-adrenoceptor down-regulating protein (Nishimune et al. 2010). Additionally, it has been shown that CRELD1 can directly regulate the proapoptotic factor RTN3 (Xiang and Zhao 2009). However, none of these studies have been confirmed by independent groups and all of these studies were performed in cell culture, so CRELD1 activity in vivo has not been addressed. Accordingly, in this thesis I characterized the role of CRELD1 in vivo, with a specific emphasis on heart development.

#### **AVSD** genetics are multifactorial

Monogenic Mendelian inheritance of disease is rare; instead most diseases are thought to be multifactorial or complex (Motulsky 2006), such as heart disease, stroke, diabetes, cancer and most congenital heart defects. Similarly, while AVSD exhibit heritability suggesting the existence of genetic risk factors; AVSD rarely exhibit Mendelian inheritance patterns (Burn et al. 1998, Gill et al. 2003) and even when they do the expressivity varies greatly (Reamon-Buettner and Borlak 2004, Benson et al. 1999, Hirayama-Yamada et al. 2005, Garg et al. 2003), indicating that AVSD genetics are complex. This is consistent with CRELD1 epidemiology, as *CRELD1* mutations are incompletely penetrant for AVSD (Robinson et al. 2003). Thus, I propose that it will take numerous risk profiles to explain the full spectrum of AVSD cases (Figure 9). Additionally, I believe that these risk profiles can be complicated and include both environmental as well as genetic hits; and that these genetic hits may include both rare variants and common functional polymorphisms. Our challenge now is to identify other risk factors associated with AVSD and to determine what specific combinations of risk factors (in combination with *CRELD1*-missense mutations), or 'risk profiles' are needed to cause AVSD.



#### Figure 9: Diagram of the multifactorial nature of AVSD genetics.

The above graph illustrates how multiple unique AVSD risk profiles might lead to the same disease phenotype. The dotted line above represents the "AVSD disease threshold." The bar graphs illustrate theoretically how multiple risk factors might additively contribute to AVSD risk and breach the disease threshold to cause an AVSD. My working hypothesis is that numerous risk factors work in a combinatorial fashion to contribute to AVSD. However, the number of factors needed to breach the disease threshold is dependent on the relative impact of the factors involved and will have to be determined empirically on a factor-by-factor basis.

## VEGF may be an AVSD risk factor

#### **Overview of the VEGF-A protein**

Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF-A) is located on chromosome 6 and was originally purified from bovine pituitary folliculostellate cells and tumor cell line conditioned media (Woolard et al. 2009). It is a member of the superfamily of cysteine knot proteins, which includes VEGF-B, -C, -D, and placental growth factor (PIGF); and can be alternatively spliced to create five isoforms, VEGF<sub>121</sub>, VEGF<sub>165</sub>, VEGF<sub>189</sub>, VEGF<sub>206</sub> and VEGF<sub>145</sub>. The main and best studied VEGF molecule is the VEGF-A<sub>165</sub> isoform and thus, this will be the isoform that I will focus on in this thesis and hereafter just refer to as VEGF.

The mature form of VEGF is secreted as a homodimer (Nicosia 1998) that transduces its signals by binding to two tyrosine kinase receptors: VEGFR1 (alternatively called Flt1) (Shibuya et al. 1990, de Vries et al. 1992) and VEGFR2 (alternatively called Kdr) (Millauer et al. 1993, Mustonen and Alitalo 1995) with high affinity, Kd 1-20 and 75-770 pM respectively (Mustonen and Alitalo 1995). Both VEGFR1 and VEGFR2 receptors are expressed by endothelial cells but do not have redundant functions, as knockout of VEGFR2 blocks mesodermal cell differentiation to angioblasts (Shalaby et al. 1995) and knockout of VEGFR1 induces increased endothelial progenitor production (Fong et al. 1995, Fong et al. 1999). Concordantly, VEGF is known for its ability to induce differentiation, proliferation and migration of endothelial cells; act as an endothelial-cell survival factor; and stimulate neovascularization (Ferrara et al. 1996, Leung et al. 1989, Benjamin and Keshet 1997, Benjamin et al. 1999, Gerber et al. 1999). Accordingly, VEGF also can influence heart development, particularly the ability of endothelial cells to transform and populate endocardial cushions.

#### VEGF expression is necessary for endocardial cushion development

*Vegf* is normally up-regulated in the heart tube, specifically in the myocardium that underlies the atrioventricular endocardial cushion during the onset of endocardial cushion formation (E10.5) (Dor et al. 2001), suggesting that *Vegf* has a role in atrioventricular cushion development. Supporting this, knockdown of VEGF in a mouse model causes reduced endocardial cushion mesenchyme at E10.5 (Ferrara et al. 1996).

However, there is one study that made a contrary conclusion (Stankunas et al. 2010). This study inhibited VEGF function with an inducible sFLT (an engineered secreted form of VEGFR1 designed to sequester the VEGFR1 ligands, such as VEGFA, VEGFB, and PIGF) at various stages in development and found that their

inhibition only impacted the outflow tract endocardial cushions but not the atrioventricular canal endocardial cushions (Stankunas et al. 2010). Therefore, Stankunas et al. concluded that VEGF signaling is only essential in the outflow tract endocardial cushions' EMT (Stankunas et al. 2010). However, this study's conclusion is based on incomplete data points. Stankunas et al. found that an E9.0-9.75 inhibition of VEGF could inhibit outflow tract EMT. While the exact timeline of VEGF function in heart development is not known, it is known that outflow tract cushion EMT typically occurs about a day later than atrioventricular cushion EMT (Runyan and Markwald 1983). Therefore, it would seem logical to test atrioventricular EMT by inhibiting VEGF signaling a day before this at E8.0-8.75. However, the earliest time point tested in this study was E8.75. Because, while VEGF has been documented to be up-regulated at E10.5, it may also be necessary earlier to condition endothelial cells for EMT initiation; however, this was not been tested. Therefore, based on others' work (Ferrara et al. 1996, Dor et al. 2001), I conclude that VEGF signaling is necessary for normal atrioventricular endocardial cushion development.

#### VEGF over-expression inhibits endocardial cushion development

Numerous studies have shown that various levels of VEGF can negatively impact heart development. Premature induction of VEGF expression in the myocardium at E9.5 (using a tetracycline-regulated transgenic system) can prevent

63

atrioventricular endocardial cushion EMT (Dor et al. 2003). Additionally, if 100 ng/ml of recombinant human VEGF-165 is added to explanted atrioventricular canals at E9.5, EMT is inhibited (Dor et al. 2001). However, the relevance of the Dor et al. explant model to development is debatable, as 100 ng/ml may be as high as a 6,000 fold increase in VEGF expression (if normal at E9.5 is considered the same as an E12.5 heart at 14.92 pg/ml) (Miguerol et al. 2000). Recently, another more biologically relevant study found that only a three- to four-fold over-expression of VEGF in a mouse model can cause embryonic lethality by midgestation (E12.5-E14) and heart abnormalities, including thin ventricular walls and outflow tract defects (Miguerol et al. 2000). This suggests that even a minor increase in VEGF can impact development, including cushion development, although, in this case only outflow tract cushion development. In summary, it appears that VEGF over-expression or premature induction can inhibit atrioventricular endocardial cushions; however whether this ability to inhibit atrioventricular endocardial cushion is relevant to normal development or human disease remains to be proven.

#### VEGF as a mediator of hypoxia

It has long been acknowledged that hypoxia or nutritional insults during gestation contribute to congenital heart defects but the exact molecular mechanism remains unknown (Clemmer and Telford 1966, Ingalls et al. 1952,

64

Jaffee 1974). However, recently *VEGF* has emerged as a candidate mediator of hypoxic effects on the developing heart, largely because *VEGF* over-expression can impact the heart and *VEGF* can be robustly induced by environmental factors, such as hypoxia and hypoglycemia (Ikeda et al. 1995, Levy et al. 1996). Additionally, both hypoxia and anoxia have been shown to induce precocious VEGF expression specifically in E9.5 endocardial cushion explants to levels comparable to naïve E10.5 explants (43.12 and 45.1 vs. 3.35 pg/ml) (Dor et al. 2003), suggesting that hypoxia may perturb heart development through VEGF up-regulation in the developing endocardial cushions. In support of this hypothesis, the ability of hypoxia to inhibit EMT in heart explants can be reversed by the addition of a soluble inhibitor of VEGF signaling (sFLT) (Dor et al. 2003).

#### VEGF polymorphisms are implicated in disease

VEGF is involved in both vascular development and in pathological angiogenesis where it is perhaps best known for its pro-angiogenic role in cancer progression. VEGF polymorphisms have also been associated with numerous diseases, including proliferative diabetic retinopathy (Ray et al. 2004), breast cancer (Brower 2003), myocardial infarctions in patients with type 2 diabetes (Petrovic et al. 2007), chronic heart failure prognoses (van der Meer et al. 2005) and gastric cancer prognoses (Chae et al. 2006). I propose that the involvement of VEGF polymorphisms in multiple complex-disease processes is explained by it being a modifier gene, not as a causative gene. In other words, I propose that VEGF acts in concert with additional risk factors to "unmask" phenotypes induced by other susceptibility genes but variations within VEGF are not sufficient alone to cause disease. Thus VEGF is a promising disease modifier for complex diseases, such as AVSD, which may be caused by a combination of lowpenetrance genetic risk factors.

#### The VEGF-634C polymorphism causes over-expression

The *VEGF*-634C polymorphism is located in the 5' untranslated region (UTR) of VEGF. Healthy subjects homozygous for the -634CC polymorphism have significantly higher VEGF serum levels than those individuals with the -634CG genotypes (Awata et al. 2002, Petrovic et al. 2007). This association is recapitulated by in vitro studies that also show higher VEGF levels associated with the -634C allele, compared to the -634G allele (Awata et al. 2005, Lambrechts et al. 2003). These associations may be due to the fact that the *VEGF* -634C allele's relative IRES-B (Internal Ribosomal Entry Site-B) activity is higher than the -634G allele's activity (Lambrechts and Carmeliet 2004), which suggests that *VEGF* post-transcriptional regulation is affected by the -634C polymorphism. Thus, it appears that this polymorphism is functional, which makes it a promising candidate to modify the risk of AVSD. Moreover, others have shown that the

VEGF-634C polymorphism is enriched (0.42 versus 0.21, P < .001) in a heterogeneous congenital heart defect population (Vannay et al. 2006).</li>
Therefore we decided to test if the VEGF-634C polymorphism could act as a modifier of AVSD risk (Figure 10).



#### Figure 10: VEGF may contribute to AVSD risk.

The dotted line above represents the "AVSD disease threshold", while the bar graphs illustrate my hypothesis that the *VEGF*-634C polymorphism can contribute to AVSD risk and when the *VEGF*-634C polymorphism is combined with other risk factors can cause AVSD. Accordingly, this thesis will test if the *VEGF*-634C polymorphism is associated with increased AVSD risk in general (case #1) and specifically if the *VEGF*-634C polymorphism in combination with a *CRELD1*-missense mutation can cause AVSD (case #2).

# **CHAPTER 4:**

# **APPROACH & METHODS**

#### Creation of the Creld1-knockout mouse

To knockout *Creld1* we used a modified pACN-1 vector (a gift from Dr. Kirk Thomas, University of Utah, Utah, USA) (Bunting et al. 1999). The pACN-1 vector contains a "self-excising" neomycin cassette that recombines, thereby preventing non-specific promoter effects. This knockout-cassette was positioned within *Creld1* such that 1.9 kilobase (kb) of the 5' untranslated region (UTR), all of exon 1 and a portion of intron 1 was eliminated upon recombination. The Creld1-genomic DNA fragment was obtained by restricting the genomic clone of a 129-strain murine genomic library (OHSU Transgenic Mouse Core Facility, Portland, OR, USA). The replacement construct included an upstream homology arm (5' relative to the *Creld1*-ATG codon) that spanned approximately 6.3 kb and a downstream homology arm of 3 kb. We also added the selectable marker thymidine kinase downstream of the 3' arm of homology (a gift from Dr. Scott Stadler of Shriners Hospital for Children, Portland, OR, USA). The completed and sequenced construct was delivered to the Gene Targeted Mouse Service at the University of Cincinnati, Department of Molecular Genetics, Biochemistry and Molecular Biology (Cincinnati, OH, USA). Successfully targeted clones of D15T44 ES cell line (from 129/SvEVTac mice from the Taconic labs) were injected into C57Bl blastocytes to create six chimeric male mice. These six chimeric mice were bred to NIH BI/Sw females to generate *Creld1*-heterozygote (*Creld1*<sup>(+/-)</sup>) mice. Full *Creld1*<sup>(+/-)</sup> were then backcrossed to form and maintain the *Creld1*-knockout (*Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup>) colony. See Figure 13.

#### Mouse colony ethical considerations

The *Creld*1<sup>(-/-)</sup> mouse strain was generated and is being used under approved IACUC protocols. All personnel, including myself, received instruction in the proper care and handling of laboratory animals. We complied with all institutional and federal policies for the ethical use and treatment of animals; and strictly adhered to the Animal Welfare Act, "Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals" and all USDA and NIH regulations and standards. Compliance was monitored by members of the Department of Comparative Medicine, which is fully accredited by the Association for Assessment and Accreditation of Laboratory Animal Care International.

#### Allele-specific PCR for *Creld1*-knockout mouse genotyping

Primer "KO-F" was designed 5' of the neo-cassette and paired with a "Reverse" primer (designed in the 3' homology region of the knockout cassette) to detect a 700 base pair *Creld1*-knockout-allele amplified fragment. A "WT-F" primer was made to bind within exon1 of *Creld1* and also paired with the "Reverse" primer to produce an amplified fragment of 528 base pairs, corresponding to the wild-type genotype. KO-F primer: CCAGTCAAAAACCACAGAGAGGG, WT-F primer: CATCCTTCTCCCCGAGCTGAG, Reverse primer: GTGTTTCCACCCCGAAGT. See Figure 14.

Genomic DNA was prepared from tail clips or from embryonic amnions using the QIAGEN DNAeasy kit, per manufacturer's protocol (QIAGEN; Valencia, CA, USA). PCR reaction: 5  $\mu$ l SuperMixII (Invitrogen; Carlsbad, CA, USA) + 1  $\mu$ l genomic DNA + 0.5  $\mu$ l of each 10  $\mu$ M primer (KO-F, WT-F and Reverse primer) + 2.5  $\mu$ l water. Cycling Parameters: 94°C x 2 minutes [94°C x 30 seconds, 60°C x 30 seconds, 68°C x 1 minute] x 35 cycles + 68°C x 3 minutes + 4°C hold.

#### Staging and collection of embryos

Embryonic day 0.5 (E0.5) was determined by vaginal plug. Pregnant mice, with staged embryos, were sacrificed with CO<sub>2</sub> asphyxiation followed by cervical dislocation. Uteri were immediately removed and stored in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) [PBS = 100 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4 + 9% sodium chloride] on ice during embryo isolation. Somites were counted to verify embryonic stage. Embryonic yolk sacs were used for DNA isolation. Placentas and embryos were collected and fixed for downstream applications. Pictures of fresh tissue were taken with a Leica MZ12 dissecting microscope, a Q Imaging MicroPublisher 3.3RTV camera and Rincon Version 7.4 imaging software.

#### Histological sectioning of mouse tissues

After harvesting, embryos were immediately placed in freshly prepared 4% paraformaldehyde (Fisher Scientific F79; Pittsburgh, PA, USA) in PBS and fixed overnight at 4°C; washed in PBS for 3 minutes, five times; and dehydrated using 30 minute washes in an increasing ethanol gradient, 10% -100%. Embryos were then transferred to Cellsafe Biopsy Capsules (Electron Microscopy Sciences; Hatfield, PA, USA) and cleared twice for 15 minutes with xylene (Fisher Scientific X5-4; Pittsburgh, PA, USA). The embryos were incubated at 60°C under vacuum in fresh Paraplast Plus (McCormick Scientific, LLC; Maryland Heights, MO, USA) twice for 1 hour and once overnight. Embryos were then arranged in fresh paraplast and cooled overnight. Embedded embryos were then cut into 8 µm sections and arranged onto Colorfrost/Plus microscope slides (Fisher Scientific; Pittsburgh, PA, USA) and adhered with water and allowed to bake overnight at 37°C, after which slides are ready to use in downstream applications. Alternatively, some of the sectioned embryos (as indicated in the text) and all of the adult mouse tissues were purchased from Zyagen (San Diego, CA, USA).

#### **CRELD1** immunohistochemistry (IHC) of sections

Embryo sections were deparaffinized twice for 15 minutes with xylene and rehydrated with 5 minute incubations of decreasing ethanol (100% - 10%), followed by a 5 minute PBS wash and epitope retrieval, consisting of a 20 minute boil in 100 mM Tris + 100 mM EDTA. Slides were then cooled and guenched in 3% freshly prepared

72

H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> for 30 minutes (Fisher Scientific H325; Pittsburgh, PA, USA) washed for 5 minutes in PBS and blocked in PBS + 0.1% Triton X-100 + 8% bovine serum albumin (BSA) for 1 hour. All subsequent incubations were done in a humidified chamber with 200  $\mu$ l of reagent per slide and all subsequent washes were done by complete immersion. All steps were performed at room temperature. After blocking, slides were incubated overnight in a 1/150 dilution of goat anti-mCRELD1 antibody (R&D Systems AF4116; Minneapolis, MN, USA) in PBS + .01% Triton X-100 + 4% BSA. Slides were washed 6 times for 5 minutes in PBS + .01% Triton X-100, then incubated for 1 hour in a 1/500 dilution of anti-goat IgG antibody conjugated to horseradish peroxidase (HRP) (Sigma A5420, Sigma-Aldrich Corp.; St. Louis, MO, USA) in PBS + .01% Triton X-100 + 4% BSA. Slides were then washed 6 times for 5 minutes in PBS + .01% Triton X-100. The HRP signal was amplified using the Renaissance Tyramide Signal Amplification Biotin System (PerkinElmer Life and Analytical Sciences Inc.; Waltham, MA, USA), per the manufacturer's protocol. HRP was reacted with 3,3'diaminobenzidine (DAB) (Pierce 1855910 & 1856090 Thermo Scientific; Rockford, IL, USA) for 20 minutes, followed by three rinses in PBS and a 5 minute fix in 4% paraformaldehyde – the slides were then rinsed with water and allowed to dry. Coverslips were mounted using Permount (Fisher Sp15-500, Fisher Scientific; Pittsburgh, PA, USA). Sections were visualized on a Zeiss Axiophot microscope using an Evolution MP COLOR camera by Media Cybernectics and Image Pro Plus 6.3 imaging software. IHCs, both with and without primary antibody, were performed in

73

duplicate for each tissue type and stage assessed to assure reproducibility and specificity.

#### Hematoxylin and Eosin (H&E) staining

Sectioned tissues were deparaffinized twice for 5 minutes with xylene and rehydrated with 2 minute descending ethanol washes (100% - 10%) and a water wash, followed by a 2 minute stain with Gill #1 Hematoxylin (Sigma GHS116, Sigma-Aldrich Corp.; St. Louis, MO, USA) and 15 minute water rinse. The slides were dehydrated with 2 minute ascending ethanol washes (10% - 100%), followed by a 2 minute stain with intensified Eosin Y (Fischer "Protocol" 23-314-630, Fisher Scientific; Pittsburgh, PA, USA). The slides were rinsed with 100% ethanol 5 times, rinsed in xylene and coverslipped with Permount (Fisher Sp15-500, Fisher Scientific; Pittsburgh, PA, USA). H&E staining was performed in triplicate for each genotype, *Creld1*<sup>(+/+)</sup>, *Creld1*<sup>(+/-)</sup> and *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup>. Tissues were visualized on a Zeiss Axiophot microscope using an Evolution MP COLOR camera by Media Cybernectics and Image Pro Plus 6.3 imaging software.

#### **Alcian Blue and Nuclear Fast Red staining**

Sectioned embryos were deparaffinized twice for 5 minutes with xylene and rehydrated with 2 minute descending ethanol washes (100% - 10%) and a water wash; and stained with Alcian Blue solution [1% Alcian Blue 8Gx in a 3% acetic acid solution (pH 2.5)] for 30 minutes, then washed in running water for 2 minutes and counterstained in Nuclear Fast Red solution [(0.1% Nuclear Fast Red in 5% aluminum sulfate in water), which was filtered and had a few grains of thymol added as a preservative] for 5 minutes and washed in running water for 1 minute. Tissues were dehydrated with 5 minute washes in an increasing ethanol gradient (10% -100%) before being cleared with a xylene wash and coverslipped with Permount (Fisher Sp15-500, Fisher Scientific; Pittsburgh, PA, USA). Staining was performed in triplicate for each genotype, *Creld1*<sup>(+/+)</sup>, *Creld1*<sup>(+/-)</sup> and *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> and visualized on a Zeiss Axiophot microscope using an Evolution MP COLOR camera by Media Cybernectics and Image Pro Plus 6.3 imaging software. To quantitative the number of mesenchymal cells in the cushions, two serial sections of two different embryos were counted.

#### Whole mount immunohistochemistry of mouse placentas and embryos

Placentas and embryos upon extraction were immediately fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde (Fisher Scientific F79; Pittsburgh, PA, USA) overnight at 4°C. All subsequent washes and incubation were performed with gentle rocking; 1 ml volumes were used for all washes and 500  $\mu$ l volumes were used for all antibody incubations. Between every step tissues were transferred to a new 1.7 ml microcentrifuge tubes. After fixing, tissues were bleached with freshly prepared 5% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> (Fisher Scientific H325; Pittsburgh, PA, USA) at 25°C overnight and then washed with PBS + 1% Triton X-100 (PBS+1%T) for 5 minutes, followed by two incubations in PBS + 3% nonfat milk (PBSM) + 1% Triton X-100 (1%T) for an hour at 25°C. The tissues were incubated in 10 µg/ml goat anti-human Six3 antibody (Santa Cruz Biotechnology sc-49114; Santa Cruz, CA, USA) or rat anti-PECAM-1 antibody (Santa Cruz Biotechnology sc-101454; Santa Cruz, CA, USA) in PBSM + 0.1%T overnight at 4°C. After incubation, tissues were washed for 5 minutes, 5 times, in PBSM + 0.1%T before incubating in 1:100 anti-goat IgG antibody that is HRP conjugated (Sigma-Aldrich Corp. A5420; St. Louis, MO, USA) or anti-rat IgG HRP antibody (R&D Systems HAF005; Minneapolis, MN, USA) in PBSM + 0.1%T overnight at 4°. After incubation tissues were washed 6 times for 5 minutes in PBSM + 0.1%T. Then tissues were washed with PBS + 0.1%T for 20 minutes. HRP was then reacted with DAB (Pierce 1855910 & 1856090, Thermo Scientific; Rockford, IL, USA) for 20 minutes and washed 3 times with PBS + 0.1%T + 0.2% bovine serum albumin for 5 minutes each, followed by post-fixing with 4% paraformaldehyde for 5 minutes, then transferred to 50% glycerol, then to 70% glycerol and finally stored at 4°C. Tissues were imaged with a Leica MZ12 dissecting microscope, a Q Imaging MicroPublisher 3.3RTV camera and Rincon Version 7.4 imaging software. PECAM-IHCs were performed in triplicate for each *Creld1*-genotype and developmental time point. Six3-IHCs were performed in duplicate for each *Creld1*-genotype.

#### Measuring placenta areas

Processed placentas were used to minimize spurious placental volume differences caused by variation in blood loss during placenta collection. Placentas that had previously undergone IHC and had been stored in glycerol were measured in glycerol while being pressed under the weight of a microscope slide. The two-dimensional profile of the placentas were then circumscribed by 'n' points using a Leica MZ12 dissecting microscope, a Q Imaging MicroPublisher 3.3RTV camera and Rincon Version 7.4 imaging software to generate pixel area. Areas were assessed in triplicate for each *Creld1*-genotype and statistical significance was determine with Student's t-test (p-value <.05 was considered significant).

#### Western blot

CRELD1-9B was probed with a custom antibody from Sigma Genosys (The Woodlands, Texas, USA) generated against the amino acid sequence WKLGSHPHSTYVKMC. Western Blot Protocol: protein extracts (Human Placenta Protein Medley from BD Biosciences; Sparks, MD, USA) were run, transferred, blocked with 5% nonfat milk, probed overnight 1:10,000, and incubated with a goat anti-rabbit secondary (Biorad, 170-6518; Hercules, CA) at 1:20,000. Five five-minute washes were performed between each step. Protein was detected using SuperSignal West Pico Chemiluminescent Substrate (Thermo Scientific; Rockford, IL, USA), per the manufacturer's protocol.

#### **TUNEL staining**

DeadEnd<sup>™</sup> Colorimetric TUNEL System (Promega, G7360; Madison, WI, USA) was used to stain apoptotic nuclei dark brown per the manufacturer's protocol. To quantitate the number of TUNEL-positive cells in the AV-canal and glossopharyngeal arches, mesenchymal cells were counted in three serial sections of representative embryos. Sections were visualized on a Zeiss Axioskop2 motplus microscope with an AxioCam HRM camera and AxioVision 4.6.3 software. TUNEL was performed in triplicate for each *Creld1*-genotype.

#### Bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU) proliferation assay

Two hours before E10.25 embryos were to be collected, pregnant mice were injected intraperitoneally with 100 mg/kg body weight of BrdU (Sigma-Aldrich Corp.; St. Louis, MO, USA) dissolved in 0.9% sodium chloride and filtered sterile at 0.2 mm. Embryos were then collected, embedded, sectioned, de-paraffinized and rehydrated as stated above. The slides were washed in PBS + 1% Triton X-100, 3 times for 5 minutes then permeabilized with a 10 minute incubation in 1N HCl on ice, followed by a 10 minute incubation in 2N HCl at room temperature before moving them to 37°C for 20 minutes. The embryos were then washed in room temperature 0.1M borate buffer for 12 minutes, followed by 3 washes for 5 minutes in PBS + 1% Triton X-100 at room temperature. Tissues were quenched with  $3\% H_2O_2$ , followed by 3 washes of 5 minutes in PBS and blocked in blocking solution [PBS + 1% Triton X-100 + 1M Glycine + 5% BSA] for 1hr. Then slides were incubated overnight at room temperature with 1/150 anti-rat BrdU antibody (Abcam, ab6326; Cambridge, MA, USA) in the same blocking solution as before and washed 3 times for 5 minutes with PBS + 1% Triton X-100. This was followed by incubation with 1/400 anti-rat IgG HRP antibody (R&D systems, HAF005; Minneapolis, MN, USA) for 1 hour in blocking

solution. Slides were then washed for 5 minutes in PBS + 1% Triton X-100, 3 times, before HRP was reacted with DAB (Pierce, 1855910 & 1856090; Thermo Scientific; Rockford, IL, USA) for 20 minutes and rinsed three times with PBS. Finally, slides were post-fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 5 minutes and rinsed with water. Coverslips were mounted using Permount (Fisher Scientific, SP15; Pittsburgh, PA, USA) before being visualized as with the TUNEL staining. BrdU assays were performed in triplicate for each *Creld1*-genotype.

#### R329C-knockin mouse genotyping

DNA was obtained from Dr. Sheilla Cherry (Roger Reeves Laboratory at Johns Hopkins, Baltimore, Maryland). Allele specific R329 forward primer : GTGAAAACACGGAGGGAGGCTACT (specific for mutant mouse genotype). Allele specific R329C wild-type forward primer: GTGAAAACACGGAGGGAGGCTACC (specific for the wild-type mouse genotype). R329C genotyping universal reverse primer: GCTGCCACAGCTCCAATGAAGAT. 663 basepair fragments will only amplify if corresponding genome is present. Cycling Parameters: 94°C x 2 minutes [94°C x 30 seconds, 72°C x 30 seconds, 72°C x 1.5 minute] x 35 cycles + 72°C x 3 minutes + 4°C hold.

#### Allele-specific PCR for gender determination

PCR and cycling parameters are the same as in the *Creld1*-knockout mouse genotyping. Sry-F: TGGGACTGGTGACAATTGTC, Sry-R: GAGTACAGGTGTGCAGCTCT. A PCR product of 382 basepairs indicated a male.

#### Microarray

E9.5 embryonic mouse hearts were collected and RNA was extracted using MELT Total Nucleic Acid Isolation system (Ambion; Austin, TX) per the manufacturer's protocol with optional on-bead DNase digestion. Yolk sacs were genotyped for *Creld1* and gender, as described above. Heart RNA was then pooled by genotype and balanced for gender, then the pooled RNA was equally divided for three separate microarray analyses. Microarray assays were performed in the Affymetrix Microarray Core of the OHSU Gene Microarray Shared Resources (project #267CM). There, labeled target cDNA was prepared, samples were amplified and labeled using the NuGEN Ovation v.2 w/ FLv2 protocol; and hybridized to a Mouse Genome 430 2.0 Gene Chip array in triplicate. Image processing and expression analysis was then performed using Affymetrix GCOS version 1.4.0.036 software. This was followed by our analysis of the \_GS.CHP files using GeneSifter (www.genesifter.net) to perform a pairwise analysis (t-test analysis with a Benjamini and Hochberg correction), which was normalized to the median and log transformed.

#### Study subjects inclusion criteria

Study subjects were recruited through the Oregon Congenital Heart Disease Registry (ORCHD), a population-based registry of all Oregon patients born with one of 14 major heart defects and who have heart surgery before the age of 19. There are about 5,000 patients in the registry, and it includes approximately 75-80% of all cases of congenital heart defects in Oregon, with a 90% follow-up rate on all patients. ORCHD categorizes the registry based on clinical diagnosis of the heart defect from surgical records — this helps to insure homogeneity within phenotypic categories. Inclusion criteria for this study were based on the diagnosis (at surgery) of non-syndromic isolated AVSD, including complete AVSD (also known as complete atrioventricular canal) and partial AVSD (also known as ostium primum atrial septal defect). Both of these defects arise from the improper development of the atrioventricular endocardial cushion and are thought to represent a phenotypic and developmental continuum of AVSD. Therefore, we found it appropriate to group complete and partial AVSD cases together when studying the genetics of AVSD in human populations. There was no evidence of any extra-cardiac anomalies in this cohort. In total we recruited 29 individuals with a complete AVSD and 21 individuals with a partial AVSD. All study subjects were self-reported Caucasian. DNA specimens were obtained from all study subjects by either a peripheral blood draw or saliva collection. Controls are from the Coriell Caucasian Human Variation Control panel (race matched). We did not control for age or gender.

#### Human ethical considerations

Subjects for this study were recruited through the Oregon Registry of Congenital Heart Defects or by an approved protocol for the investigation of congenital heart disease through The Children's Hospital of Philadelphia. All studies were done with informed consent and conformed to institutional guidelines.

#### Genotyping for the VEGF -634C allele

Case and control DNA was amplified with Advantage-GC Genomic PCR (Clontech; Mountain View, CA) per the manufacturer's protocol, using 1.1 μl of 25 mM Mg(OAc) and 5.0 μl of GC Melt with the forward amplification primer: CAGACGGCAGTCACTAG and reverse amplification primer: GTG TCTGTCTGTCTGTC. Parameters: 95°C x 2 minutes [95°C x 30 seconds, 59°C x 30 seconds, 68°C x 1 minute] x 30 cycles + 68°C x 5 minutes + 4°C hold. Amplified PCR bands were then purified using Qiagen's QIAquick Gel Extraction Kit (QIAGEN; Valencia, CA, USA). Sanger sequencing was then performed with the forward sequencing primer: GGGGCGCTCGGCCACCA and reverse sequencing primer:

CGTCAGCGCGACTGGTCAGC. Significance was calculated using chi square test.

#### *Vegf* qPCR

SuperScript III First-Strand Synthesis System (Invitrogen; Carlsbad, CA, USA) was used to make cDNA from the E9.5 mouse hearts' pooled RNA, which was also used in the microarray assays. VEGF Primers, F:CTGGCCAGGCTCCCGATT R:GATGCCGGTTCCAACCAGAAGTT. GAPDH Primers,

F:AAATATGACAACTCACTCAAGATTGTC R:CCCTTCCACAATGCCAAAGT. qPCR reaction: 6.27μl cDNA + 7.5 μl SYBR green (Applied Biosystems; Foster City, CA) + 0.54 F primer (25μM) + 0.54 R primer (25μM). Cycling Parameters: 94°C x 2 minutes [94°C x 30 seconds, 60°C x 30 seconds, 68°C x 30 seconds] x 50 cycles + 68°C x 3 minutes + 4°C hold.

#### Heart explant assay

With a dissecting scope, atrioventricular canals from mouse embryos, at embryonic day 9.5, were isolated then cut in half longitudinally and placed on a preequilibrated 3-D collagen-matrix and cultured (Figure 4) as described before (Dor et al. 2001). Genotypes were then assessed as described above. The endocardial cushions were then allowed to adhere overnight. The next day fresh growth media was added that either was or was not dosed with extra purified mouse-VEGF 120 protein (R&D Systems AF4116; Minneapolis, MN, USA). Successful mesenchymal cell migration across and into the collagen gels was then assessed at 48, 72 and 96 hours after explantation by two blinded independent observers, whose observations were then averaged. Endocardial cells were classified upon their appearance as rounded polygonal cells on the collagen-matrix's surface with intact cell-to-cell junctions. The invasive mesenchymal cells were characterized by the appearance of stellate-shaped cells within or on top of the matrix. Mandatory recounts were enacted if the independent counts varied by more than 10%. Statistical comparisons between groups are done using Student's t-test.

### **ELISA** assay

VEGF ELISA Kit, Mouse QIA52 (Calbiochem; Darmstadt, Germany) was used on media from explanted heart after 96 hours in culture, per the manufacturer's instructions. ELISA results were quantified to a standard curve made of the provided purified VEGF.

# **CHAPTER 5:**

# **CRELD1 during development**

#### The CRELD1-protein is found in multiple adult and embryonic tissues

Previously we showed that *Creld1*-RNA is expressed in a wide variety of fetal and adult tissues (Rupp et al. 2002). Subsequently, I performed immunohistochemistry (IHC) experiments and confirmed ubiquitous CRELD1-protein expression in numerous adult mouse tissues (Figure 11). Along these lines, I also confirmed CRELD1-protein expression during mouse embryogenesis by immunohistochemistry. Here the expression is also widespread but strongest in the developing brain, somites and heart (Figure 12). This ubiquitous expression of CRELD1 suggests that CRELD1 is important in the development or homeostasis of numerous tissue types.

Expression in the heart included expression in the developing endocardial cushions (Figure 16), which are primordial heart structures that give rise to components of the adult heart valves and septa and as mentioned previously, endocardial cushion dysregulation is thought to cause AVSD. Therefore, the observation of CRELD1protein expression within the endocardial cushions supports our hypothesis that CRELD1 is vital for proper valve and septa formation and is thus involved in AVSD etiology. However, this still needed to be directly tested.



## Figure 11: CRELD1-IHC of adult mouse tissues.

CRELD1-immunohistochemistry (IHC) of adult mouse tissues, which were purchased from Zyagen. The top row of each of panels was probed with anti-CRELD1 and the bottom row of each panel (No 1°) is the negative control, which was performed without a primary antibody. Scale bar represents 1mm.



## Figure 12: CRELD1-IHC of sagitally sectioned wild-type mouse embryos.

**A & A'**: CRELD1-IHC of a embryonic day 10.5 (E10.5) mouse embryo (anti-CRELD1) and negative-IHC (no 1°). **B & B'**: CRELD1-IHC of an E12.5 mouse embryo (anti-CRELD1) and negative-IHC (no 1°).**C & C'**: CRELD1-IHC of an E13.5 mouse embryo (anti-CRELD1) and negative-IHC (no 1°). Scale bars represent 1mm.
#### Creld1-knockout mouse

To test the necessity of CRELD1 in development, we created a *Creld1*-knockout mouse by positioning a self-excising cassette within a *Creld1*-genomic fragment such that 1.9 kb of the 5' untranslated region (5' UTR), all of exon 1 and a portion of intron 1 was eliminated upon recombination (Figure 13); thus, causing loss of *Creld1* transcripts. Allele-specific PCR was then used to genotype offspring (Figure 14). Successful elimination of *Creld1* was then confirmed by northern blot analysis (Figure 15) and by immunohistochemistry (Figure 16).



#### Figure 13: A schematic diagram of the *Creld1*-knockout targeting vector.

A schematic of the *Creld1*-targeting vector, which included an upstream homology arm (5' relative to the *Creld1*-ATG codon) that spanned approximately 6.3 kb and a downstream homology arm of 3 kb. Recombination was driven by the self-excising tACE/Cre/Neo cassette, which disrupted 1.9 kb of the 5' untranslated region (UTR), exon 1 and part of intron 1 of the mouse *Creld1* gene. Also illustrated are the locations of the allele-specific primer binding sites that were used for genotyping, see Methods section. Thymidine kinase, TK; testis-specific angiotensin-converting enzyme (tACE) promoter, tACE; cre-recombinase, cre; RNA polymerase II, PolII; neomycin, Neo.



# **Figure 14: Genotyping** *Creld1*-knockout mouse by allele-specific PCR. PCR with the KO-F primer and Reverse primer generates a 700 base pair (bp) fragment specific to the *Creld1*-knockout (-/-). PCR with WT-F primer and Reverse primer generates a 538 base pair PCR product corresponding to the wild-type allele (+/+). Heterozygous mice display both copies (+/-).



# Figure 15: Northern blot showing reduction or absence of *Creld1*-RNA expression.

Northern blot showing an absence of the 2.1 kb *Creld1*-RNA in the *Creld1*-knockout mouse (-/-) and reduced expression in the *Creld1*-heterozygote (+/-). Wildtype (+/+).



**Figure 16: CRELD1-IHC of a sagittally sectioned E10.5 wild-type mouse heart. A:** CRELD1-IHC of a sectioned E10.5 wild-type mouse heart showing CRELD1-protein expression in the developing heart, including the endocardial cushions. **B**: CRELD1-IHC of an E10.5 Creld1<sup>(-/-)</sup> mouse heart, which demonstrates the specificity of the CRELD1-IHC, which was shown in Figures 11 & 12. Conotruncal endocardial cushions, CT; common ventricle, V; common atrium, A; atrioventricular endocardial cushions, ECC. Scale bars represent 200 μm.

#### Knockout of Creld1 resulted in embryonic lethality

We assessed 345 pups from *Creld1*<sup>(+/-)</sup> intercrosses and found that knockout of *Creld1* was incompatible with life, as no *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> pups were born. In contrast, *Creld1*<sup>(+/-)</sup> pups were born in the expected Mendelian ratio of 2 heterozygotes to every one wildtype (Table 1). Next we examined litters during development to determine when the *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> embryos were dying (Table 2). At E12.5 we found little *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> embryonic tissue, suggesting earlier death. A day earlier at E11.5, while we found *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> tissue in the expected Mendelian ratio (1:3), the embryos appeared dead. Death at ~ E11.5 was supported when I examined younger embryos and found E10.5 and E9.5 *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> embryos alive and in the expected Mendelian ratio (1:3). Ratio conformance was tested by chi-square analyses (E9.5,  $\chi^2 = 4.232$ , p-value = 0.1205; E10.5 embryos,  $\chi^2 = 1.800$ , p-value = 0.4066; E11.5 embryos,  $\chi^2 = 0.880$ , p-value = 0.6440).

This suggests that there was no significant *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> attrition before E12.5. However, the study lacked the power to detect a discrepancy of 3-5% and considering the large number of embryos we assessed (In total, 675 embryos E10.5 or younger) and that we consistently observed lower than expected numbers of *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> embryos, it is still possible that some *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> embryos are absent before E10.5. However the more relevant question is: Is CRELD1 essential for heart development and can a CRELD1-deficiency cause an AVSD?

Live pups							
+/+ Male	+/+ Female	+/- Male	+/- Female	-/- Male	-/- Female		
61 (18%)	57 (17%)	106 (31%)	121 (35%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)		
34%		66%		0%			

# Table 1: Pup survival.

Pup survival was tallied 3 weeks post birth. 67 litters with an average of 4.64 pups per litter were assessed. Complete knockout of *Creld1* was lethal, while *Creld1*<sup>(+/+)</sup> and *Creld1*<sup>(+/-)</sup> mice were found in Mendelian ratios. There was no significant difference in gender ratios.

	Genotypes				
Embryonic Day	-/-	+/-	+/+		
9.5	51 (20.4%)	125 (50%)	74 (29.6%)		
10.5	92 (22.2%)	214 (51.6%)	109 (26.3%)		
11.5	12 (24%)	28 (56%)	10 (20%)		
12.5	3 <sup>a</sup> (15%)	11 (55%)	6 (30%)		

# Table 2: Incidence of *Creld1*-genotypes during embryogenesis.

This table records the incidence of *Creld1*-genotypes during embryogenesis. E10.5 and E9.5 *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> embryos were observed alive at nearly Mendelian ratios (1 wildtype: 2 heterozygotes: 1 knockout). However, by E12.5 very little embryonic tissue could be identified and by E13.5 no intact *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> embryos were ever found. <sup>a.</sup> The E12.5 Creld1<sup>(-/-)</sup> embryos were all dead and being reabsorbed at this stage.

#### E10.5 Creld1(-/-) embryos were malformed

To determine why knockout of *Creld1* results in embryonic lethality I began a comprehensive characterization study. When I did this I found that by E10.5 the *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> embryos had numerous structural and vascular abnormalities (Figure 17).

Especially notable was the poor vascularization in the yolk sacs of the *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> embryos that contrasted with both the *Creld1*<sup>(+/+)</sup> and *Creld1*<sup>(+/-)</sup> littermates, which had well-vascularized yolk sacs by E10.5 (Figure 17 B & D versus F). The primitive vascularization of the *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> yolk sac gave it an appearance reminiscent of an "orange peel," a phenotype previously described in the delta-like 4 ligand (a Notch partner) knockout mice (Gale et al. 2004).

To follow up on the vascular abnormalities, I performed PECAM immunohistochemistry, which revealed further vascular abnormalities in the cephalic venous plexus of the *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> embryos (Figure 18 A, B & C). By E10.5 the *Creld1*<sup>(+/+)</sup> and *Creld1*<sup>(+/-)</sup> embryos had well developed and well-organized cephalic vascular trees, while the *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> embryos' vasculature remained more primitive and failed to arborize into higher order branching structures. PECAM immunohistochemistry of the E10.5 *Creld1<sup>(-/-)</sup>* embryos also revealed gross defects in the head, an underdeveloped heart and disorganization of the neural tube (Figure 18). Most notable was the underdeveloped olfactory placodes and forebrain, which appears to have nearly fused telecephalons (Figure 18 G, H & I).



#### Figure 17: Representative images of fresh, whole E10.5 embryos.

A & B: *Creld1*<sup>(+/+)</sup> embryos; right-side and left side, respectively. C & D: *Creld1*<sup>(+/-)</sup> embryo; right-side and left side, respectively. E & F: *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> embryos; right-side and left side, respectively. A, B, C, D, E & F: Images of embryos still within their intact yolk sacs. A', B', C', D', E' & F': Images of embryos with yolk sacs removed. White arrowheads indicate the well developed conducting arteries in the *Creld1*<sup>(+/+)</sup> and *Creld1*<sup>(+/-)</sup> yolk sacs (B & D). This is in contrast to the yolk sacs of the *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> littermates, which lack large vessels (E & F). Also notable in the *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> embryo is hemorrhaging and gross enlargement of pericardial sac, as marked by the white arrows in panel F'. Forebrain, FB; hindbrain, HB; limb buds, LB. Scale bars represents 1mm.



# Figure 18: PECAM-IHC of whole E10.5 embryos.

**A**, **D** & **G**: The first column is a *Creld1*<sup>(+/+)</sup> embryo. **B**, **E** & **H**: The second column is a *Creld1*<sup>(+/-)</sup> embryo. **C**, **F** & **I**: The third column is a *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> embryo. Cranial abnormalities were observed in the *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> embryos, which had underdeveloped telencephalons and olfactory placodes (**A** & **B** versus **C**; and **G** & **H** versus **I**). *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> embryos' neural tubes were also disorganized (**D** & **E** versus **F**); as was the vasculature. Black arrows indicate the well-developed cephalic venous plexus of the *Creld1*<sup>(+/+)</sup> and *Creld1*<sup>(+/-)</sup> embryos (**A'** & **B'**), this is in contrast to the *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> plexus that remained more primitive (**C'**). Limb buds, LB; olfactory placode, OP; branchial arch, BA; telencephalon, T; heart, H. Scale bars represent 1mm.

# *Creld1*<sup>(·/·)</sup> embryonic hearts had endocardial cushion defects

At E9.5 the *Creld*  $1^{(-/-)}$  embryos were grossly indistinguishable from wild-type littermates, as their hearts were beating and had normal endocardial cushion development (Figure 19). However, by E10.5 the *Creld*  $1^{(-/-)}$  hearts started to display abnormalities. Histological examination of E10.5 hearts revealed that both the conotruncal and atrioventricular (AV) endocardial cushion of *Creld*  $1^{(-/-)}$  embryos had fewer cells and less extracellular matrix (Figure 20 & Figure 21). Additionally, *Creld*  $1^{(-/-)}$  hearts had thinner myocardium, poor trabeculation and sparse cellularization; suggesting poor overall heart development.



#### Figure 19: H&E stained sections of E9.5 mouse hearts.

H&E stained sections of E9.5 mouse hearts showed no defects in the atrioventricular or outflow tract cushions of *Creld1*-deficient hearts. **A**, **B** & **C**: Top row, sectioned outflow tracts or conotruncal cushions (CT) of E9.5 *Creld1*<sup>(+/+)</sup> (**A**), *Creld1*<sup>(+/-)</sup> (**B**) and *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> (**C**) embryos. **D**, **E** & **F**: Bottom row, sectioned atrioventricular cushions (AV) of the common atrioventricular canal of E9.5 *Creld1*<sup>(+/+)</sup> (**D**), *Creld1*<sup>(+/-)</sup> (**E**) and *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> (**F**) embryos. Conotruncal endocardial cushions, CT; common ventricle, V; atrioventricular endocardial cushions, AV. Scale bar represents 200µm





There were less mesenchymal cells in the *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> AV-endocardial cushions.



#### Figure 20: Alcian Blue and Nuclear Fast Red staining of E10.5 AV-canals.

Alcian Blue was used to stain the extracellular matrix (hyaluronic acid, versican and other acidic mucopolysaccharides or glycosaminoglycans) and Nuclear Fast Red was used to stain the cells in E10.5 atrioventricular canals. A:  $Creld1^{(+/+)}$  atrioventricular canal. B:  $Creld1^{(+/-)}$  atrioventricular canal. C:  $Creld1^{(-/-)}$  atrioventricular canal. A', B' & C': Enlarged images of the outlined portions of panels A, B & C. Notable are fewer mesenchymal cells and less extracellular matrix in the  $Creld1^{(-/-)}$  panels (C & C'). Representative mesenchymal cells in the endocardial cushions are denoted by arrows. D: Mean and SEM of the mesenchymal cells observed in the AV-endocardial cushions. \*\* = p value ≤ 0.001. Outflow tract, OFT; atrioventricular, AV; common ventricle, V; common atrium, A. Scale bar represents 200 µm.



There were less mesenchymal cells in the *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> outflow-tract cushions.



#### Figure 21: Alcian Blue and Nuclear Fast Red staining of E10.5 outflow tracts.

Alcian Blue was used to stain the extracellular matrix and Nuclear Fast Red was used to stain the cells in E10.5 outflow tracts. A:  $Creld1^{(+/+)}$  outflow tract. B:  $Creld1^{(+/-)}$  outflow tract. C:  $Creld1^{(-/-)}$  outflow tract. A', B' & C': Enlarged images of the outlined portions of panels A, B & C, respectively. Notable are fewer mesenchymal cells and less extracellular matrix in the  $Creld1^{(-/-)}$  panels(C & C'). Representative mesenchymal cells in the endocardial cushions are denoted by arrows. D: Mean and SEM of the mesenchymal cells observed in the outflow-tract endocardial cushions. \* = p value ≤ 0.01. Outflow tract, OFT; common ventricle, V; common atrium, A. Scale bar represents 200 µm.

*Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> placentas had abnormal gene expression and morphology

There is an emerging appreciation for the role of the placenta in cardiovascular health. It is well known that the placenta is indispensible for the maternal/fetal nutrient exchange. Additionally, epidemiological studies have shown that environmental factors such as maternal nutrition (Shaw et al. 1999, Botto et al. 2000, Loffredo et al. 2001) are important for proper cardiovascular development and that poor placental communication can cause heart defects in chicks (Hogers et al. 1999, Hogers et al. 1997, Broekhuizen et al. 1999). This knowledge has logically led to the undertaking of numerous epidemiological and animal model studies that now strongly suggest that altered placental vigor can increase the risk of both congenital heart defects and adult cardiovascular problems, two topics that are well reviewed elsewhere (McMillen et al. 2008, Thornburg et al. 2008). But despite circumstantial evidence for its existence, to date, no one has identified a genetic risk factor for human AVSD that impinges upon placenta development.

Considering the widespread expression of CRELD1, including the placenta (Figure 22) and the role of the placenta in heart development, I considered it essential to make at least a cursory analysis of placental morphology during our characterization of CRELD1 function in development. My decision to do this is notable because investigation of placental morphology is usually ignored during knockout mouse characterizations, even though "the vast majority of embryonic lethal phenotypes

106

that are due to loss-of-function mutations are associated with placental defects" (Natale et al. 2006).



# Figure 22: CRELD1 is expressed in the placenta.

A soluble isoform of CRELD1, CRELD1-9B is found in the placenta.

Immunohistochemistry of whole placentas for PECAM, a marker specific for endothelial cells, revealed more PECAM-protein expression in the E9.5  $Creld1^{(-/-)}$ placentas examined (Figure 23a), whereas  $Creld1^{(+/-)}$  placentas were indistinguishable from wildtype. We also observed that the E9.5  $Creld1^{(-/-)}$  placentas had poor structural integrity. Upon extraction, the  $Creld1^{(+/+)}$  and  $Creld1^{(+/-)}$  placentas maintained a spherical form but the E9.5  $Creld1^{(-/-)}$  placentas always laid flat after embryo extraction and were more prone to breakage upon handling (Figure 23a).

By E10.5 the placentas had regained normal PECAM-protein expression levels (Figure 23b). However, at this stage the  $Creld1^{(-/-)}$  placentas were generally smaller than their  $Creld1^{(+/-)}$  or  $Creld1^{(+/+)}$  littermates, as the two-dimensional pixel areas of  $Creld1^{(+/+)}$  placentas were 650 ± 42.9 pixels<sup>2</sup>;  $Creld1^{(+/-)}$  placentas were 632 ± 27.24 pixels<sup>2</sup>; and  $Creld1^{(-/-)}$  placentas were 593.3 ± 38.47 pixels<sup>2</sup> (Figure 24). While the differences in the placental areas were not statistically significant, it is possible that the earlier aberrant PECAM-protein over-expression is reflective of erroneous cell specification and that this stunts placental growth a day later.



# Figure 23: Placenta morphology and PECAM expression.

PECAM-protein was consistently more highly expressed in the E9.5  $Creld1^{(-/-)}$  placentas but by E10.5 PECAM-protein expression returned to normal levels. **A**: E9.5  $Creld1^{(-/-)}$ placenta (**pictured left**) in comparison to E9.5  $Creld1^{(+/+)}$  placentas (**pictured right**). **B**: PECAM-IHC of E10.5  $Creld1^{(-/-)}$  placentas were indistinguishable from the E10.5  $Creld1^{(+/+)}$  placentas (**C**).  $Creld1^{(+/-)}$  placentas were indistinguishable from  $Creld1^{(+/+)}$ placentas. Scale bar represents 1 mm. Each genotype and stage was assessed in triplicate.



# Figure 24: Knockout of *Creld1* stunted placental growth.

At E10.5 the *Creld1*-deficient placentas tended to be smaller. N=3 for each genotype.

# Creld1<sup>(-/-)</sup> embryos exhibited increased apoptosis

To address the mechanism by which an absence of CRELD1 causes embryonic abnormalities and lethality I investigated the balance of cell proliferation and apoptosis in the *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> embryos. When I did this, I found no change in the levels of cell proliferation in E10.25 embryos, as determined by bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU) incorporation (data not shown). I did, however, observe a large increase in the number of apoptotic cells in E10.5 *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> embryos. This increased apoptosis was observed in the *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> hearts including in the myocardium and endocardial cushions but also elsewhere, with especially high levels in the pharyngeal arches (Figure 25). Therefore, it appears that an abnormally high level of apoptosis may be responsible for the paucity of cells in the *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> endocardial cushions and the overall poor growth of *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> embryos.





There were more apoptotic cells in the *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> embryos.

С.

Figure 25: TUNEL-stain is increased in E10.5 *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> embryos.

Increased numbers of TUNEL-positive cells were seen in E10.5 *Creld*  $1^{(-/-)}$  embryos, **B panels**. This is in contrast to the *Creld*  $1^{(+/+)}$  littermates, **A panels**. Some representative TUNEL positive cells, seen as black, are indicated by arrows. **A'**: Magnification of *Creld*  $1^{(+/+)}$  atrioventricular and outflow tract cushions shown in panel **A**. **A''**: Magnification of the *Creld*  $1^{(+/+)}$  glossopharyngeal arch shown in panel **A**. **B'**: Magnification of the *Creld*  $1^{(+/+)}$  atrioventricular and outflow tract cushions shown in panel **B**. **B''**: Magnification of the *Creld*  $1^{(-/-)}$  glossopharyngeal arch shown in panel **B**. **C**. Mean and SEM of the mesenchymal cells observed in the glossopharyngeal arches and AV-canals. \* = p value ≤ 0.01, ‡ = p value ≤ 0.05. Glossopharyngeal arch, Arch; outflow tract, OFT; atrioventricular endocardial cushions, AV cushions; common atrium, A; common ventricle, V. Scale bar represents 200µm.

#### **CRELD1 is not necessary for EMT**

Considering the scarcity of mesenchymal cells in *Creld1<sup>(-/-)</sup>* endocardial cushions, I decided to assess how CRELD1 could affect endocardial cushion development using a heart explant assay. To do this I explanted and cultured E9.0 mouse endocardial cushion on a 3-D collagen matrix, which is a classic culturing method that allows for EMT quantification, as successfully transformed cells can be seen migrating across and into the supportive 3-D collagen matrix and therefore can be counted. When I cultured under endogenous levels of VEGF (<15 ng/ml) I found no difference in the numbers of mesenchymal cell migrating from the canals of various *Creld1* genotypes [*Creld1*<sup>(+/+)</sup>, *Creld1*<sup>(+/-)</sup> and *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup>] (Figure 26). Thus, I concluded that CRELD1 is not necessary for EMT to proceed, nor did it apparently affect mesenchymal cell migration or proliferation.

However, the fact that there was no difference in the levels of mesenchymal cells that migrated out of explants of various *Creld1* backgrounds is in striking contrast to what occurs in vivo, where the endocardial cushions of *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> are malformed (Figure 27). This highlights the obvious – that while culturing tissue can help us explore what is possible, even the best of systems never perfectly mimics in vivo conditions. Thus we must consider other modifiers of cushion growth, specifically modifiers that might affect how CRELD1 can affect the explanted hearts.



# Figure 26: Explants grow the same under endogenous VEGF levels.

Under endogenous levels of VEGF, the stellate cell counts (number of mesenchymal cells) from the explanted  $Creld1^{(-/-)}$ ,  $Creld1^{(+/-)}$  and  $Creld1^{(+/+)}$  atrioventricular (AV) canals were indistinguishable at all time points.



# Figure 27: In vivo and in vitro heart phenotypes differ.

A & B: There was no difference in the number of mesenchymal cells seen migrating out of endocardial cushions explanted at E9.0, regardless of the *Creld1* genotype. Representative mesenchymal cells are denoted by arrows. **C**: However, in vivo the *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> endocardial cushions have noticeable fewer mesenchymal cells, as seen in the Alcian Blue/Nuclear Fast Red sections (also shown in Figure 18). Knockout of one Creld1 allele does not produce a significant phenotype

*Creld1*<sup>(+/-)</sup> mice were born and survived in the expected Mendelian ratio (Table 1). Additionally, gross and histological examinations did not reveal any major septal or valve defects in *Creld1*<sup>(+/-)</sup> mice; and the mass of adult *Creld1*<sup>(+/-)</sup> and *Creld1*<sup>(+/+)</sup> hearts were indistinguishable (Figure 28). Similarly our collaborator's laboratory never found a septal defect in the 45 postnatal day 0 (P0) pups they examined (Dr. Roger Reeves, personal communication). However, we did find that 3/12 (25%) of *Creld1*<sup>(+/-)</sup> adult-mouse hearts (>6 months of age) had a patent foramen ovale (PFO). This is in contrast to 1/9 (11%) of *Creld1*<sup>(+/+)</sup> adult hearts with a PFO (Figure 29). However, this increased PFO incidence is not statistically significant.

Still debatable, though, is if this slight increase in PFO incidence is biologically significant. PFOs result from the incomplete closure of the foramen ovale, a small communication in the embryonic heart that, during development, allows for the most highly oxygenated blood (returning from the placenta) to proceed directly to the metabolically hungry embryonic head. Upon birth, when the most highly oxygenated blood is received via the lungs, the foramen ovale normally closes to ensure that the most highly oxygenated blood, again, is preferentially shunted to the brain. However, in 10 - 35% of people the foramen ovale remains open (patent) (Fisher et al. 1995). The biological significance of this continued communication

remains debated but it has been suggested that PFOs contribute to migraine headaches and strokes (Sommer 2009). More research is still needed to determine if these associations are real. Meanwhile, I will consider a PFO at face value, as a small hole in the atrial septum, which may reflect a problem with the septum primum, which may or may not affect its ability to properly fuse with the endocardial cushions and cause an AVSD.

The fact that the *Creld1*<sup>(+/-)</sup> mice are normal is consistent with AVSD being multifactorial. After all, in humans *CRELD1*-missense mutations are incompletely penetrant; therefore, we expected that the absence of a single *Creld1* allele would not be enough to cause an AVSD in our mouse model. Accordingly, we continued to look for other AVSD-risk modifiers.



# Figure 28: Mass of adult hearts.

The mass of adult mice (>6 month old) hearts did not vary according to *Creld1* genotype, n=10 for each genotype.



# Figure 29: Example of a *Creld1*<sup>(+/-)</sup> heart with a PFO.

On the left is a representative H&E stained section of a whole adult *Creld1*<sup>(+/-)</sup> mouse heart sectioned coronally. Arrow indicates a small communication between the atrium, which is likely a PFO. On the right is a diagram of a PFO, which can be seen as a small communication between the right and left atrium and causes the mixing of oxygenated and deoxygenated blood. Arrow indicates PFO.

Creld1-deficiencies affect gene expression

To understand how CRELD1 is exerting its effects on the developing embryo, I compared the total RNA expression of E9.5 *Creld1*-knockout (*Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup>) and *Creld1*-knockin (*Creld1*<sup>(R329C/R329C)</sup>) mouse hearts to *Creld1*<sup>(+/+)</sup> hearts using gene expression microarray analysis. [The *Creld1*<sup>(R329C/R329C)</sup> mouse is a knock-in mouse created by our collaborators at Johns Hopkins that contains a knock-in of the most common human *CRELD1*-missense mutation associated with AVSD and is phenotypically normal (personal communication, Roger Reeves)]. Microarray analysis revealed a long list of genes (464 genes) that underwent at least a 4-fold change in response to a *Creld1*-deficiency. However, despite, or perhaps due to the large number of genes affected by *Creld1*-disruption I was not able to identify any single biochemical signaling pathway (using GeneSifter's Gene Ontologies) for which CRELD1 was necessary. However, I did find a 4–fold up-regulation of *Vegf* expression that I was able to confirm as a 3-fold over-expression with qPCR (Figure 30).


Creld1-deficiencies cause *Vegf* overexpression during heart development.

#### Figure 30: A CRELD1-deficiency is associated with *Vegf* over-expression.

Vegf-RNA was almost 3-fold higher in E9.5 Creld1-deficient [Creld1<sup>(-/-)</sup> and

Creld1<sup>(R329C/R329C)</sup>] mouse hearts. \* = p value  $\leq 0.01$ .

## **CHAPTER 6:**

## **CRELD1/VEGF** risk profile

#### VEGF-634C polymorphism is associated with AVSD

We genotyped AVSD cases (see Methods for patient population information), Coriell Caucasian Human Variation controls and the unaffected family members of AVSD cases for the *VEGF*-634C polymorphism and found a significant association between the *VEGF*-634C polymorphism and idiopathic cases of AVSD (Table 3). Additionally, we were able to corroborate that the *VEGF*-634C polymorphism can cause increased VEGF-protein expression (Figure 31).

	Controls	AVSD cases
VEGF 634G	83 (83%)	57 (62%)
VEGF 634C	17 (17%)	35 (38%) *
Total alleles	100	92

#### Table 3: The VEGF-634C polymorphism is associated with AVSD

The *VEGF*-634C polymorphism was enriched in the idiopathic AVSD population compared to the Coriell Caucasian Human Variation Control population (\*= p value  $\leq$  0.001).



### Figure 31: The -634C polymorphism is associated with increased VEGF overexpression.

Western blot analysis of three lymphoblast cell lines derived from individuals either homozygous for *VEGF*-634CC or *VEGF*-634GG polymorphism (six lines total) found that a *VEGF*-634C polymorphism is associated with VEGF over-expression (one-tailed t-test = p value  $\leq$  0.1). CRELD1 mutations and the VEGF-634C variant co-segregate in AVSD

To test if the *VEGF* -634C polymorphism could be modifying the AVSD risk associated with *CRELD1*-missense mutations, we stratified our *VEGF* genotyping data by the incidence of *CRELD1*-missense mutations. When we did this, we found that *all* AVSD cases that have a *CRELD1*-missense mutation also carried the *VEGF*-634C polymorphism (5/50 AVSD cases), while in contrast the unaffected parents and siblings of cases *never* carried both a *CRELD1* mutation and the *VEGF*-634C polymorphism. Instead unaffected carriers of *CRELD1*-missense mutation always carried the wild-type *VEGF*-634GG polymorphism (Table 4).

It is notable that we have family information for two of the cases who carried a *CRELD1*-missense mutation and the *VEGF*-634C polymorphism. In these two cases the *CRELD1* mutation was inherited from one parent and the *VEGF*-634C polymorphism from the other parent, so that only the affected individuals carried both alterations. In one of those families there were also two unaffected siblings, neither of which carried both the *CRELD1*-missense mutation and the *VEGF*-634C polymorphism (Figure 32).

This data suggests that while neither a *CRELD1*-missense mutation nor the *VEGF*-634C polymorphism is sufficient to cause an AVSD alone, the two genetic alterations together greatly increase the risk of developing an AVSD. Next, I will show how I used our mouse model to test this interaction.

128

	CRELD1-missense mutation carriers	
	Unaffected	Affected
VEGF-634GG	12	0
VEGF-634GC	0	5

#### Table 4: *CRELD1* mutations/*VEGF*-634C polymorphism co-segregate in AVSD.

*All* the AVSD cases with a *CRELD*-missense mutation also carried the *VEGF*-634C polymorphism (5/50 or 10% of AVSD cases examined), while the unaffected parents and siblings of cases who carried a *CRELD1*-missense mutation *never* carried the *VEGF*-634C polymorphism.



#### Figure 32: Unaffected family members never had two hits.

We genotyped an AVSD case's immediate family members and found that the unaffected family members carried *either* a *CRELD1*-missense mutation or a *VEGF*-634C polymorphism but never both; while, the combination of a *CRELD1*-missense mutation and the *VEGF*-634C polymorphism was only associated with the AVSD case (filled). Normalcy was confirmed in the unaffected family members (unfilled) by echocardiographs. The exclusive co-segregation of *CRELD1*-missense mutations with the *VEGF*-634C polymorphism in idiopathic AVSD cases suggested to me that a combination of *CRELD1*-missense mutations and the *VEGF*-634C polymorphism can cause AVSD. I extrapolated this to mean that a CRELD1-functional deficiency in combination with VEGF over-expression can cause AVSD. This extrapolation was based on the fact that the *CRELD1*-missense mutations are predicted to be detrimental (Robinson et al. 2003) and thus cause a CRELD1-deficiency; and that the *VEGF*-634C polymorphism causes VEGF over-expression (Awata et al. 2005, Lambrechts et al. 2003, Petrovic et al. 2007).

#### **VEGF and CRELD1 interact in cushion explant assay**

Individually both CRELD1 and VEGF can affect endocardial cushion development; therefore, I decided to test if a *Creld1*-deficiency can interact with VEGF overexpression in the endocardial cushions. When I subjected explanted endocardial cushion to higher VEGF-protein levels (200 pg/ml) in an attempt to mimic the overexpression associated with the human *VEGF*-634C polymorphism, I found that the *Creld1*-deficient explants [both *Creld1*<sup>(+/-)</sup> and *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup>] had increased mesenchymal cell migration compared to the wild-type explants, which in contrast were unaffected by the addition of 200 pg/ml of VEGF (Figure 33). This confirms, in a heart development model, that a CRELD1 deficiency can interact with VEGF overexpression, as was implied in the epidemiology studies.



132



A. The response of explanted endocardial cushions



#### Figure 33: *Creld1*-deficient explants grow differently with VEGF addition.

**A**. Addition of 200 pg/ml of VEGF resulted in increased EMT from the *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> and *Creld1*<sup>(+/-)</sup> explants compared to the *Creld1*<sup>(+/+)</sup> explants at both 72 hours (\* = p value  $\leq$  0.1) and at 96 hours (\* = p value  $\leq$  0.05). **B**. Addition of 200 pg/ml of VEGF has no effect on *Creld1*<sup>(+/+)</sup> EMT, as can be seen when compared to the EMT that occurred under endogenous VEGF conditions .

It is especially important to note that the concentration of VEGF tested, 200 pg/ml of VEGF, is a biologically relevant but elevated level of VEGF. Past studies have reported that E9.5 heart explants under normoxic conditions produce 3.4 pg/ml of VEGF, while hypoxic hearts (10% O2) increase VEGF expression to 45 pg/ml (Dor et al. 2003), which is similar to the in vivo levels observed in embryonic mouse hearts post EMT (15 pg/ml) (Miquerol et al. 2000). Although, the exact amount of over-expression caused by the -634C allele in the atrioventricular canal is unknown. It would appear that the 200 pg/ml is elevated but not absurdly so, as it was within the normal VEGF level found in adult human serum, which is 229 ± 147 pg/ml in men and 182 ± 112 pg/ml in women (Kimura et al. 2007).

After finding an interaction at 200 pg/ml of VEGF, I wanted to test other doses of VEGF, as the response of endocardial cushions to VEGF appears to be sensitive to dose. Specifically, there is evidence suggesting that while low levels of VEGF are needed to stimulate cushion EMT, higher levels can be inhibitory (Lambrechts and Carmeliet 2004). Consistent with this, when I tested a ten-fold higher dose of VEGF (2ng/ml), I found that the explanted cushions had very different responses (Figure 34). While the *Creld1*<sup>(+/-)</sup> cushions still had increased EMT, the *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> cushions' EMT was inhibited by the addition of 2 ng/ml of VEGF.

Thus, depending on the *Creld1* background and levels of VEGF addition, the explanted cushions either had no response, a proliferative response or an inhibitory response. These various responses can be explained, if the explanted cushions are assumed to be subject to increased VEGF from two sources, first by my direct addition of purified VEGF-protein to the media and second by the *CRELD1*-deficiency. If this is the case, then a mild increase in VEGF should stimulate cell proliferation/migration, while extreme increases in VEGF levels inhibit cell proliferation/migration. This is summarized in Figure 35.





B. The response of explanted endocardial cushions to 2ng of VEGF.



#### Figure 34: Explant response depends on VEGF dose.

**A.** Addition of 2ng/ml of *VEGF* resulted in the *Creld1*<sup>(+/-)</sup> explants having higher levels of stellate-cell counts than the *Creld1*<sup>(+/+)</sup> explants at both 72 hours and at 96 hours (\*\* = p value  $\leq 0.01$ ). However, now the *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> cushions are inhibited at this increased VEGF dose, although not significantly (arrow). **B.** Addition of 2ng/ml of *VEGF* had no effect on the *Creld1*<sup>(+/+)</sup> EMT, as compared to EMT under endogenous VEGF levels.



Figure 35: The developing endocardial cushions are sensitive to VEGF dosing. This schematic illustrates how the explanted endocardial cushions responded to various total VEGF levels. Explanted endocardial cushion were subjected to increased VEGF from two sources, first by my direct addition of purified VEGF-protein to the media and second by CRELD1-deficiency. These two sources of VEGF contribute to the total VEGF present, which depending on the total dose has varying affects on EMT. Illustrated above is how the addition of 200 pg/ml or 2ng/ml of VEGF to Creld1<sup>(+/+)</sup> cushions resulted in total VEGF levels still within the "normal range" of VEGF and thus caused no abnormal phenotype. However, addition of 200 pg/ml or 2ng/ml of VEGF to the Creld1<sup>(+/-)</sup> cushions pushed the total VEGF levels into the "slightly elevated" range and caused increased EMT. This was also the result for  $Creld1^{(-/-)}$  cushions exposed to 200 pg/ml of VEGF. Conversely, addition of 10X more VEGF to the *Creld1<sup>(-/-)</sup>* cushions (2ng/ml) resulted in "very high" VEGF levels and thus EMT inhibition because the null cushions were already more sensitized. Creld1<sup>(+/+)</sup>, Creld1-wild-type explanted cushions; Creld1<sup>(+/-)</sup>, Creld1-heterozygotic explanted cushions Creld1<sup>(-/-)</sup>, Creld1-null explanted cushions; Ø, no purified VEGF protein added; 200 pg, 200 pg/ml of purified VEGF protein added; 2ng/ml, 2ng/ml of purified VEGF protein added.

## **CHAPTER 7:**

### DISCUSSION

It is believed that a combination of genetic risk factors can contribute to AVSD risk. However, until now no causative AVSD-risk profiles have been described. Here I identified an AVSD-risk profile that appears to explain 10% of idiopathic AVSD cases. The ability to define and characterize this risk profile was made possible by the numerous unique studies performed in this thesis.

### **CRELD1** biology

#### CRELD1 was essential for normal cardiovascular development

The work presented here is the first characterization of CRELD1 during development. My finding of CRELD1 expression in the endocardial cushions supports our premise that mutation of *CRELD1* can directly affect septal and valve formation. Additionally, my characterization of a constitutive *Creld1*-knockout mouse found that CRELD1 is essential for viability and normal cardiovascular development, including atrioventricular cushion morphogenesis.

This supports our hypothesis that *CRELD1*-missense mutations can increase the risk of incomplete valvuloseptal formation and thus cause AVSD.

However, I also found that CRELD1 was ubiquitously expressed and that it was necessary for numerous other developmental processes. This is consistent with the developmental roles of previously described congenital heart risk factors. For example, the CITED2 knockout mouse has numerous abnormalities, including cardiac malformations, adrenal agenesis, neural crest defects and exencephaly (Bamforth et al. 2001), while *CITED2* mutations are associated with isolated human congenital heart defects. And the TBX5 knockout mouse has both limb and heart abnormalities, even though *TBX5* mutations can be a risk factor for some isolated human congenital heart defects cases (Bruneau et al. 2001). Therefore, the fact that CRELD1 has widespread effects is consistent with the widespread effects of other isolated congenital heart defect risk genes. However, CRELD1 may also act as a risk factor for other developmental diseases.

#### **CRELD1** affected apoptosis

The existence of abnormal extraembryonic vascularization made me consider the possibility that poor tissue perfusion and nutrient delivery might also be responsible for some of the defects seen in the *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> embryos. Therefore, I decided to assess TUNEL staining in the *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> embryos because TUNEL is specific for physiologically regulated cell death (apoptosis) rather than stress factor induced cell death (hypoxia) and while hypoxia can inhibit development of E10.5 embryos, hypoxia is not known to increase TUNEL-positive cell incidence in E10.5 mouse embryos (Wendler et al. 2007). Therefore, I concluded that the increased apoptosis, seen as increased TUNEL positive cells, in the E10.5 embryos was primarily due to the absence of CRELD1 rather than necrosis due to hypoxia caused by extraembryonic vascular insufficiencies.

There was increased and widespread apoptosis in the *Creld1<sup>(-/-)</sup>* mice. Locations of highest TUNEL staining correlated with higher CRELD1 expression at E10.5, such as the brain, glossopharyngeal arches and heart, including the endocardial cushions. This suggests that CRELD1 can influence apoptosis susceptibility, a conclusion that is consistent with previous work showing that CRELD1 can control apoptosis by direct interaction with the pro-apoptotic factor RTN3 in cell culture (Xiang and Zhao 2009). My discovery of increased apoptosis during the critical period of atrioventricular valvuloseptal morphogenesis suggests that a CRELD1-deficiency can contribute to AVSD by increasing valve and septal primordium susceptibility to apoptosis. However, as mentioned there was also widespread apoptosis throughout the embryo. This widespread apoptosis is also

consistent with other congenital heart defect risk factors, such as *NOTCH1*, whose mutations are associated with familial valve defects but whose complete knockout in a mouse model causes widespread and severe abnormalities, including widespread apoptosis (Swiatek et al. 1994).

#### CRELD1 may contribute to a heart specific defect

How then could a gene, like CRELD1, that is necessary for global development, cause a heart specific defect? There are a few possible explanations: 1) Human AVSD are associated with heterozygous mutations in *CRELD1*, not complete gene knockdown. Accordingly, CRELD1 mutations found in AVSD cases may only disrupt heart specific genetic interaction, i.e. AVSD-associated CRELD1 mutations may be silent in other tissues. 2) Alternatively, CRELD1 mutations may provide a systemic genetic hit but the heart specificity is caused by a second heart specific hit from another gene. This would be consistent with AVSD as complex diseases. 3) Then again, there are some who theorize that congenital heart defects can be caused by postzygotic errors, specifically in cardiac progenitors cells, i.e., somatic mutations in the heart. In support of this, one group reports that they found *NKX2-5* mutations in defective heart tissue but not in the neighboring normal heart tissue of individuals with septal defects (Reamon-Buettner and Borlak 2004). Accordingly, it is possible that the CRELD1 mutation detected in peripheral blood and associated with AVSD arose from somatic mutations in the

hemangioblast lineage and that CRELD1 mutations found in humans are only affecting the vascular endothelium and blood-forming cells.

#### CRELD1 is possibly involved in the neural crest

My finding of both cardiac and craniofacial abnormalities in the *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> mouse is interesting considering that these defects often occur concordantly in human syndromes such as trisomy 21, DiGeorge, velo-cardio-facial and conotruncal anomaly face syndromes. This concordance implies a shared developmental origin. Accordingly, I proposed that the TUNEL-positive cells found in the pharyngeal arches of the *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> mouse are migrating neural crest cells, since neural crest cells are known to contribute to both the forebrain and the heart.

Neural crest cells arise between the superficial and neural ectoderm from a bulging of cells called the neural fold. As the neural tube forms, these cells delaminate, adopt a mesenchymal morphology and migrate throughout the embryo, where they will differentiate into neurons, endocrine, glial cells, pigment cells and components of the heart, specifically the outflow tract septum. More specifically, the cranial neural crest cells delaminate from the posterior diencephalon, spread over the telencephalic vesicles and contribute to the naso-frontal and naso-lateral buds (Creuzet 2009). Accordingly, ablation of the cephalic neural crest can cause a loss of forebrain tissue, a reduction in the interocular distances and sometimes cyclopia (Etchevers et al. 1999). The presence of cyclopia is a feature found in extreme cases of holoprosencephaly, a structural anomaly of the brain caused by incomplete forebrain separation (Dubourg et al. 2007), a phenotype that I found in the *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> mouse. This caused us to speculate that knockout of CRELD1 might be disturbing neural crest migration or development.

Neural crest cells can also contribute to the heart and are thus called cardiac neural crest cells. Cardiac neural crest cells normally migrate through pharyngeal arch III and IV and populate the developing heart, most notably the outflow tract endocardial cushion mesenchyme, which will contribute to the aortopulmonary septum (Jain et al. 2011). Accordingly, I found that the outflow tract mesenchyme was deficient in the *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> embryos. However, the endocardium-derived mesenchyme and neural-crest-derived mesenchyme is difficult if not impossible to distinguish by routine histology, so whether the outflow tract was deficient because the cardiac neural crest was inhibited, or because secondary heart field derived outflow tract endothelial cells are abnormal still needs to be determined. Also, whether the outflow tract cushion defects found in the *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> embryos actually cause outflow tract abnormalities remains unknown because the  $Creld1^{(-/-)}$  embryos do not live long enough for us to observe this septation.

Whether CRELD1 is important in the neural crest only remains speculation at this time. While I found that there is a subset CRELD1-positive cells in the pharyngeal arches, I am unable to determine in what arch. This is because the CRELD1 immunohistochemistry was performed on wild type mouse sections purchased from Zyagen, thus I did not have the serial sections needed to conclusively determine what arch was affected. Similarly, while it is apparent the pharyngeal arches do have increased apoptosis, the sections processed were optimized for their cardiac views, thus what arch or arches containing this increased apoptosis remains to be determined.

#### **CRELD1** was necessary for angiogenesis

The formation of the vascular network during development is called neovascularization. This is a complex process that includes both vasculogenesis (the in situ differentiation of endothelial cell progenitors, or angioblasts, into blood vessels) and angiogenesis (the development and remodeling of new blood vessels from an already existing vasculature). The ability of new capillaries to sprout in an organized fashion from previously existing blood vessels during angiogenesis involves specialized "tip cells." These tip cells are responsible for extending filopodia, sensing environmental cues and guiding capillary growth along VEGF gradients (Gridley 2010). Tip cell formation relies on NOTCH signaling, which suppresses branching at the tip of these developing angiogenic sprouts (Gridley 2010, Jakobsson et al. 2009, Bentley et al. 2009). Accordingly, without NOTCH signaling numerous tip cells can form and abnormal angiogenesis results, characterized by an immature, disorganized capillary network.

The vascular abnormalities associated with a knockout of NOTCH are strikingly similar to the *Creld1<sup>(-/-)</sup>* embryos (Gale et al. 2004, Huppert et al. 2000). Especially notable was the primitive vascular network in the *Creld1<sup>(-/-)</sup>* yolk sack, which was similar to the "orange peel" phenotype seen in the *delta-like 4* (a NOTCH ligand) knockout mice (Gale et al. 2004). These results prompted me to propose that CRELD1 could be involved in NOTCH signaling; particularly since CRELD1, which is predicted to be a cell surface protein with extracellular tandem EGF domains, is superficially reminiscent of the NOTCH family of proteins. However, without functional data this remains only speculation.

Regardless of the mechanism, however, the necessity of CRELD1 for vascularization has implications for carcinogenesis. CRELD1 is located in the interval for loss of heterozygosity for nasopharyngeal carcinoma (Deng et al. 1998) and lung cancer (Wistuba et al. 2000). Altered CRELD1 expression has been reported in various malignancies including non-small cell lung cancer (Dehan et al. 2007), multiple endocrine neoplasia (Dilley et al. 2005) and colon cancer (Saaf et al. 2007). In addition, microRNAs that can control CRELD1 expression have been related to esophageal squamous cell carcinoma survival (Guo et al. 2008). Furthermore, the response of cancerous cell lines to radiotherapy (Xu et al. 2008) and parathyroid hormone (Tsigelny et al. 2005) is associated with altered CRELD1 expression. Lastly, CRELD1 in combination with three other genes is a specific marker for endometrial cancer (Koga et al. 2011). Therefore based on my findings, we now hypothesize that the alteration in CRELD1 expression found regularly in cancer might be explained by its role as a regulator of angiogenesis or apoptosis.

#### The Creld1-heterozygote mouse should be a powerful genetic tool

In contrast to the *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> embryos, the *Creld1*<sup>(+/-)</sup> embryonic and adult mice were indistinguishable from wild-type littermates. This was expected because in humans *CRELD1*-missense mutations are incompletely penetrant, suggesting that additional modifiers are needed in combination with a CRELD1-deficiency to

148

cause AVSD. Therefore, it was not surprising that the loss of one *Creld1* allele was not sufficient to cause AVSD in our genetically homogeneous, highly inbred, mouse population.

The phenotypically normal *Creld1*<sup>(+/-)</sup> mouse is a powerful tool for investigating the penetrance of other genetic modifiers of AVSD. This was recently demonstrated when the *Creld1*<sup>(+/-)</sup> mouse was crossed with another AVSD susceptible mouse, the Down syndrome mouse model, Ts65Dn. This Ts65Dn mouse model is trisomic for the Down syndrome 'critical region' and thus like the human Down syndrome population is sensitized to developing AVSD (18% of Ts65Dn mice have AVSD). AVSD penetrance was increased, however, by crossing the Ts65Dn and *Creld1*<sup>(+/-)</sup> mouse models (50% of these mice have an AVSD) (Cherry et al. 2008). This supports our hypothesis that a CRELD1 haploinsufficiency can increase AVSD susceptibility.

### **VEGF/CRELD1** interaction as an AVSD risk profile

#### Our study population was unique

This work concerns the role of VEGF in AVSD etiology. VEGF has long been appreciated as an important morphogen in early valve development. Interestingly, only one other study has ever found a significant association between the VEGF-634C polymorphism and septal heart defects (Vannay et al. 2006). We believe that the discrepancy between our results and other past studies (Xie et al. 2007, Smedts et al. 2010) is due to variations in study populations compositions. Contradictory past studies have included very heterogeneous study populations, which included both idiopathic and Downsyndrome-associated AVSD cases, as well as other congenital heart defect cases that likely lowered the statistical power. Therefore, in our study, in order to ensure the highest possible power, we imposed stringent inclusion/exclusion criteria to create a homogenous congenital heart defect population, composed of only idiopathic AVSD cases and purposefully absent of Down-syndromeassociated AVSD cases, which are seemingly caused by different combinations of risk factors. I propose that our strict population selection allowed us to identify a significant association between the VEGF-634C polymorphism and AVSD. Contradictory past studies have also focused on different racial backgrounds than we did (Chinese versus Caucasian) (Xie et al. 2007). Considering this, our results may be specific to the Northern European population.

#### VEGF both inhibited and promoted EMT depending on the dose

It has been speculated, based on the convoluted VEGF literature, that VEGF can promote EMT (Dor et al. 2001, Ferrara et al. 1996) but that elevated or premature VEGF expression can inhibit EMT (Dor et al. 2001, Dor et al. 2003, Lambrechts and Carmeliet 2004). However, the exact correlation between VEGF dose and cellular response was unknown. This is largely because no single study has ever shown both the inhibitory and stimulatory effects of VEGF in the heart; and the only past study to address VEGF's effects on explanted endocardial cushion used very high levels of VEGF (100 ng/ml) (Dor et al. 2003). My experiment is unique, however, in that I choose to explore lower, more biologically relevant VEGF doses (200 pg – 2 ng/ml) than past studies (1  $\mu$ g) (Dor et al. 2001)(Dor et al. 2001). By doing this I found conditions (total VEGF levels) that were within the "normal range", which caused no phenotype; conditions that caused increased EMT; and conditions that inhibited EMT (Figure 35).

I speculate that the ability of low levels of VEGF to cause increased cell proliferation/migration and high levels of VEGF to inhibit cell proliferation/migration is due to the affinity of VEGF for its receptors. Both VEGFR1 and VEGFR2 are expressed in the atrioventricular endocardial cushions by E10.5 (Dor et al. 2001), so VEGF may signal through both receptors after EMT initiation. However, VEGF has a higher affinity for VEGFR1 (Mustonen and Alitalo 1995), whose signaling can induce endothelial migration (Lesslie et al. 2006) and thus VEGF should preferentially bind to VEGFR1 at low concentrations. This receptor specificity may be responsible for the increased proliferation I observed in explants under slightly elevated VEGF conditions. In contrast, VEGF has a lower affinity for VEGFR2 (Mustonen and Alitalo 1995), whose signaling appears to be able to inhibit cellular proliferation, migration and invasion in cell culture (Silva et al. 2011). Thus VEGFR2 signaling and its inhibitory effects may only be observed at higher VEGF concentrations (>2ng/ml).

#### **CRELD1 and VEGF as an AVSD risk profile**

We found that the combination of the *VEGF*-634C over-expression polymorphism and *CRELD1*-missense mutation is exclusive to idiopathic AVSD cases. This suggests that the combination of a CRELD1-functional deficiency and VEGF over-expression can cause AVSD. I was then able to functionally validate a CRELD1/VEGF interaction in the developing heart by demonstrating that mouse endocardial cushions deficient in CRELD1 [*Creld1*<sup>(+/-)</sup> and *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup>] respond abnormally to increased VEGF expression, which mimics the human genetic VEGF-634C allele over-expression. This CRELD1/VEGF functional interaction within the endocardial cushions is important because abnormalities in cushion development are an accepted developmental basis for AVSD.

I propose that a CRELD1-deficiency plus VEGF over-expression contributes to AVSD, not by preventing the development of the atrioventricular endocardial cushions, as these cushions can still undergo EMT; but by causing abnormal migration or differentiation of the cushion mesenchyme, as an overabundance of mesenchymal cells can be seen in the explants. In vivo this abnormal mesenchymal migration could result in an AVSD by causing a misalignment of the cushion mesenchyme with other septal structures; and thereby preventing the closure of the atrioventricular septum and normal valve formation. Additionally or alternatively, improper location the cushion mesenchyme might lead to apoptosis because of inappropriate environmental signals and a complete loss of cushion tissues.

The combination of a CRELD1 deficiency plus the VEGF over-expression appears to be enough to breach the AVSD disease threshold. Ex vivo, the abnormal endocardial cushion development may be as simple as the additive accumulation of VEGF over-expression (from both the *VEGF*-634C polymorphism and the *CRELD1*-missense mutation). How *CRELD1*-missense mutations and the *VEGF*-634C polymorphism impinge upon the heart in vivo may be more complicated. The cumulative addition of VEGF over-expression (from both the *VEGF*-634C polymorphism and *CRELD1*-missense mutations) is likely still a major contributor but in vivo there may also be contributions from placental or vascular abnormalities (Figure 36).

The clinical implications of a CRELD1/VEGF AVSD risk profile include advances in disease prediction, prognoses and more personalized management. However, before this profile can be used diagnostically, the specificity of the CRELD1/VEGF risk profile needs to be confirmed in other AVSD study populations, as the number of AVSD cases examined in this study was limited. Meanwhile, the work presented here is a proof-of-principle that a combination of rare genetic variants and common polymorphisms can work together to contribute to disease risk; that some AVSD cases can be caused by a digenic risk profile; and that there may be a CRELD1/VEGF signaling axis in heart development.

Α.

Just a *CRELD1*-missense mutation is not enough to cause an AVSD.



C. A CRELD1-missense mutation plus the VEGF-634C polymorphism *is* enough to cause an AVSD.



155

B. Just the VEGF-634C polymorphism is not enough to cause an AVSD.



D. Mitigation of VEGF over-expression may prevent an AVSD caused by the CRELD1/VEGF profile.



#### Figure 36: CRELD1/VEGF disease model.

Across is my model to explain how CRELD1 and VEGF may additively affect the developing heart and cause an AVSD. A. A CRELD1 deficiency can cause increased apoptosis in the endocardial cushions; and vascular and placental deficiencies, all of which may contribute to AVSD. A CRELD1 deficiency is also associated with increased VEGF expression, which is also known to cause endocardial cushion defects. But while CRELD1-missense mutations are strongly associated with AVSD, a CRELD1-missense mutation by itself is not completely penetrant for AVSD. **B.** VEGF over-expression is known to cause endocardial cushion abnormalities and the VEGF-634C polymorphism, which causes VEGF over-expression, is associated with AVSD. But without a CRELD1missense mutation, the VEGF-634C polymorphism is not completely penetrant for AVSD. C. However, the combination of a CRELD1-missense mutations plus the VEGF-634C polymorphism provides the multiple hits needed to reliably cause an AVSD, likely in large part due to the repetitive hits to the VEGF pathway. **D.** I propose that therapies addressing the VEGF over-expression may be used to prevent AVSD by bringing the VEGF levels back into the acceptable normal range.

## **CHAPTER 8:**

### **CONCLUSIONS & FUTURE DIRECTION**

The novelty of this dissertation exposed numerous new scientific questions. Below I will discuss a few of the most important questions and some immediate next steps that should be undertaken. First, I propose further characterizations of CRELD1 during development, including a study to determine if the vascular and placental deficiencies observed in the  $Creld1^{(-f-)}$  mouse contribute to the endocardial cushion defects observed. Second, I propose the creation of mouse models to determine the role of the secondary heart field and cardiac neural crest in the  $Creld1^{(-f-)}$  phenotype. Third, I propose an experiment to test whether the observed extracellular matrix changes seen in the  $Creld1^{(-f-)}$  mouse can affect EMT. Fourth, I propose an experiment to test if a CRELD1 deficiency plus VEGF over-expression can cause an AVSD in vivo. Lastly, I will speak to how the CRELD1/VEGF profile may be used clinically.

# *"Science is always wrong, it never solves a problem without creating ten more."*

-George Bernard Shaw

#### Create a tissue-specific Creld1-knockout mouse

Our initial decision to create a global *Creld1*-knockout mouse model proved advantageous because it revealed multiple novel roles for CRELD1. These roles included the ability of CRELD1 to modulate apoptosis in the developing cardiac and neural crest derived tissues; the necessity of CRELD1 in vascular maturation; and the need of CRELD1 for normal placental development and placental gene expression. And while I concluded that the cardiac defects are largely due to CRELD1's direct regulation of apoptosis in the heart, I cannot rule out poor circulation and perfusion damaging the developing heart. Understanding how a CRELD1-deficiency causes heart defects is important for the development of any future, targeted therapeutics. To directly test if vascular or placental deficiencies (and therefore poor circulation and perfusion) are contributing to the *Creld1<sup>(-/-)</sup>* heart phenotype, I proposed the creation of a heart-specific Creld1-knockout mouse, driven by the heart specific marker Nkx2.5, which would knock out CRELD1 expression throughout the heart tube, pharyngeal endoderm, secondary heart field and first arch ectoderm. This should result in a loss of CRELD1 in the majority of tissues that contribute to the heart, including the atrioventricular endocardial cushions. If there is mitigation of the endocardial cushion phenotype in this heart-specific CRELD1 knockout then we can conclude that the placental and vascular abnormalities are an important contributor to AVSD risk. Conversely if the hearts appears equally damaged then we can conclude that the vascular and placental abnormalities are only nominally involved in the AVSD etiology associated with a CRELD1 deficiency.

158

The traditional view that endocardial cushion errors are all that underlie an AVSD is too simplistic. AVSD may also be the result of abnormal right-left patterning, as AVSD are often associated with abnormal patterning syndromes like heterotaxy. Additionally, AVSD may also result from abnormal myocardial structures, as the majority of the primary atrial septum and ventricular septum are of myocardial in origin. Conceivably, misalignment of the myocardial septal structures or improper myocardial signaling could prevent the proper development of the membranous endocardial cushion-derived septal structures. Finally, both endothelium-derived mesenchyme (from the tip of the atrial septum and from the developing AV cushions) and non-endothelium-derived mesenchyme (found in the dorsal mesenchymal protrusion) are necessary for normal atrioventricular septal formation. This was recently demonstrated by Goddeeris et al. who showed that if sonic hedgehog (Shh) signaling is ablated in the secondary heart field (including the dorsal mesenchymal protrusion) an AVSD results (Goddeeris et al. 2008). However, we were unable to assess the dorsal mesenchymal protrusion contribution in the *Creld1*-knockout mouse because it did not live long enough.

If we find that the *Nkx2-5* driven CRELD1 knockout lives long enough (E13.5) we may be able to assess if the dorsal mesenchymal protrusion is involved in CRELD1induced AVSD risk. Alternatively, to directly assess the role of the second heart field and the dorsal mesenchymal protrusion in CRELD1-induced AVSD, a secondary
heart-field specific CRELD1 knockout should be created. To do this CRELD1 knockout could be driven by the transcription factor myocyte-specific enhancer factor 2C, which is expressed only in the splanchnic and core arch mesoderm but not in the pharyngeal endoderm (Verzi et al. 2005).

While fate-mapping has determined that *Pax3-* and *Wnt1-*derived neural crest precursors do not contribute to the atrioventricular endocardial cushions, there appears to be some *Wnt1-*Cre derivatives in the myocardial and epicardial layers of the heart (Li et al. 1999, Brown et al. 2001, Stottmann et al. 2004). Considering then the intertwined nature of heart development, it is possible that these neural crest derivatives could affect signaling to the endocardial cushions and thus contribute to AVSD. Therefore, in order to determine if CRELD1 is involved in the cardiac neural crest and whether this can contribute to AVSD, a neural crest specific knockout mouse should be created that is driven by *Wnt1*. Additionally, such a *Wnt-*specific CRELD1 knockout could tell us if a lack of CRELD1 in the neural crest is responsible for the cranial defects we observed in the constitutive *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup>.

## Test whether changes in matrix composition can affect EMT

I observed fewer mesenchymal cells and less extracellular matrix in the *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup> endocardial cushions. At this time I can only speculate whether the reduced

mesenchymal cell count in the cushions caused the reduction in matrix or whether a change in the matrix hindered cell migration. Specifically, I am interested in exploring how the matrix protein vitronectin affects endocardial cushion EMT. This is because I found, using microarray assays, that *vitronectin* was up-regulated in the E9.5 *Creld1*-deficient heart. It would be interesting to test if the up-regulation of vitronectin contributes to the reduction of mesenchymal cells migration. To do this, I propose to explant and culture endocardial cushions on a 3-D collagen matrix spiked with purified vitronectin. If changes in the extracellular matrix composition (specifically an increase in vitronectin) can impede EMT, I would expect less migration of mesenchymal cell from the cushions cultured on vitronectin-spiked matrix, opposed to those cultured on the normal 100% collagen matrix.

## Test the CRELD1/VEGF interaction in vivo

This work identified a previously unrecognized interaction between CRELD1 and VEGF in human AVSD cases and in explanted mouse endocardial cushion. Next, I would like to directly test whether a CRELD1 deficiency and VEGF over-expression can interact in vivo. To do this I will cross a well-characterized *Vegf-A* hypermorphic mouse model (*Vegf-A*<sup>(+/KI)</sup>) (Miquerol et al. 2000) with the *Creld1*-knockout mouse (*Creld1*<sup>(+/-)</sup>) model. Past characterizations have found that both of these mouse models when homozygous for their respective knock-in alleles [*Vegf*<sup>(kl/kl)</sup> or *Creld1*<sup>(-/-)</sup>

 $^{1}$  die in utero and have endocardial cushions defects. This supports the notion that both CRELD1 and VEGF are necessary for normal valve and septa formation. However, in contrast to the homozygous knock-ins, the heterozygous knock-ins  $[Veqf^{(kl/+)}]$  or Creld1<sup>(+/-)</sup> survive to adulthood and appear normal with no appreciable heart defects. From this we conclude that a single hit, either half the normal CRELD1 levels or twice the normal VEGF expression, is not sufficient to cause AVSD. This is consistent with the incomplete penetrance observed in humans who carry a *CRELD1*-missense mutation or the *VEGF*-634C over-expression polymorphism. Knowing this I now want to test whether a combination of a CRELD1 deficiency with VEGF over-expression could increase the penetrance of AVSD in these mice. To do this I will cross the  $Veqf^{(+/kl)}$  mouse with the Creld1<sup>(+/-)</sup> mouse and assess the incidence of heart defects in the F1 double heterozygotes [ $Vegf^{(+/kl)}$ ;Creld1 $^{(+/-)}$  mice]. I will only assess the F1 generation to control for any intrastrain variations. If I find any septal defects in the compound heterozygotes it will be a confirmation that VEGF over-expression combined with a CRELD1 deficiency can cause AVSD in vivo.

## Translating the CRELD1/VEGF interaction to the bedside

AVSD risk profiles, such as the CRELD1/VEGF risk profile, could be used to identify carrier parents and therefore high risk pregnancies. Such early identification of high risk pregnancies is critical to the successful implementation of any AVSD interventions because of how early the heart develops (14 weeks of gestation). Interventions could conceivably include modest lifestyle changes, such as avoiding high altitudes and following good nutrition regimens during early pregnancy to mitigate the embryo's exposure to hypoxia or hypoglycemia, respectively. This might reduce any additional VEGF expression caused by hypoxia or hypoglycemia (Figure 36). Furthermore, there are numerous drugs that can attenuate VEGF activity, some of which have already proven beneficial in treating other diseases including agerelated macular degeneration (Bopp 2007); and pancreatic and breast tumors (Di Domenico et al. 2011). So it is conceivable that VEGF modulation by pharmaceuticals could prevent heart defects caused by VEGF over-expression. However, considering the ubiquitous nature of VEGF and how sensitive development is to VEGF dosing, the use of drug therapies to prevent AVSD must be approached with extreme caution.

The identification of the CRELD1/VEGF AVSD risk profile is a proof of principle that AVSD-risk genes identified from animal models are relevant to human genetics and that AVSD have risk profiles. This has encouraged our continued search for other AVSD risk factors and risk profiles, which is critical to the completion of our long term goal: To identify correlations between specific AVSD-risk profiles and the longterm prognoses of AVSD patients. We are interested in doing this because the identification of such correlations could help identify high-risk AVSD patients, which could improve both the effectiveness and efficiency of care offered to the ever growing population of adults living with repaired congenital heart defects.



## REFERENCES

Abdulla R, Blew GA, Holterman MJ (2004) Cardiovascular embryology. Pediatr Cardiol 25, 191-200

Abu-Issa R, Kirby ML (2007) Heart field: from mesoderm to heart tube. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 23, 45-68

American Heart Association (Retrieved 30 July 2010) Congenital Heart Defects in Children, Fact Sheet

Anderson RH, Brown NA, Webb S (2002) Development and structure of the atrial septum. Heart 88, 104-110

Awata T, Kurihara S, Takata N, Neda T, Iizuka H, Ohkubo T, Osaki M, Watanabe M, Nakashima Y, Inukai K, Inoue I, Kawasaki I, Mori K, Yoneya S, Katayama S (2005) Functional VEGF C-634G polymorphism is associated with development of diabetic macular edema and correlated with macular retinal thickness in type 2 diabetes. Biochemical & Biophysical Research Communications 333, 679-685

Awata T, Inoue K, Kurihara S, Ohkubo T, Watanabe M, Inukai K, Inoue I, Katayama S (2002) A common polymorphism in the 5'-untranslated region of the VEGF gene is associated with diabetic retinopathy in type 2 diabetes. Diabetes 51, 1635-1639

Azpiazu N, Frasch M (1993) tinman and bagpipe: two homeo box genes that determine cell fates in the dorsal mesoderm of Drosophila. Genes Dev 7, 1325-1340

Bamforth SD, Braganca J, Eloranta JJ, Murdoch JN, Marques FI, Kranc KR, Farza H, Henderson DJ, Hurst HC, Bhattacharya S (2001) Cardiac malformations, adrenal agenesis, neural crest defects and exencephaly in mice lacking Cited2, a new Tfap2 coactivator. Nat Genet 29, 469-474

Barlow GM, Chen XN, Shi ZY, Lyons GE, Kurnit DM, Celle L, Spinner NB, Zackai E, Pettenati MJ, Van Riper AJ, Vekemans MJ, Mjaatvedt CH, Korenberg JR (2001) Down syndrome congenital heart disease: a narrowed region and a candidate gene. Genet Med 3, 91-101

Basson CT, Bachinsky DR, Lin RC, Levi T, Elkins JA, Soults J, Grayzel D, Kroumpouzou E, Traill TA, Leblanc-Straceski J, Renault B, Kucherlapati R, Seidman JG, Seidman CE (1997) Mutations in human TBX5 [corrected] cause limb and cardiac malformation in Holt-Oram syndrome. Nat Genet 15, 30-35

Benjamin LE, Golijanin D, Itin A, Pode D, Keshet E (1999) Selective ablation of immature blood vessels in established human tumors follows vascular endothelial growth factor withdrawal. J Clin Invest 103, 159-165

Benjamin LE, Keshet E (1997) Conditional switching of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) expression in tumors: induction of endothelial cell shedding and regression of hemangioblastoma-like vessels by VEGF withdrawal. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94, 8761-8766

Benson DW, Sund KL (2010) Looking down the atrioventricular canal. Cardiovasc Res 88, 205-206

Benson DW, Silberbach GM, Kavanaugh-McHugh A, Cottrill C, Zhang Y, Riggs S, Smalls O, Johnson MC, Watson MS, Seidman JG, Seidman CE, Plowden J, Kugler JD (1999) Mutations in the cardiac transcription factor NKX2.5 affect diverse cardiac developmental pathways. J Clin Invest 104, 1567-1573

Bentley K, Mariggi G, Gerhardt H, Bates PA (2009) Tipping the balance: robustness of tip cell selection, migration and fusion in angiogenesis. PLoS Comput Biol 5, e1000549

Bernanke DH, Markwald RR (1982) Cardiac cushion morphogenetic events in a threedimensional collagen lattice culture model. Dev Biol 91, 235-245

Bockman DE, Kirby ML (1984) Dependence of thymus development on derivatives of the neural crest. Science 223, 498-500

Bodmer R (1993) The gene tinman is required for specification of the heart and visceral muscles in Drosophila. Development 118, 719-729

Boening A, Scheewe J, Heine K, Hedderich J, Regensburger D, Kramer HH, Cremer J (2002) Long-term results after surgical correction of atrioventricular septal defects. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 22, 167-173 Bopp S (2007) Anti-VEGF for neovascular ARMD: visual improvement as the goal of therapy?. Br J Ophthalmol 91, 1259-1260

Botto LD, Mulinare J, Erickson JD (2000) Occurrence of congenital heart defects in relation to maternal mulitivitamin use. Am J Epidemiol 151, 878-884

Broekhuizen ML, Hogers B, DeRuiter MC, Poelmann RE, Gittenberger-de Groot AC, Wladimiroff JW (1999) Altered hemodynamics in chick embryos after extraembryonic venous obstruction. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 13, 437-445

Brower V (2003) Common *VEGF* polymorphism could reduce breast-cancer risk. Drug Discovery Today 8, 1054

Brown CB, Feiner L, Lu MM, Li J, Ma X, Webber AL, Jia L, Raper JA, Epstein JA (2001) PlexinA2 and semaphorin signaling during cardiac neural crest development. Development 128, 3071-3080

Bruneau BG, Nemer G, Schmitt JP, Charron F, Robitaille L, Caron S, Conner DA, Gessler M, Nemer M, Seidman CE, Seidman JG (2001) A murine model of Holt-Oram syndrome defines roles of the T-box transcription factor Tbx5 in cardiogenesis and disease. Cell 106, 709-721

Buchhorn R, Ross RD, Bartmus D, Wessel A, Hulpke-Wette M, Bursch J (2001) Activity of the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone and sympathetic nervous system and their relation to hemodynamic and clinical abnormalities in infants with left-to-right shunts. Int J Cardiol 78, 225-230

Buckingham M, Meilhac S, Zaffran S (2005) Building the mammalian heart from two sources of myocardial cells. Nat Rev Genet 6, 826-835

Bunting M, Bernstein KE, Greer JM, Capecchi MR, Thomas KR (1999) Targeting genes for self-excision in the germ line. Genes Dev 13, 1524-1528

Burn J, Brennan P, Little J, Holloway S, Coffey R, Somerville J, Dennis NR, Allan L, Arnold R, Deanfield JE, Godman M, Houston A, Keeton B, Oakley C, Scott O, Silove E, Wilkinson J, Pembrey M, Hunter AS (1998) Recurrence risks in offspring of adults with major heart defects: results from first cohort of British collaborative study. Lancet 351, 311-316

Cai CL, Liang X, Shi Y, Chu PH, Pfaff SL, Chen J, Evans S (2003) Isl1 identifies a cardiac progenitor population that proliferates prior to differentiation and contributes a majority of cells to the heart. Dev Cell 5, 877-889

Camenisch TD, Molin DG, Person A, Runyan RB, Gittenberger-de Groot AC, McDonald JA, Klewer SE (2002) Temporal and distinct TGFbeta ligand requirements during mouse and avian endocardial cushion morphogenesis. Dev Biol 248, 170-181

Camenisch TD, Spicer AP, Brehm-Gibson T, Biesterfeldt J, Augustine ML, Calabro A,Jr, Kubalak S, Klewer SE, McDonald JA (2000) Disruption of hyaluronan synthase-2 abrogates normal cardiac morphogenesis and hyaluronan-mediated transformation of epithelium to mesenchyme. J Clin Invest 106, 349-360

Cameron JW, Rosenthal A, Olson AD (1995) Malnutrition in hospitalized children with congenital heart disease. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 149, 1098-1102

Campbell M (1973) Incidence of cardiac malformations at birth and later, and neonatal mortality. Br Heart J 35, 189-200

Chae Y, Kim J, Baek J, Cho E, Sohn S, Chung H, Yu W, Lee M, Bae H (2006) Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) polymorphism is associated with prognosis of patients with gastric cancer. Journal of Clinical Oncology 24

Cherry SM, Fouad GT, Maslen CL, Reeves RH (2008) Creld1 mutations increase susceptibility to congenital heart defects in Down syndrome. The American Society of Human Genetics. 58th Annual Meeting

Ching YH, Ghosh TK, Cross SJ, Packham EA, Honeyman L, Loughna S, Robinson TE, Dearlove AM, Ribas G, Bonser AJ, Thomas NR, Scotter AJ, Caves LS, Tyrrell GP, Newbury-Ecob RA, Munnich A, Bonnet D, Brook JD (2005) Mutation in myosin heavy chain 6 causes atrial septal defect. Nat Genet 37, 423-428

Clemmer TP, Telford IR (1966) Abnormal development of the rat heart during prenatal hypoxic stress. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 121, 800-803

Combs MD, Yutzey KE (2009) Heart valve development: regulatory networks in development and disease. Circ Res 105, 408-421

Craig J (2008) Complex Diseases: Research and Applications. Nature Education 1

Craig B (2006) Atrioventricular septal defect: from fetus to adult. Heart 92, 1879-1885

Creazzo TL, Godt RE, Leatherbury L, Conway SJ, Kirby ML (1998) Role of cardiac neural crest cells in cardiovascular development. Annu Rev Physiol 60, 267-286

Creuzet SE (2009) Neural crest contribution to forebrain development. Semin Cell Dev Biol 20, 751-759

de la Pompa JL, Timmerman LA, Takimoto H, Yoshida H, Elia AJ, Samper E, Potter J, Wakeham A, Marengere L, Langille BL, Crabtree GR, Mak TW (1998) Role of the NF-ATc transcription factor in morphogenesis of cardiac valves and septum. Nature 392, 182-186

de Lange FJ, Moorman AF, Anderson RH, Manner J, Soufan AT, de Gier-de Vries C, Schneider MD, Webb S, van den Hoff MJ, Christoffels VM (2004) Lineage and morphogenetic analysis of the cardiac valves. Circ Res 95, 645-654

De Santis M, Straface G, Carducci B, Cavaliere AF, De Santis L, Lucchese A, Merola AM, Caruso A (2004) Risk of drug-induced congenital defects. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 117, 10-19 de Vries C, Escobedo JA, Ueno H, Houck K, Ferrara N, Williams LT (1992) The fms-like tyrosine kinase, a receptor for vascular endothelial growth factor. Science 255, 989-991

Dearani JA, Connolly HM, Martinez R, Fontanet H, Webb GD (2007) Caring for adults with congenital cardiac disease: successes and challenges for 2007 and beyond. Cardiol Young 17, 87-96

deCathelineau A, Short B, Williams R (2009) The American Society for Cell Biology, 48th Annual Meeting San Francisco, CA, December 13-17, 2008. J Cell Biol 184, 190-195

Dehan E, Ben-Dor A, Liao W, Lipson D, Frimer H, Rienstein S, Simansky D, Krupsky M, Yaron P, Friedman E, Rechavi G, Perlman M, Aviram-Goldring A, Izraeli S, Bittner M, Yakhini Z, Kaminski N (2007) Chromosomal aberrations and gene expression profiles in non-small cell lung cancer. Lung Cancer 56, 175-184

Delot EC (2003) Control of endocardial cushion and cardiac valve maturation by BMP signaling pathways. Molecular Genetics & Metabolism 80, 27-35

Deng L, Jing N, Tan G, Zhou M, Zhan F, Xie Y, Cao L, Li G (1998) A common region of allelic loss on chromosome region 3p25.3-26.3 in nasopharyngeal carcinoma. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 23, 21-25

Di Domenico M, Ricciardi C, Fusco A, Pierantoni GM (2011) Anti-VEGF therapy in breast and lung mouse models of cancers. J Biomed Biotechnol 2011, 947928 Dilley WG, Kalyanaraman S, Verma S, Cobb JP, Laramie JM, Lairmore TC (2005) Global gene expression in neuroendocrine tumors from patients with the MEN1 syndrome. Mol Cancer 4, 9

Dor Y, Klewer SE, McDonald JA, Keshet E, Camenisch TD (2003) VEGF modulates early heart valve formation. Anatomical Record.Part A, Discoveries in Molecular, Cellular, & Evolutionary Biology 271, 202-208

Dor Y, Camenisch TD, Itin A, Fishman GI, McDonald JA, Carmeliet P, Keshet E (2001) A novel role for VEGF in endocardial cushion formation and its potential contribution to congenital heart defects. Development 128, 1531-1538

Drose JA (1998) Fetal Echocardiography. In: , St. Louis, Missouri, pp 128

Dubourg C, Bendavid C, Pasquier L, Henry C, Odent S, David V (2007) Holoprosencephaly. Orphanet J Rare Dis 2, 8

Dudek RW (2006) High-yield heart. In: , Baltimore, MD, pp 4-8

Eldadah ZA, Hamosh A, Biery NJ, Montgomery RA, Duke M, Elkins R, Dietz HC (2001) Familial Tetralogy of Fallot caused by mutation in the jagged1 gene. Hum Mol Genet 10, 163-169

Epstein JA, Li J, Lang D, Chen F, Brown CB, Jin F, Lu MM, Thomas M, Liu E, Wessels A, Lo CW (2000) Migration of cardiac neural crest cells in Splotch embryos. Development 127, 1869-1878 Etchevers HC, Couly G, Vincent C, Le Douarin NM (1999) Anterior cephalic neural crest is required for forebrain viability. Development 126, 3533-3543

Ferrara N, Carver-Moore K, Chen H, Dowd M, Lu L, O'Shea KS, Powell-Braxton L, Hillan KJ, Moore MW (1996) Heterozygous embryonic lethality induced by targeted inactivation of the VEGF gene. Nature 380, 439-442

Fisher DC, Fisher EA, Budd JH, Rosen SE, Goldman ME (1995) The incidence of patent foramen ovale in 1,000 consecutive patients. A contrast transesophageal echocardiography study. Chest 107, 1504-1509

Fong GH, Rossant J, Gertsenstein M, Breitman ML (1995) Role of the Flt-1 receptor tyrosine kinase in regulating the assembly of vascular endothelium. Nature 376, 66-70

Fong GH, Zhang L, Bryce DM, Peng J (1999) Increased hemangioblast commitment, not vascular disorganization, is the primary defect in flt-1 knock-out mice. Development 126, 3015-3025

Formigari R, Michielon G, Digilio MC, Piacentini G, Carotti A, Giardini A, Di Donato RM, Marino B (2009) Genetic syndromes and congenital heart defects: how is surgical management affected?. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 35, 606-614

Gale NW, Dominguez MG, Noguera I, Pan L, Hughes V, Valenzuela DM, Murphy AJ, Adams NC, Lin HC, Holash J, Thurston G, Yancopoulos GD (2004) Haploinsufficiency of delta-like 4 ligand results in embryonic lethality due to major defects in arterial and vascular development. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101, 15949-15954

Garg V, Kathiriya IS, Barnes R, Schluterman MK, King IN, Butler CA, Rothrock CR, Eapen RS, Hirayama-Yamada K, Joo K, Matsuoka R, Cohen JC, Srivastava D (2003) GATA4 mutations cause human congenital heart defects and reveal an interaction with TBX5. Nature 424, 443-447

Garry DJ, Olson EN (2006) A common progenitor at the heart of development. Cell 127, 1101-1104

Gaussin V, Morley GE, Cox L, Zwijsen A, Vance KM, Emile L, Tian Y, Liu J, Hong C, Myers D, Conway SJ, Depre C, Mishina Y, Behringer RR, Hanks MC, Schneider MD, Huylebroeck D, Fishman GI, Burch JB, Vatner SF (2005) Alk3/Bmpr1a receptor is required for development of the atrioventricular canal into valves and annulus fibrosus. Circ Res 97, 219-226

Gaussin V, Van de Putte T, Mishina Y, Hanks MC, Zwijsen A, Huylebroeck D, Behringer RR, Schneider MD (2002) Endocardial cushion and myocardial defects after cardiac myocyte-specific conditional deletion of the bone morphogenetic protein receptor ALK3. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99, 2878-2883

Gerber HP, Hillan KJ, Ryan AM, Kowalski J, Keller GA, Rangell L, Wright BD, Radtke F, Aguet M, Ferrara N (1999) VEGF is required for growth and survival in neonatal mice. Development 126, 1149-1159 Gill HK, Splitt M, Sharland GK, Simpson JM (2003) Patterns of recurrence of congenital heart disease: an analysis of 6,640 consecutive pregnancies evaluated by detailed fetal echocardiography. J Am Coll Cardiol 42, 923-929

Goddeeris MM, Rho S, Petiet A, Davenport CL, Johnson GA, Meyers EN, Klingensmith J (2008) Intracardiac septation requires hedgehog-dependent cellular contributions from outside the heart. Development 135, 1887-1895

Green EK, Priestley MD, Waters J, Maliszewska C, Latif F, Maher ER (2000) Detailed mapping of a congenital heart disease gene in chromosome 3p25. J Med Genet 37, 581-587

Gridley T (2010) Notch Signaling in the Vasculature. In: Raphael Kopan (ed) Current Topics in Developmental Biology, pp 277-309

Guo Y, Shen J, Yuan L, Li F, Wang J, Sun K (2010) Novel CRELD1 gene mutations in patients with atrioventricular septal defect. World J Pediatr 6, 348-52

Guo Y, Chen Z, Zhang L, Zhou F, Shi S, Feng X, Li B, Meng X, Ma X, Luo M, Shao K, Li N, Qiu B, Mitchelson K, Cheng J, He J (2008) Distinctive microRNA profiles relating to patient survival in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. Cancer Res 68, 26-33

Harvey RP (2002) Patterning the vertebrate heart. Nat Rev Genet 3, 544-556

Haworth SG (1998) Primary pulmonary hypertension in childhood. Arch Dis Child 79, 452-455

Henderson DJ, Copp AJ (1998) Versican expression is associated with chamber specification, septation, and valvulogenesis in the developing mouse heart. Circ Res 83, 523-532

Hirayama-Yamada K, Kamisago M, Akimoto K, Aotsuka H, Nakamura Y, Tomita H, Furutani M, Imamura S, Takao A, Nakazawa M, Matsuoka R (2005) Phenotypes with GATA4 or NKX2.5 mutations in familial atrial septal defect. Am J Med Genet A 135, 47-52

Hogers B, DeRuiter MC, Gittenberger-de Groot AC, Poelmann RE (1999) Extraembryonic venous obstructions lead to cardiovascular malformations and can be embryolethal. Cardiovasc Res 41, 87-99

Hogers B, DeRuiter MC, Gittenberger-de Groot AC, Poelmann RE (1997) Unilateral vitelline vein ligation alters intracardiac blood flow patterns and morphogenesis in the chick embryo. Circ Res 80, 473-481

Huppert SS, Le A, Schroeter EH, Mumm JS, Saxena MT, Milner LA, Kopan R (2000) Embryonic lethality in mice homozygous for a processing-deficient allele of Notch1. Nature 405, 966-970

Ikeda E, Achen MG, Breier G, Risau W (1995) Hypoxia-induced transcriptional activation and increased mRNA stability of vascular endothelial growth factor in C6 glioma cells. J Biol Chem 270, 19761-19766 Ingalls TH, Curley FJ, Prindle RA (1952) Experimental production of congenital anomalies; timing and degree of anoxia as factors causing fetal deaths and congenital anomalies in the mouse. N Engl J Med 247, 758-768

Insley J (1987) The heritability of congenital heart disease. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed) 294, 662-663

Jaffee OC (1974) The effects of moderate hypoxia and moderate hypoxia plus hypercapnea on cardiac development in chick embryos. Teratology 10, 275-281

Jain R, Engleka KA, Rentschler SL, Manderfield LJ, Li L, Yuan L, Epstein JA (2011) Cardiac neural crest orchestrates remodeling and functional maturation of mouse semilunar valves. J Clin Invest 121, 422-430

Jakobsson L, Bentley K, Gerhardt H (2009) VEGFRs and Notch: a dynamic collaboration in vascular patterning. Biochem Soc Trans 37, 1233-1236

Jin XH, Chen QH, Tong YF, Zhu CK, Qu Y, Zhao GQ, Cai JL (2008) [Study on the epidemiology of congenital heart disease in Tibetan ethnic children aged from 4 to 18 living at different altitudes in Qinghai province]. Chung Hua Liu Hsing Ping Hsueh Tsa Chih 29, 317-320

Joziasse IC, van de Smagt JJ, Smith K, Bakkers J, Sieswerda GJ, Mulder BJ, Doevendans PA (2008) Genes in congenital heart disease: atrioventricular valve formation. Basic Res Cardiol 103, 216-227 Kendrick H, Regan JL, Magnay FA, Grigoriadis A, Mitsopoulos C, Zvelebil M, Smalley MJ (2008) Transcriptome analysis of mammary epithelial subpopulations identifies novel determinants of lineage commitment and cell fate. BMC Genomics 9, 591

Kimura K, Hashiguchi T, Deguchi T, Horinouchi S, Uto T, Oku H, Setoyama S, Maruyama I, Osame M, Arimura K (2007) Serum VEGF--as a prognostic factor of atherosclerosis. Atherosclerosis 194, 182-188

Kirby ML (1987) Cardiac morphogenesis--recent research advances. Pediatr Res 21, 219-

Kirby ML, Gale TF, Stewart DE (1983) Neural crest cells contribute to normal aorticopulmonary septation. Science 220, 1059-1061

Koga Y, Yasunaga M, Kajikawa M, Shimizu E, Takamatsu R, Kataoka R, Murase Y, Sasajima Y, Kasamatsu T, Kato T, Onda T, Ikeda S, Ishikawa M, Ishitani K, Ohta H, Matsumura Y (2011) Novel virtual cytological analysis for the detection of endometrial cancer cells using autoscan fluoromicroscopy. Cancer Science 102, 1068-1075

Kruithof BP, Krawitz SA, Gaussin V (2007) Atrioventricular valve development during late embryonic and postnatal stages involves condensation and extracellular matrix remodeling. Dev Biol 302, 208-217

Kumai M, Nishii K, Nakamura K, Takeda N, Suzuki M, Shibata Y (2000) Loss of connexin45 causes a cushion defect in early cardiogenesis. Development 127, 3501-3512 Kumar SD, Dheen ST, Tay SS (2007) Maternal diabetes induces congenital heart defects in mice by altering the expression of genes involved in cardiovascular development. Cardiovasc diabetol 6, 34

Lambrechts D, Carmeliet P (2004) Sculpting heart valves with NFATc and VEGF. Cell 118, 532-534

Lambrechts D, Storkebaum E, Morimoto M, Del-Favero J, Desmet F, Marklund SL, Wyns S, Thijs V, Andersson J, van Marion I, Al-Chalabi A, Bornes S, Musson R, Hansen V, Beckman L, Adolfsson R, Pall HS, Prats H, Vermeire S, Rutgeerts P, Katayama S, Awata T, Leigh N, Lang-Lazdunski L, Dewerchin M, Shaw C, Moons L, Vlietinck R, Morrison KE, Robberecht W, Van Broeckhoven C, Collen D, Andersen PM, Carmeliet P (2003) VEGF is a modifier of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis in mice and humans and protects motoneurons against ischemic death. Nat Genet 34, 383-394

Lammer EJ, Chen DT, Hoar RM, Agnish ND, Benke PJ, Braun JT, Curry CJ, Fernhoff PM, Grix AW, Jr, Lott IT (1985) Retinoic acid embryopathy. N Engl J Med 313, 837-841

Lesslie DP, Summy JM, Parikh NU, Fan F, Trevino JG, Sawyer TK, Metcalf CA, Shakespeare WC, Hicklin DJ, Ellis LM, Gallick GE (2006) Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-1 mediates migration of human colorectal carcinoma cells by activation of Src family kinases. Br J Cancer 94, 1710-1717

Leung DW, Cachianes G, Kuang WJ, Goeddel DV, Ferrara N (1989) Vascular endothelial growth factor is a secreted angiogenic mitogen. Science 246, 1306-1309

Levy AP, Levy NS, Goldberg MA (1996) Post-transcriptional regulation of vascular endothelial growth factor by hypoxia. J Biol Chem 271, 2746-2753

Li J, Liu KC, Jin F, Lu MM, Epstein JA (1999) Transgenic rescue of congenital heart disease and spina bifida in Splotch mice. Development 126, 2495-2503

Lillehei CW, Cohen M, Warden HE, Varco RL (1955) The direct-vision intracardiac correction of congenital anomalies by controlled cross circulation; results in thirty-two patients with ventricular septal defects, tetralogy of Fallot, and atrioventricularis communis defects. Surgery 38, 11-29

Lincoln J, Alfieri CM, Yutzey KE (2004) Development of heart valve leaflets and supporting apparatus in chicken and mouse embryos. Dev Dyn 230, 239-250

Loffredo CA, Chokkalingam A, Sill AM, Boughman JA, Clark EB, Scheel J, Brenner JI (2004) Prevalence of congenital cardiovascular malformations among relatives of infants with hypoplastic left heart, coarctation of the aorta, and d-transposition of the great arteries. Am J Med Genet A 124A, 225-230

Loffredo CA, Hirata J, Wilson PD, Ferencz C, Lurie IW (2001) Atrioventricular septal defects: possible etiologic differences between complete and partial defects. Teratology 63, 87-93

Loffredo CA (2000) Epidemiology of cardiovascular malformations: prevalence and risk factors. Am J Med Genet 97, 319-325

Marvin MJ, Di Rocco G, Gardiner A, Bush SM, Lassar AB (2001) Inhibition of Wnt activity induces heart formation from posterior mesoderm. Genes Dev 15, 316-327

Maslen CL, Babcock D, Robinson SW, Bean LJ, Dooley KJ, Willour VL, Sherman SL (2006) CRELD1 mutations contribute to the occurrence of cardiac atrioventricular septal defects in Down syndrome. Am J Med Genet A 140, 2501-2505

Maslen CL (2004) Molecular genetics of atrioventricular septal defects. Curr Opin Cardiol 19, 205-210

McCulley DJ, Kang J, Martin JF, Black BL (2008) BMP4 Is Required in the Anterior Heart Field and Its Derivatives for Endocardial Cushion Remodeling, Outflow Tract Septation, and Semilunar Valve Development. Dev Dyn 237, 3200-3209

McKusick VA (1998) Mendelian inheritance in man: a catalog of human genes and genetic disorders. 3, 2850

McMillen IC, MacLaughlin SM, Muhlhausler BS, Gentili S, Duffield JL, Morrison JL (2008) Developmental origins of adult health and disease: the role of periconceptional and foetal nutrition. Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol 102, 82-89

Millauer B, Wizigmann-Voos S, Schnurch H, Martinez R, Moller NP, Risau W, Ullrich A (1993) High affinity VEGF binding and developmental expression suggest Flk-1 as a major regulator of vasculogenesis and angiogenesis. Cell 72, 835-846 Miquerol L, Langille BL, Nagy A (2000) Embryonic development is disrupted by modest increases in vascular endothelial growth factor gene expression. Development 127, 3941-3946

Moss AJ, Allen HD (2008) Moss and Adams' heart disease in infants, children, and adolescents: including the fetus and young adult. In: , pp 654

Motulsky AG (2006) Genetics of complex diseases. J Zhejiang Univ Sci B 7, 167-168

Mustonen T, Alitalo K (1995) Endothelial receptor tyrosine kinases involved in angiogenesis. J Cell Biol 129, 895-898

Nakajima Y, Yamagishi T, Hokari S, Nakamura H (2000) Mechanisms involved in valvuloseptal endocardial cushion formation in early cardiogenesis: roles of transforming growth factor (TGF)-beta and bone morphogenetic protein (BMP). Anat Rec 258, 119-127

Nakajima Y, Miyazono K, Kato M, Takase M, Yamagishi T, Nakamura H (1997) Extracellular fibrillar structure of latent TGF beta binding protein-1: role in TGF betadependent endothelial-mesenchymal transformation during endocardial cushion tissue formation in mouse embryonic heart. J Cell Biol 136, 193-204

Natale DR, Starovic M, Cross JC (2006) Phenotypic analysis of the mouse placenta. Methods Mol Med 121, 275-293 Nemir M, Pedrazzini T (2008) Functional role of Notch signaling in the developing and postnatal heart. J Mol Cell Cardiol 45, 495-504

Nicosia RF (1998) What is the role of vascular endothelial growth factor-related molecules in tumor angiogenesis?. Am J Pathol 153, 11-16

Nishimune A, Suzuki F, Yoshiki H:M, S., Muramatsu I (2010) Identification of cysteinerich epidermal growth factor-like domain 1alpha (CRELD1alpha) as a novel alpha1Aadrenoceptor-down-regulating protein and establishment of an alpha1L-adrenoceptorexpressing cell line. J Pharmacol Sci 113, 169-181

Nystul TG, Spradling AC (2009) Epithelial stem cells of the Drosophila ovary utilize basolateral junctions to maintain a "dynamic niche" and to suppress tumorgenesis. American Society for Cell Biology, 48th Annual Meeting

O'Doherty A, Ruf S, Mulligan C, Hildreth V, Errington ML, Cooke S, Sesay A, Modino S, Vanes L, Hernandez D, Linehan JM, Sharpe PT, Brandner S, Bliss TV, Henderson DJ, Nizetic D, Tybulewicz VL, Fisher EM (2005) An aneuploid mouse strain carrying human chromosome 21 with Down syndrome phenotypes. Science 309, 2033-2037

Oka T, Xu J, Molkentin JD (2007) Re-employment of developmental transcription factors in adult heart disease. Semin Cell Dev Biol 18, 117-131

Pandur P, Lasche M, Eisenberg LM, Kuhl M (2002) Wnt-11 activation of a non-canonical Wnt signalling pathway is required for cardiogenesis. Nature 418, 636-641

Petrovic D, Verhovec R, Globocnik Petrovic M, Osredkar J, Peterlin B (2007) Association of vascular endothelial growth factor gene polymorphism with myocardial infarction in patients with type 2 diabetes. Cardiology 107, 291-295

Puhakka K, Rasanen J, Leijala M, Peltola K (1993) Metabolic effects of corrective surgery in infants and children with congenital heart defects. Br J Anaesth 70, 149-153

Ranger AM, Grusby MJ, Hodge MR, Gravallese EM, de la Brousse FC, Hoey T, Mickanin C, Baldwin HS, Glimcher LH (1998) The transcription factor NF-ATc is essential for cardiac valve formation. Nature 392, 186-190

Ray D, Mishra M, Ralph S, Read I, Davies R, Brenchley P (2004) Association of the VEGF gene with proliferative diabetic retinopathy but not proteinuria in diabetes. Diabetes 53, 861-864

Reamon-Buettner SM, Borlak J (2004) Somatic NKX2-5 mutations as a novel mechanism of disease in complex congenital heart disease. J Med Genet 41, 684-690

Reamon-Buettner SM, Borlak J (2004) TBX5 mutations in non-Holt-Oram syndrome (HOS) malformed hearts. Hum Mutat 24, 104

Reeves RH, Irving NG, Moran TH, Wohn A, Kitt C, Sisodia SS, Schmidt C, Bronson RT, Davisson MT (1995) A mouse model for Down syndrome exhibits learning and behaviour deficits. Nat Genet 11, 177-184 Robinson SW, Morris CD, Goldmuntz E, Reller MD, Jones MA, Steiner RD, Maslen CL (2003) Missense mutations in CRELD1 are associated with cardiac atrioventricular septal defects. Am J Hum Genet 72, 1047-1052

Romano LA, Runyan RB (1999) Slug is a mediator of epithelial-mesenchymal cell transformation in the developing chicken heart. Dev Biol 212, 243-254

Runyan RB, Markwald RR (1983) Invasion of mesenchyme into three-dimensional collagen gels: a regional and temporal analysis of interaction in embryonic heart tissue. Dev Biol 95, 108-114

Rupp PA, Fouad GT, Egelston CA, Reifsteck CA, Olson SB, Knosp WM, Glanville RW, Thornburg KL, Robinson SW, Maslen CL (2002) Identification, genomic organization and mRNA expression of CRELD1, the founding member of a unique family of matricellular proteins. Gene 293, 47-57

Saaf AM, Halbleib JM, Chen X, Yuen ST, Leung SY, Nelson WJ, Brown PO (2007) Parallels between global transcriptional programs of polarizing Caco-2 intestinal epithelial cells in vitro and gene expression programs in normal colon and colon cancer. Mol Biol Cell 18, 4245-4260

Samanek M (2000) Congenital heart malformations: prevalence, severity, survival, and quality of life. Cardiol Young 10, 179-185

Sarkozy A, Esposito G, Conti E, Digilio MC, Marino B, Calabro R, Pizzuti A, Dallapiccola B (2005) CRELD1 and GATA4 gene analysis in patients with nonsyndromic atrioventricular canal defects. Am J Med Genet A 139, 236-238

Satpathy M (2008) Clinical diagnosis of congenital heart disease. In: , New Delhi, India, pp 98

Schneider MD, Gaussin V, Lyons KM (2003) Tempting fate: BMP signals for cardiac morphogenesis. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 14, 1-4

Schneider VA, Mercola M (2001) Wnt antagonism initiates cardiogenesis in Xenopus laevis. Genes Dev 15, 304-315

Schultheiss TM, Burch JB, Lassar AB (1997) A role for bone morphogenetic proteins in the induction of cardiac myogenesis. Genes Dev 11, 451-462

Seale A, Shinebourne EA (2004) Cardiac problems in Down syndrome. Current Paediatrics 14, 33-38

Shalaby F, Rossant J, Yamaguchi TP, Gertsenstein M, Wu XF, Breitman ML, Schuh AC (1995) Failure of blood-island formation and vasculogenesis in Flk-1-deficient mice. Nature 376, 62-66

Shapiro BL (1999) The Down syndrome critical region. J Neural Transm Suppl 57, 41-60

Shaw GM, Nelson V, Todoroff K, Wasserman CR, Neutra RR (1999) Maternal periconceptional use of electric bed-heating devices and risk for neural tube defects and orofacial clefts. Teratology 60, 124-129

Sheffield VC, Pierpont ME, Nishimura D, Beck JS, Burns TL, Berg MA, Stone EM, Patil SR, Lauer RM (1997) Identification of a complex congenital heart defect susceptibility locus by using DNA pooling and shared segment analysis. Hum Mol Genet 6, 117-121

Shibuya M, Yamaguchi S, Yamane A, Ikeda T, Tojo A, Matsushime H, Sato M (1990) Nucleotide sequence and expression of a novel human receptor-type tyrosine kinase gene (flt) closely related to the fms family. Oncogene 5, 519-524

Silka MJ, Hardy BG, Menashe VD, Morris CD (1998) A population-based prospective evaluation of risk of sudden cardiac death after operation for common congenital heart defects. J Am Coll Cardiol 32, 245-251

Silva SR, Bowen KA, Rychahou PG, Jackson LN, Weiss HL, Lee EY, Townsend CM, Jr, Evers BM (2011) VEGFR-2 expression in carcinoid cancer cells and its role in tumor growth and metastasis. Int J Cancer 128, 1045-1056

Smedts HP, Isaacs A, de Costa D, Uitterlinden AG, van Duijn CM, Gittenberger-de Groot AC, Helbing WA, Steegers EA, Steegers-Theunissen RP (2010) VEGF polymorphisms are associated with endocardial cushion defects: a family-based case-control study. Pediatr Res 67, 23-28 Sommer RJ (2009) Patent foramen ovale: where are we in 2009?. Am J Ther 16, 562-572

Sperling S, Grimm CH, Dunkel I, Mebus S, Sperling HP, Ebner A, Galli R, Lehrach H, Fusch C, Berger F, Hammer S (2005) Identification and functional analysis of CITED2 mutations in patients with congenital heart defects. Hum Mutat 26, 575-582

Stainier DY, Beis D, Jungblut B, Bartman T (2002) Endocardial cushion formation in zebrafish. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol 67, 49-56

Stankunas K, Ma GK, Kuhnert FJ, Kuo CJ, Chang CP (2010) VEGF signaling has distinct spatiotemporal roles during heart valve development. Dev Biol 347, 325-336

Stottmann RW, Choi M, Mishina Y, Meyers EN, Klingensmith J (2004) BMP receptor IA is required in mammalian neural crest cells for development of the cardiac outflow tract and ventricular myocardium. Development 131, 2205-2218

Stulak JM, Burkhart HM, Dearani JA, Cetta F, Barnes RD, Connolly HM, Schaff HV (2010) Reoperations after repair of partial atrioventricular septal defect: a 45-year singlecenter experience. Ann Thorac Surg 89, 1352-1359

Swiatek PJ, Lindsell CE, del Amo FF, Weinmaster G, Gridley T (1994) Notch1 is essential for postimplantation development in mice. Genes Dev 8, 707-719

Thornburg KL, Louey S, Giraud GD (2008) The role of growth in heart development. Nestle Nutrition Workshop Series.Paediatric Programme 61, 39-51 Tomita-Mitchell A, Maslen CL, Morris CD, Garg V, Goldmuntz E (2007) GATA4 sequence variants in patients with congenital heart disease. J Med Genet 44, 779-783

Tsigelny I, Burton DW, Sharikov Y, Hasting RH, Deftos LJ (2005) Coherent expression chromosome cluster analysis reveals differential regulatory functions of amino-terminal and distal parathyroid hormone-related protein domains in prostate carcinoma. J Biomed Biotechnol 4, 353-363

van der Meer P, De Boer RA, White HL, van der Steege G, Hall AS, Voors AA, van Veldhuisen DJ (2005) The VEGF +405 CC promoter polymorphism is associated with an impaired prognosis in patients with chronic heart failure: a MERIT-HF substudy. J Card Fail 11, 279-284

van der Velde ET, Vriend JW, Mannens MM, Uiterwaal CS, Brand R, Mulder BJ (2005) CONCOR, an initiative towards a national registry and DNA-bank of patients with congenital heart disease in the Netherlands: rationale, design, and first results. Eur J Epidemiol 20, 549-557

Vannay A, Vásárhelyi B, Környei M, Treszl A, Kozma G, Györffy B, Tulassay T, Sulyok E (2006) Single-nucleotide polymorphisms of VEGF gene are associated with risk of congenital valvuloseptal heart defects. Am Heart J 151, 878-881

Verzi MP, McCulley DJ, De Val S, Dodou E, Black BL (2005) The right ventricle, outflow tract, and ventricular septum comprise a restricted expression domain within the secondary/anterior heart field. Dev Biol 287, 134-145

Vincent RN, Lang P, Elixson EM, Gamble WJ, Fulton DR, Fellows KE, Norwood WI, Castaneda AR (1984) Measurement of extravascular lung water in infants and children after cardiac surgery. Am J Cardiol 54, 161-165

Wagner M, Siddiqui MA (2007) Signal transduction in early heart development (II): ventricular chamber specification, trabeculation, and heart valve formation. Exp Biol Med (Maywood) 232, 866-880

Waldo KL, Lo CW, Kirby ML (1999) Connexin 43 expression reflects neural crest patterns during cardiovascular development. Dev Biol 208, 307-323

Ware SM, Peng J, Zhu L, Fernbach S, Colicos S, Casey B, Towbin J, Belmont JW (2004) Identification and functional analysis of ZIC3 mutations in heterotaxy and related congenital heart defects. Am J Hum Genet 74, 93-105

Wendler CC, Amatya S, McClaskey C, Ghatpande S, Fredholm BB, Rivkees SA (2007) A1 adenosine receptors play an essential role in protecting the embryo against hypoxia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104, 9697-9702

Wistuba II, Behrens C, Virmani AK, Mele G, Milchgrub S, Girard L, Fondon JW, 3rd, Garner HR, McKay B, Latif F, Lerman MI, Lam S, Gazdar AF, Minna JD (2000) High resolution chromosome 3p allelotyping of human lung cancer and preneoplastic/preinvasive bronchial epithelium reveals multiple, discontinuous sites of 3p allele loss and three regions of frequent breakpoints. Cancer Res 60, 1949-1960 Woolard J, Bevan HS, Harper SJ, Bates DO (2009) Molecular diversity of VEGF-A as a regulator of its biological activity. Microcirculation 16, 572-592

Wren C, Birrell G, Hawthorne G (2003) Cardiovascular malformations in infants of diabetic mothers. Heart 89, 1217-1220

Xiang R, Zhao S (2009) RTN3 inducing apoptosis is modulated by an adhesion protein CRELD1. Mol Cell Biochem 331, 225-230

Xie J, Yi L, Xu ZF, Mo XM, Hu YL, Wang DJ, Ren HZ, Han B, Wang Y, Yang C, Zhao YL, Shi DQ, Jiang YZ, Shen L, Qiao D, Chen SL, Yu BJ (2007) VEGF C-634G polymorphism is associated with protection from isolated ventricular septal defect: case-control and TDT studies. Eur J Hum Genet 15, 1246-1251

Xu QY, Gao Y, Liu Y, Yang WZ, Xu XY (2008) Identification of differential gene expression profiles of radioresistant lung cancer cell line established by fractionated ionizing radiation in vitro. Chin Med J 121, 1830-1837

Yacobi S, Ornoy A (2008) Is lithium a real teratogen? What can we conclude from the prospective versus retrospective studies? A review. Isr J Psychiatry Relat Sci 45, 95-106

Yamamura H, Zhang M, Markwald RR, Mjaatvedt CH (1997) A heart segmental defect in the anterior-posterior axis of a transgenic mutant mouse. Dev Biol 186, 58-72 Zatyka M, Priestley M, Ladusans EJ, Fryer AE, Mason J, Latif F, Maher ER (2005) Analysis of CRELD1 as a candidate 3p25 atrioventicular septal defect locus (AVSD2). Clin Genet 67, 526-528